
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a virtual meeting of  

the Planning Committee 

on Thursday, 24 September 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 

Please note that this meeting will be conducted remotely in accordance with Section 78 of 
the Coronavirus Act 2020. Access details will be provided to Committee Members prior to 
the meeting. Members of the public will be able to access a live broadcast of the meeting 
here 
For those using an Apple Device to access the meeting, please note that Safari is not 
compatible with Microsoft Teams, so you will not be able to watch the meeting using this 
web browser. If you wish to watch a virtual meeting on any Apple device (iPad, iPhone or 
Mac) you will need to download the Microsoft Teams App from the App Store, then click the 
link on the relevant SLDC webpage or Agenda and follow the instructions on screen. 
The Agenda is divided into two parts, with Part I items being considered in the presence of 
the press and public. Part II Items will be considered in the absence of the press and public 
for the reasons indicated on the Agenda and relevant reports. 
It should be noted that discussions held in Part I are recorded and that the recordings are 

uploaded to the Council’s Website.  
 

Committee Membership 
 

Councillors 
 

Rupert Audland 

Helen Chaffey 

Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 

Judy Filmore 

Gill Gardner 

John Holmes 

Vicky Hughes 

Janette Jenkinson 

Dave Khan 

Malcolm Lamb 

Susanne Long 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 

David Webster 

 

Substitute Members 

Philip Dixon 

Kevin Lancaster 

Mark Wilson 

 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NmZmNWEzNjItOTM2My00NjU2LWI0ZWUtZjBjYzU4NWQ2YjI5%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%228f18e400-f52a-4870-b1e1-4fa83ffcda3d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22e23465c3-ecd2-4244-b774-d22435c7fbf4%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
Wednesday, 16 September 2020 
 
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Committee Services 

 

Telephone: 01539 733333 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 



AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN   

 To elect a Vice Chairman for the remainder of the year.  

3  MINUTES  5 - 50 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meetings of the Committee held on 11 June 2020; 25 June 2020; 16 July 2020; 
and 30 July 2020 (copies attached). 

 

4  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

5  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

6  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 
(1) Planning Applications 
 
 Planning applications for which requests to speak have been made. 
 
(2) Agenda Items 
 
 Agenda items for which requests to speak have been made. 

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2018/0806 - LAND AT HIGH 
SPARROWMIRE, KENDAL  

51 - 102 

 To consider an application for the erection of 24 affordable dwellings (Full 
Planning Application) and 1 dwelling (Outline) (amended Scheme). 

 

8  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0387 - TOWN VIEW FIELDS, 
KENDAL  

103 - 110 

 To consider an application for the replacement of existing timber casement 
windows with rosewood timber grain effect uPVC windows. 

 

9  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0407 - KENDAL TOWN HALL, 
KENDAL  

111 - 122 

 To consider an application for advertisement consent to hang a public safety 
message (COVID-19) banner for a temporary period (12 months). 

 

10  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0735 - PLOT OF LAND ADJACENT 
TO THE LANGDALES, LEVENS  

123 - 136 

 To consider an application for the erection of a dwelling including access, design 
landscaping, layout and scale (revised scheme SL/2018/0938) on a plot of land 
adjacent to The Langdales, Levens, Kendal, LA9 8PJ. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number) 
 

There are no items in this part of the agenda. 

 



7 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the proceedings at a virtual meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Thursday, 11 June 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 

 
Present 

 
Councillors 

 
Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 
Eric Morrell (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Rupert Audland 
Helen Chaffey 
Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 
Philip Dixon 

 

Judy Filmore 
Gill Gardner 
John Holmes 
Vicky Hughes 

Janette Jenkinson 
 

Malcolm Lamb 
Kevin Lancaster 
Susanne Long 
David Webster 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Anne Hutton and Dave Khan. 
 

Officers 
 

Linda Fisher Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Nick Howard Team Leader Development Management 

Julia Krier Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Mark Lynch Interim Development Management Team Leader 

Andrew Martin Principal Planning Officer 

Una Bell Case Management Team Leader 

 

P/10 CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION  
 
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Chairman 
welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Planning 
Committee, in doing so, thanking all officers involved in the process for their work on the 
project. 
 
The Chairman referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct 
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members 
of the public, the procedures for the meeting.  He then invited Members of the Planning 
Committee to introduce themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or 
audio and to confirm that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 
participating in the meeting.  All Members present, including the Chairman himself, having 
indicated that this was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would 
introduce themselves when asked to address the meeting. 
 

P/11 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that the following declarations of interest were made:- 
 
Councillor David Webster declared a non-pecuniary interest with regard to Minute No. 
P/14 (Planning Application No. SL.2018/0311); and  
 

Page 5

Item No.3



8 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Councillors Vicky Hughes, Susanne Long and Brian Cooper declared non-pecuniary 
interests and Councillor John Holmes declared a pecuniary interest with regard to Minute 
No P/15 (Planning Application No. SL2019/0359). 
 

P/12 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the Agenda. 
 

P/13 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s public 
participation scheme have been received in respect of the following item:- 
 
Minute No. P/14 (Planning Application No. SL/2018/0311). 
 
The Chairman advised that the participant would be dialled into the meeting to make his 
address at the appropriate time. 
 

P/14 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2018/0311 - LAND ADJACENT TO MARL 
BUSINESS PARK, WATERY LANE, ULVERSTON  
 
Residential development of up to 28 dwellings (Mr A Cooke (Blake Henderson Ltd)) 

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
Councillor David Webster declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item by virtue of 
the fact that he was Ward Councillor for Ulverston East. He explained however, that 
he was not biased or predetermined and remained connected to the virtual meeting 
and took part in the discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Note – The Chairman advised Members that Simon Turner, Planning Viability 
Consultant, Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH), had been dialled into the meeting in 
order to answer any questions Members may have in relation to the viability 
assessment review at Appendix 1 to the Planning Officers Report. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2018/0311 which sought 

outline planning permission, with all matters reserved, for up to 28 dwellings on a small 

allocated site in Ulverston. He displayed plans and photographs which outlined the 

proposals and drew Members’ attention to the late representations which had been 

circulated prior to the meeting. The Planning Officer outlined the proposal which was for 

up to 28 dwellings, the application having been re-publicised in March 2020 to draw 

attention to the proposed reduction in affordable housing.  He drew Members’ attention to 

the proximity of the development to Furness Railway, Ulverston Conservation Area and 

Marl Business Park and he explained that the site was within the development limits of 

Ulverston and was allocated for development under policy LA1.3 of the South Lakeland 

Land Allocations Development Plan Document. The Planning Officer displayed an 

illustrative site layout which showed a configuration of the 28 dwellings, which were 

considered to be a good mix of units, and which had been used to assess the potential 

impacts of the development on the character of the area. It had also been considered that 

the random arrangement show on the illustrative plan would need to be tightened up. 

Page 6



9 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

The Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to the requirements of Network Rail and 

their concerns regarding the protection of its assets, he advised Members that this could 

be addressed through a Basic Asset Protection Agreement. He went on to outline the 

proposed Sustainable Drainage System scheme (SuDs) and the requirement for 

permeable driveways. 

The Planning Officer advised Members that CS6.3 of the Core Strategy required that on 

developments of nine or more units no fewer than 35% of units should be affordable 

homes and that the application was not compliant in this respect due to abnormal costs. 

The applicant had offered 20% affordable homes. He drew Members’ attention to the 

independent viability assessment which had been carried out by Lambert Smith Hampton 

and which had concluded that the abnormal costs associated with developing the site 

justified a lower requirement for affordable housing. However, Lambert Smith Hampton 

felt that the scheme was capable of viably providing an affordable contribution of 25% and 

this had subsequently been agreed by the applicant.  

In concluding his presentation the Planning Officer informed Members that slow worms, a 

protected species, may occupy the site and that an Ecological Appraisal had been 

submitted earlier this year and a slow worm survey was underway, with the ecologist 

report due to be available at the end of July 2020. 

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mr Jonathan McDermott, the applicant’s agent be dialled into the 

meeting to make his representation.  The Chairman welcomed Mr McDermott and 

informed him that he had three minutes in which to make his address. 

Mr McDermott addressed the Planning Committee in support of the application. He 

explained that the application had been the culmination of three years’ work, which had 

seen the submission of a refined scheme for an allocated development site and he stated 

that the application was outline planning permission with all matters reserved. 

The Planning Officer and Simon Turner (LSH) responded to questions raised by 

Members.  The Planning Officer confirmed that the viability appraisal had been based on 

the illustrative plan of 28 units and that the affordable housing provision would remain as a 

percentage and not a specific number of units. The Legal, Governance and Democracy 

Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) advised Members that a Section 106 agreement 

would be required to secure the delivery of affordable housing to the agreed percentage. 

In response to a question regarding the provision of electric charging points, the Planning 

Officer advised Members that there was no policy in place to insist on the installation of 

electric charging points. However, it was an area where developers were being 

encouraged to consider their installation. 

Members thanked the Planning Officer for a well written and balanced report and the clear 

and comprehensive presentation.  Members gave consideration to the outline application 

and it was considered that the site was in an excellent location. Some Members agreed 

that maintaining the 25% affordable housing provision, even if the number of units on the 

site was reduced, was commendable. However, other Members were less satisfied 

regarding the reduction in the percentage of affordable housing. 

A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the application, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That the Director Customer and Commercial Services be delegated 

authority to grant outline planning permission subject to: 

Page 7



10 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

a. A section 106 agreement to secure 25% affordable housing with: (i) a tenure split 

of 50% for social rent and 50% shared ownership / discounted market housing, of which 

shared ownership shall form no more than 25% of the total; and (ii) a mix of housing types 

to meet evidence of need. 

b. Completion of a reptile survey and the incorporation of any necessary mitigation 

into additional planning conditions. If the survey proves that reptiles are present and that 

suitable mitigation is not possible in the context of the scheme as currently proposed then 

the application will be returned to the Planning Committee for further instructions.  

c. The following conditions: 

Condition (1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 

than whichever is the later of the following dates: 

a)       FIVE YEARS from the date of this permission; or 

b)    the expiration of TWO YEARS from the final approval of the reserved 

matters, or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of 

the last such matters to be approved. 

Application for the approval of the reserved matters must be made not later than 

THREE years from the date of this permission. 

Reason To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

Condition (2) Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 

(hereinafter called “the reserved matters”) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority before any development begins and the development shall 

be carried out as approved. 

Reason To ensure a satisfactory standard of development on site. 

Condition (3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 

• Location Plan “Prepared by: Jonathan McDermott, 10-04-2018” 

(All other drawings and related information, including the latest Proposed Site Plan, 

reference WLC117/FE/001C, have been considered as illustrative only).  

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Broadband 

Condition (4) None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied until 

connected to the necessary infrastructure to enable access to high speed (superfast) 

broadband.  

Reason To comply with policy DM8 (High Speed Broadband for New 

Developments) of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 

Plan Document.  

Accessible and Adaptable Homes 

Condition (5) The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the Building 

Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible and adaptable homes.  

Page 8



11 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason  To comply with policy DM11 (Accessible and Adaptable Homes) of the 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document.  

Archaeology 

Condition (6) No development shall commence within the site until the applicant has 

secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a 

written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved 

by the local planning authority: 

The written scheme will include the following components: 

i. An archaeological evaluation; 

ii. A recording programme of the archaeological assets impacted upon by the 

permitted development, the scope of which will be dependent upon the results of the 

evaluation; 

iii. Where significant archaeological assets are revealed by the programme of 

archaeological work, a post-excavation assessment and analysis, preparation of a site 

archive ready for deposition at a store approved by the local planning authority, 

completion of an archive report, and submission of the results for publication in a suitable 

journal. 

Reason To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to 

determine the existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for 

the preservation, examination or recording of such remarks. 

Land Contamination 

Condition  (7) No development approved by this permission shall commence until a 

Phase One Assessment from a competent person and, if recommended in that 

Assessment, a further Phase Two Assessment and Remediation Statement, to be 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

Thereafter, a validation report and statement from a competent person detailing the 

contamination assessment, including any found during development, and any remediation 

undertaken, will be required to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 

planning authority upon completion of the development. This will require reference to the 

Phase One Assessment and if required any subsequent Phase Two and Remediation 

Statement. 

Reason To remove any risk or concerns for future occupants or owners of the 

development, and to ensure that site workers are not exposed to the unacceptable risks 

from contamination during construction. 

Noise 

Condition (8) Those reserved matters listed in condition 2 that relate to the final design of 

the proposed dwellings shall include noise attenuation measures demonstrated to ensure 

compliance with the relevant  design criteria in BS 8233:2014 for achieving the following:  

• living rooms / bedrooms not exceeding an internal ambient noise level of 35dB 

LAeq 16hour (0700 – 2300): 

• bedrooms not exceeding an internal ambient noise level of 30dB LAeq 8hour 

(2300 – 0700); and 

Page 9



12 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

• no internal areas exceeding  an internal ambient noise level of 45 dB LAmax more 

than 15 times during the period 2300 – 0700.  

Thereafter, no individual dwelling shall be first occupied until its approved attenuation 

measures have been completed.  

Reason To safeguard future residents and protect amenity of nearby residents from 

noise disturbance. 

Condition  (9) No dwelling with a curtilage abutting the boundary of the railway line and/or 

the Marl Business Park shall be first occupied until the entire length of the boundaries of 

the application site with the railway line and the Marl Business Park have been enclosed 

with an acoustic barrier, the details of which shall first have been submitted and approved 

as a reserved matter in compliance with condition 2. The acoustic barrier shall either be 

2.6m in height, or such other height as shall be justified by an acoustic report 

accompanying the details submitted in compliance with condition 2.    

Reason To safeguard future residents and protect amenity of nearby residents from 

noise disturbance. 

Condition (10) No construction plant and/or machinery shall be operated on the premises 

before 0800 on weekdays and 0900 on Saturdays, nor after 1800 on weekdays and 1300 

on Saturdays, nor at any time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 

Reason To safeguard future residents and protect amenity of nearby residents from 

noise disturbance. 

Landscape detail and implementation 

Condition  (11) Matters of landscaping reserved for further approval by condition 2 

shall comprise details of both hard and soft landscaping.  The hard landscaping details 

shall comprise: (i) proposed finished levels or contours; (ii) means of enclosure; (iii) 

finishes for car parking areas, and other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation 

areas not proposed for adoption; (iv) incidental structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, 

refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, etc.); and (v) an implementation timetable. 

The soft landscaping scheme shall include details of: (i) planting plans; (ii) written 

specifications and schedules of proposed plants noting species, planting sizes and 

proposed numbers/densities; (iii) an implementation timetable; and (iv) a schedule of 

landscape maintenance proposals for a period of not less than five years from the date of 

completion of the scheme. Thereafter, the approved landscaping scheme shall be 

implemented and maintained in accordance with the agreed details and timetables. 

Reason To safeguard and enhance the character of the area. 

Condition  (12) Those reserved matters listed in condition 2 relating to the design of 

the proposed houses shall include details of finished floor levels.  

Reason To safeguard and enhance the character of the area. 

Biodiversity 

Condition (13) No development shall commence until a scheme for biodiversity 

enhancement associated with the proposed development, including management 

proposals for the lifetime of the development, has been submitted to, and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. The scheme must demonstrate a net gain in 

biodiversity unless it can be demonstrated that it is not possible. The scheme must be 

prepared in the context of: (1) the relevant advice in the Government’s Planning Practice 

Page 10



13 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Guidance and any other relevant best practice; and (2) the baseline conditions and 

recommendations contained within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, ‘Land adjacent to 

Watery Lane’, Ulverston, South Lakes Ecology, 18th March 2020, submitted in support of 

this application. Thereafter, the site shall be developed and maintained in accordance with 

the approved management proposals. 

Reason To meet the requirements of policy DM4 of the South Lakeland 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and paragraph 170 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Access 

Condition (14) Matters of access reserved for further approval by condition 2 shall 

comprise details of the design, construction, drainage and method of lighting for the 

proposed carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc., including the new footway 

proposed along Watery Lane connecting the site entrance to the A5087. These details 

must include longitudinal/cross sections. The details also need to accord with the 

standards laid down in the current Cumbria Development Design Guide, except where 

those standards are exceeded by the requirements to accommodate the refuse collection 

vehicles operated by South Lakeland District Council.  

No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied until the carriageway, 

footways, footpaths, cycleways etc. serving it, including the new footway proposed along 

Watery Lane, have been completed in accordance with the agreed details. 

Reason In the interests of highway safety.  

Condition (15) No other development shall not commence until visibility splays providing 

clear visibility of 40 metres measured 2.4m down the centre of the access road and the 

nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at the junction of the access 

road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 

and re-enacting that Order), no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, 

parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to 

grow within the visibility splays in a manner that would obstruct them. Where required to 

be demolished, the existing natural stone boundary wall to Watery Lane shall be 

reconstructed in reclaimed or matching natural stone, and in a matching style, along the 

back edge of the new visibility splay.  

Reason In the interests of highway safety.  

Condition (16) The existing boundary wall to Watery Lane and the A5087 shall be retained 

except where demolition is necessary to achieve the necessary visibility splays.  

Reason To maintain local distinctiveness in accordance with policy DM2 of the 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Parking 

Condition (17) Matters of layout reserved for further approval by condition 2 shall include 

car parking at a ratio of two spaces per dwelling plus one visitor’s space for every five 

dwellings. No individual dwelling shall be first occupied until parking to this ratio has been 

provided to serve its needs.  

Reason In the interests of amenity and highway safety.  

Construction Environment and Traffic Management Plan 

Page 11



14 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Condition (18) No development shall commence until a Construction Environment and 

Traffic Management Plan (CE&TMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 

the local planning authority. The CE&TMP shall include details of: 

• the pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 

accommodation works within the highways boundary; 

• proposed crossings of the highway verge;  

• arrangements for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

• arrangements for loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

• storage arrangements for plant and materials used in constructing the 

development; 

• proposed wheel washing facilities;  

• the arrangements for the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to 

prevent spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway;  

• construction vehicle routing;  

• the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and other 

public rights of way/footway;  

• measures to control noise and vibration from plant, equipment and development 

processes– this to include any rock pecking and excavations;  

• measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 

• a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from excavations and 

• construction site lighting designed to negate light spillage from the site boundary. 

Thereafter, development shall proceed in accordance with the relevant TA/CTMP. 

Reason In the interests of amenity and highway safety.  

Surface water 

Condition (19) No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme, 

based upon the hierarchy of drainage options listed in policy DM6 of the South Lakeland 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document, together with an 

assessment of the site conditions, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 

local planning authority.  

The surface water drainage scheme must accord with the Non-Statutory Technical 

Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015), or any subsequent 

replacement national standards.  

None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied until the approved surface 

water drainage scheme has been completed and made operational.  

Reason To promote the use of a sustainable surface water drainage scheme in 

accordance with policy DM6 of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies 

Development Plan Document.  

Condition (20) None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied until a 

management and maintenance plan for the surface water drainage scheme for the lifetime 

Page 12



15 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

of the development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

authority. As a minimum the plan shall include: 

a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body, statutory undertaker, or 

private management company; and 

b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 

surface water drainage scheme to secure its effective operation for the lifetime of the 

development.   

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 

accordance with the approved management and maintenance plan. 

Reason To promote the use of a sustainable surface water drainage scheme in 

accordance with policy DM6 of the South Lakeland Development Management Policies 

Development Plan Document.  

INFORMATIVES 

Note (1) In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate balance of 

considerations, the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 

determining this application proposal, taking into account all material considerations. 

Material considerations include planning policies and any representations that may have 

been received preceding the determination to grant planning permission in accordance 

with the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that its processes 

and practices are compatible with the Human Rights Act and the decisions of the 

European Court of Human Rights. 

Note (2) In preparing the details of the reserved matters required by condition 2 

and/or the details required to comply with other conditions on this permission, the 

developer’s attention is drawn the contents of the email from Network Rail dated 05 March 

2020 submitted as a consultation response to this planning application. Network Rail’s 

requirements, and in particular the need for a BAPA (Basic Asset Protection Agreement), 

could impact significantly upon the details of this scheme.  

Note (3) The developer’s attention is drawn to the provisions of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 and the obligations this imposes, separate from the planning 

process, in respect of protecting wildlife.   

Note (4)  In preparing the surface water drainage scheme required by condition 19 

Cumbria County Council has confirmed, in its dual roles as local highway authority and 

Lead Local Flood Authority, that permeable surfaces would be acceptable for all roads, 

including those proposed for adoption. This could be significant in ensuring that scheme 

satisfies the hierarchy of drainage options listed in policy DM6 of the South Lakeland 

Development Management Policies Development Plan.  

Note  (5) This Decision Notice is to be read alongside the legal agreement made 

pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended. 

Note – The Committee voted to adjourn for a break at 11.13 a.m. and reconvened at 

11.20 a.m. when a roll call was taken, all Members confirming that they were 

present, that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 

participating in the meeting. 

 

Page 13



16 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

P/15 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0359 OS FIELD NOS. 1737 AND 1841 TO THE 
NORTH OF BOON TOWN, BURTON IN KENDAL  
 
Erection of 28 affordable dwellings and associated infrastructure (South Lakes Housing). 

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
Note - Councillor John Holmes declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in this 
item by virtue of the fact that he was one of South Lakeland District Council’s 
nominated Directors on the Board of South Lakes Housing and he was 
disconnected for the remainder of the meeting. 
 
Councillor Suzanne Long, declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item by virtue of 
the fact that she had expressed an interest in a position relating to South Lakes 
Housing. She explained that she did not feel biased or pre-determined on the matter 
but was mindful of the perception of bias in the case and would not take place in 
the item and she was disconnected for the remainder of the meeting. 
 
Councillor Vicky Hughes declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item by virtue of 
the fact that she lived in Burton-in-Kendal. She explained however, that she was not 
biased or predetermined and remained connected to the virtual meeting and took 
part in the discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Councillor Brian Cooper declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item by virtue of 
the fact that the applicant was known to him. He explained however, that he was not 
biased or predetermined and remained connected to the virtual meeting and took 
part in the discussion and voting on the item. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2019/0359 which sought full 

planning permission for the erection of 28 affordable dwellings and associated 

infrastructure on an allocated site. He displayed plans and photographs which outlined the 

proposals and explained that the access road to the site was part owned by the Council. 

The Planning Officer outlined the proposal which comprised of: two storey semi-detached 

dwelling houses; detached and semi-detached bungalows; and two blocks of maisonettes. 

He explained that a new access point had been proposed and the road would serve a 

small number of culs-de-sac within the proposed development. In addition a new 

pedestrian link would lead into the public footpath which ran along the northern site 

boundary.  

The Planning Officer advised Members that the tenure of the dwellings, as outlined in the 

report, had changed and it was now 19 affordable rented in perpetuity and nine shared 

ownership homes. He explained that the proposal offered a significant contribution to 

affordable dwellings needed in the Rural Kendal Housing Market. He drew Members’ 

attention to the landmark ash tree which would be removed and went on to outline the 

access to the site which would be across a strip of land which was owned by South 

Lakeland District Council. The Planning Officer informed Members that a small strip of 

land would be lost from an existing play area which would necessitate the relocation of 

two swings. The Parish Council had raised no objections in this regard. In addition the link 

to the public footpath and the improvement of the existing public footpath to the main 

square would be secured by way of a Section 106 Agreement. 

Page 14



17 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

The Planning Officer concluded his presentation by outlining the slight harm to the setting 

of the listed buildings and conservation area and the loss of the mature ash tree. He 

explained that the harm would be outweighed by the public gain of 28 affordable dwellings 

and the hard and soft landscaping proposed would reduce the impact on the visual 

amenity of the landscape settlement character and there would be no adverse impact on 

the residential amenity of neighbouring dwellings. 

The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members. He clarified the 

affordable housing provision and explained that as the dwellings were Housing 

Association there would be no right to buy the shared ownership homes. 

The Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist (Monitoring Officer) informed Members 

that the Section 106 Agreement would detail the staircasing restrictions on the shared 

ownership properties and the perpetuity of the affordable rented and shared ownership 

properties. She explained that the Section 106 Agreement was in draft stage and 

restricted the staircasing to 80% and undertook to provide a written response in order to 

provide clarification in this regard. In answer to a question relating to perpetuity, it was 

explained that some lenders requested clauses that impacted upon this and it was 

explained that South Lakeland District Council always sought to state that the obligations 

would bind the land.  

In response to concerns regarding existing drainage issues within the village and the flood 

risk, the Planning Officer explained that a flood risk assessment had been submitted with 

the application and that the drainage would be surveyed and upgraded and ongoing 

discussions would take place between the developer and the Local Lead Flood Authority. 

Members enquired about parking provision and asked if there would be electric charging 

points. The Planning Officer advised Members that there was no policy requirement for 

electric charging points.  

The Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist (Monitoring Officer) provided clarity 

regarding shared ownership and local occupancy and explained that staircasing 

restrictions could be agreed under delegated powers. 

A Member highlighted concerns regarding renewable energy as outlined in policy DM2 

paragraph 9. They referred to the fact there was no mention of renewable energy sources, 

rainwater gathering and solar gain had not been considered. There was no consideration 

of bicycle storage or the provision of electric charging points. The Member concluded by 

highlighting South Lakeland District Council’s (SLDC) declaration of a Climate Emergency 

and that climate change and biodiversity was at the heart of everything SLDC did. 

A motion to refuse the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item. 

The motion to refuse the application was lost. 

A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded.  

Members gave consideration to the concerns previously highlighted and the Planning 

Officer advised Members that there was no policy for the provision of electric charging 

points or solar panels. The Interim Development Management Team Leader highlighted 

other planning considerations and explained that often with developments compromises 

had to be struck and that where there were no specific policies in the Core Strategy or 

Development Management DPD, lessons could be learned and comments could be fed 

into the review of the Local Plan. 

Page 15



18 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

A vote was taken on the motion to approve the application, during which all Planning 

Committee Members confirmed that they had, without interruption, heard the full 

presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That  

(1) the Head of Planning be delegated authority to grant planning permission subject 

to the details of a S106 Agreement to be delegated to the Head of Planning and the Chair 

of the Planning Committee; and 

(2)   the following Conditions: 

SECTION 106 AGREEMENT:  

The development shall not commence until such time as a suitably worded legal 
agreement has been completed to the satisfaction of the local planning authority for the 
following  

 The provision of 28 affordable units as outlined within the report. To comprise 19 

affordable rented in perpetuity and nine Shared Ownership homes  

 funding by the developer of a satisfactory footway to link continuously and 

conveniently to the village centre. The following contributions are required 

£7000 for the provision of a public footpath.  

CONDITIONS:  

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 
expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

Reason To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  Location Plan LP01 P1, Proposed Site Layout. Dwg no 
101-P3, Boundary treatment plan Dwg no SK06 D3, Planting Plan. Dwg no 1572-1-50 
Rev F, Proposed Foul & Surface Water Drainage Plan dwg no K35155/A1/100 Rev H, 
Proposed Highway Levels and finished floor levels dwg no K35155/A1/101 Rev F, 
Proposed Roof Plan - Dwg no SK05 D4, Vehicle tracking analysis. Dwg no 
K35155/A1/103 Rev B, House Type Booklet: September 2019, Design & Access 
Statement: September 2019 - Rev A, Proposed streetscene. A2 Dwg no SK10, Ecological 
Appraisal Envirotech 28th January 2020,  Flood risk assessment and drainage strategy R. 
G. Parkins & Partners Ltd Revision C January 2020, Pre-development Arboricultural 
Report Treescapes Consultancy Ltd dated 1 April 2019, Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
Glenkemp April 2019,  Phase 1: desk top study report (preliminary environmental risk 
assessment) Geo Environmental Engineering 13 April 2018, Phase ii: ground investigation 
report Geo Environmental Engineering 20.07.2018. 

Reason:    For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (3) Before the commencement of the dwellings sample panels of the materials 
to be used for the external surfaces of the dwellings hereby approved shall be erected at 
the application site and no external walling shall be erected until written approval for the 
materials has been given by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be 
fully implemented.   

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy DM1 of the 
Councils Development Management Policies. 

Page 16



19 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Condition(4) The approved landscaping scheme as shown on planting plan dwg no 
1572-1-50 Rev F shall be fully implemented within the first planting season following 
completion of the development. 

a) All trees, shrubs and hedge plants supplied shall comply with the requirements of 
British Standard 3936, Specification -for Nursery Stock. All pre-planting site preparation, 
planting and post-planting maintenance works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
requirements of British Standard 4428(1989) Code of Practice for General Landscape 
Operations (excluding hard surfaces). 

b)  All new tree plantings shall be positioned in accordance with the requirements of 
Table A.1 of BS5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction(Recommendations) 

c)  Any trees, shrubs or hedges planted in accordance with this condition which is 
removed, die, become severely damaged or become seriously diseased within five years 
of planting shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees, shrubs or hedging 
plants of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted. 

Reason: To ensure appropriate landscaping of the site and in accordance with 
Policy DM4 of the Councils Development Management Policies. 

Condition 5  

i) No development shall commence, on any part of the approved scheme, until the full 
scheme details, as described in the approved Transport Assessment paragraphs  4.11 – 
4.19, have been submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority.    

ii) The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until the highway works 
agreed under part i) above, have been fully completed and retained therafter.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety. 

Condition (6) Prior to the commencement of any development, detail of the retaining wall 
on the western boundary of the site must be provided including an analysis of its effects 
on sub surface flow lines in combination with increased infiltration and how this will affect 
downslope properties. The approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the first 
occupation of the development.  

Reason:  To ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere and in accordance with 
Policy DM6 of the Councils Development Management Policies. 

Condition (7) Prior to the commencement of any development, detail of the permeable 
farm access track must be provided. The approved details shall be fully implemented prior 
to the first occupation of the development.   

Reason:  To ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere and in accordance with 
Policy DM6 of the Councils Development Management Policies. 

Condition (8) Prior to the commencement of any development, full details of the 
geocellular soakaways and rain gardens shall be provided to the local planning authority 
for its written approval. The approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the first 
occupation of the development and thereafter retained as approved.   

Reason:  To ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere and in accordance with 
Policy DM6 of the Councils Development Management Policies.  

Condition (9) No development shall commence until a construction surface water 
management plan has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority. The approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the first occupation of 
the development and shall be retained thereafter in the approved form.   

Page 17



20 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason:  To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to safeguard 
against pollution of surrounding watercourses and drainage systems and in accordance 
with Policy DM6 of the Councils Development Management Policies.  

Condition(10) A Surface Water Validation Report that demonstrates that the drainage 
scheme and exceedance routes are being carried out in accordance with the approved 
documents shall be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority for each distinct 
phase of this development, but should include as a minimum a post 50% occupation 
validation and a validation prior to occupation of the final dwelling.  

Reason:  To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of surface 
water and in accordance with Policy DM6 of the Councils Development Management 
Policies.  

Condition(11) No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan 
(CMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.  

The CMP will include: 

• arrangements for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

• arrangements for loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

• storage arrangements for plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

• proposed wheel washing facilities; 

• measures to control noise and vibration from plant, equipment and development  
processes– this to include any rock pecking and excavations; 

• measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 

• construction site lighting designed to negate light spillage from the site boundary. 

The approved CMP shall be adhered to during the construction period.  

Reason:  In the interests of neighbouring residential amenity and in accordance with 
Policy DM1 of the Development Management Polices (DPD). 

Condition (12) No construction work for this development should take place on the site, 
except between the hours 08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday and 09.00 – 13.00 on 
Saturdays. In particular, no work should be carried out on Sundays or officially recognised 
public holidays without the prior agreement in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:  To safeguard future residents and protect amenity of nearby residents from 
noise disturbance. 

Condition (13) The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet the Building 
Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible and adaptable homes. 

Reason: To comply with policy DM11 (Accessible and Adaptable Homes) of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (14) Notwithstanding the approved plans, the development hereby permitted 
shall incorporate two internal swift bricks on each unit on plots 5,7,8 to 23 inclusive. Any 
variation to this shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
swift bricks shall be retained as such thereafter. 

Reason:         In accordance with Policy CS8.4 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and 
Policy DM4 of the Local Plan Development Management Polices Development Plan 
Document. 

 

Page 18



21 
11.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

P/16 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
The Chairman, prior to closing the meeting, expressed thanks to all who had participated 
and officers for their efforts for facilitating the meeting.  
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 12.19 p.m. 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



23 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a virtual meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Thursday, 25 June 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 
Eric Morrell (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Rupert Audland 
Helen Chaffey 
Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 
Philip Dixon 

 

Judy Filmore 
Gill Gardner 
John Holmes 
Vicky Hughes 

Janette Jenkinson 
 

Malcolm Lamb 
Kevin Lancaster 
Susanne Long 
David Webster 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Anne Hutton and Dave Khan. 
 

Officers 
 

Belinda Fettis Specialist Development Management 

Linda Fisher Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Nick Howard Team Leader Development Management 

Julia Krier Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Mark Lynch Interim Development Management Team Leader 

Una Bell Case Management Team Leader 

Lizzie Spencer Specialist (Development Management) 

 

P/17 CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION  
 
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Chairman 
welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Planning 
Committee, in doing so, thanking all officers involved in the process for their work on the 
project. 
 
The Chairman referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct 
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members 
of the public, the procedures for the meeting.  He then invited Members of the Planning 
Committee to introduce themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or 
audio and to confirm that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 
participating in the meeting.  All Members present, including the Chairman himself, having 
indicated that this was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would 
introduce themselves when asked to address the meeting. 
 

P/18 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee held on 28 May 2020. 
 

Page 21



24 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

P/19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised. 
 

P/20 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded Items on the agenda. 
 

P/21 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s public 
participation scheme had been received in respect of the following item:- 
 
Minute No. P/21 (Planning Application No. SL/2020/0108). 
 
The Chairman advised that the participants would be dialled in to the meeting to make 
their address at the appropriate time.  
 

P/22 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0108 - EDEN LODGE AND HOUSE, COAST 
ROAD, BARDSEA, ULVERSTON  
 
Retention of two wooden chalets for manager’s accommodation (Mr E Liehr) 

The Planning Officer presented Planning Application SL/2020/0108 which sought 

retrospective planning permission for two wooden chalets for manager’s accommodation 

at Eden Lodge, Coast Road, Bardsea. She displayed plans and photographs which 

outlined the proposals. 

The Planning Officer outlined the planning history of the site and informed Members that 

the application before them was a part resubmission of a previous application (Planning 

Application No. SL/2019/0615) for retrospective planning permission, which had been 

refused at Planning Committee in December 2019. The Planning Officer explained that 

Planning Application SL/2020/0108 was in relation to lodges D and E only and that the 

applicant had lodged an appeal with the Planning Inspectorate regarding the Planning 

Committee’s previous decision, in December 2019, to refuse retrospective planning 

permission for all four lodges and that this appeal was running concurrently alongside the 

application before Members. The Planning Officer reminded Members that the Planning 

Committee debate in December 2019 had, in the main, focussed on lodges B and C and 

on the anticipated adverse effects of the development upon the residential amenity of 

persons residing in the neighbouring properties to the southern site boundary. 

The Planning Officer went on to further outline the planning history of lodges D and E and 

informed Members that planning permission was required for lodge D for the building and 

its use as manager’s accommodation; and for lodge E the change of use to manager’s 

accommodation. She explained that the applicant was the owner of Eden Lodge complex 

and lodges D and E were used by himself and his partner as the on-site manager’s 

accommodation. Lodge D was erected in 2016 without planning permission and provided 

living and sleeping accommodation. Lodge E was erected in 2005 and provided a kitchen 

and a bathroom area. The Planning Officer advised Members that the proposal included 

the relocation of the manager’s hot tub to the north of lodges D and E and the retention of 

a two metre high fence along the southern boundary. In addition, following concerns 

regarding the capacity for the existing foul sewage system to accommodate extra persons 

at the site, the applicant had confirmed that the existing tank would be replaced with a 

new package treatment plant. 

Page 22



25 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

The Planning Officer displayed further photographs and plans and explained that Lodges 

D and E would function as one unit as manager’s accommodation. She explained that the 

key consideration was the demonstrable need for a manager to live on site full time and 

that evidence had been provided in respect of this and that financial evidence had been 

submitted to show the business to be viable and therefore the proposal was in compliance 

with Policy DM15. Furthermore consideration could be given to the visual impact on the 

rural landscape, however, this consideration was only applicable to lodge D.  

In concluding her presentation, the Planning Officer highlighted the planning conditions, 

as outlined in the report, and proposed varied wording for Condition 2 and an additional 

Condition regarding the location of the hot tub.  

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mrs Victoria Cowan, a local resident, and speaking in opposition to the 

application, be dialled into the meeting to make her representation.  The Chairman 

welcomed Mrs Cowan and informed her that she had three minutes in which to 

make her address. 

Mrs Cowan, a local resident, addressed the Committee in opposition to the application. 

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the applicant, 

Mr Ernst Liehr, be dialled into the meeting to make his representation.  The 

Chairman welcomed Mr Liehr and informed him that he had three minutes in which 

to make his address. 

Mr Liehr, the applicant, addressed the Committee and spoke in support of the application. 

The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members and stated that the 

provision of a contact number for local residents was something that could be dealt with 

outside of the planning process. She clarified that the appeal which had been lodged by 

the applicant was in respect of all four lodges; lodges C and B for holiday accommodation 

and lodges D and E for manager’s accommodation.  

The Interim Development Management Team Leader clarified the definition of 

development in the Planning Act in regard to the permanence of the hot tub and stated 

that if further hot tubs were installed on the site a further assessment of their size, scale 

and degree of permanence would be carried out. The Planning Officer reiterated the 

conditions, as outlined in the report, and the proposed amendments. In response to a 

question regarding unsocial behaviour and excessive noise, the Planning Officer informed 

Members that the applicant had agreed to the relocation of the hot tub, to minimise the 

impact on neighbours. 

Members thanked the Planning Officer for the comprehensive report and presentation. 

They gave consideration to the importance of a manager being on site and the benefits of 

the applicant providing a contact telephone number for local residents.  

A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the application, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That the application be approved subject to the conditions below:- 

Condition 1:  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans:  

Location Plan (submitted 19 March 2020) 

Page 23



26 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Site Plan (submitted 5 May 2020) 

Proposed Elevations (submitted 19 March 2020) 

Indicative Fencing Plan (submitted 19 March 2020) 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition 2: The occupation of the manager’s accommodation hereby approved, 

comprising of Buildings D and E as shown on the Site Plan, submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority on 5 May 2020, shall be used together only as a single unit and shall 

be limited to a person solely or mainly employed as the manager of Eden Lodge holiday 

accommodation complex and their dependents. The manager’s accommodation shall not 

be otherwise occupied, sold, disposed of or let as a residential dwelling or holiday 

accommodation without the express permission of the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: Residential development for purposes other than for the essential 

requirements of a rural business are not permitted within this location in accordance with 

Policy DM15 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition 3: The two metre high screen fence erected along the southern boundary 

where it meets the neighbouring property ‘Feldgate’, as shown on the submitted Site Plan, 

shall be maintained in situ.  

Reason:  In order to prevent overlooking into neighbouring residential properties to 

the southern site boundary.   

Condition 4:  

a) Within 3 months of the grant of planning permission full details of the foul 

drainage treatment to service the manager’s accommodation shall be submitted to 

the Local Planning Authority for approval. These details should include: 

- Scaled plans showing the location of the proposed installation, including 

any drainage field or outfall; 

- Percolation tests where the outfall is to the ground to determine the 

absorption rate of soil for a drainage field; 

- Confirmation of the capacity of the tank relative to the peak load of the 

manager’s accommodation and the existing holiday accommodation; 

- Management and access arrangements for servicing and emptying the 

tank. 

b) Within 2 months of the date of the Local Planning Authority’s written 

approval to the matters outlined in clause a) to this condition, the approved 

scheme shall be implemented in full and a verification report provided to the Local 

Planning Authority confirming the installation of the foul drainage treatment in 

accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that foul drainage is managed at the site to ensure that it 

reduces the potential for pollution into groundwater in accordance with Policies DM6 and 

DM7 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition 5: Notwithstanding the details set on the submitted plans, the hot tub shall be 

retained at all times hereafter in the location to the north of buildings D and E as denoted 

on the Site Plan, submitted to the Local Planning Authority on 5 May 2020.   

Page 24



27 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason:  In order to protect the residential amenity of the neighbouring residential 

properties from noise disturbance in accordance with Policy DM1 and DM7 of the 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document 

INFORMATIVE 

• In accordance with the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 

2016 any discharge of sewage made to either surface water or ground water will need to 

hold an environmental permit issued by the Environment Agency or comply with the 

‘general binding rules’ for the use of a non-mains drainage system. Further information is 

provided at https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks/overview  

• The package treatment plant will also be required to be compliant with Building 

Regulations (including minimum distances from any building and private water supply 

source). 

Note – The Committee voted to adjourn for a break at 11.00 a.m. and reconvened at 

11.05 a.m. when a roll call was taken, all Members confirming that they were 

present, that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 

participating in the meeting. 

 

P/23 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0217 - THE PASTURES LODGE PARK, 
TEMPLAND LANE, ALLITHWAITE, GRANGE-OVER-SANDS  
 
This application was withdrawn prior to the commencement of the meeting.  
 

P/24 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0231 - THE PASTURES LODGE PARK, 
TEMPLAND LANE, ALLITHWAITE, GRANGE-OVER-SANDS  
 
Siting of three lodges, laying of stone drive and hardstanding plus foul water connection 

(Mrs and Mrs Andrew Cotter) 

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2020/0231 which sought full 

planning permission for three holiday lodges, creation of an access drive and connection 

to a wastewater treatment plant, on the edge of Pastures Lodge near Allithwaite. He 

displayed plans and photographs which outlined the proposals. The Planning Officer 

referred to a site visit, which had taken place in 2019, in relation to an application for four 

camping pods, which the Planning Committee had granted in 2019. The Planning Officer 

explained that the site was situated in open countryside and that the proposal met all the 

criteria within Policy DM18 of the Council’s Development Plan Document. 

The Planning Officer went on to provide details of the proposed lodges which were 

approximately ten metres in length, five metres wide and with a double mono pitch roof. 

He explained that the proposal represented a small addition to the lodge park on an area 

which had not previously been extended. It was considered that the scale of the addition 

was considered appropriate to the locality given the overall size of the park. 

The Planning Officer displayed aerial photographs of the site which comprised of a small 

field, well screened on all sides, with the southern boundary consisting of a mature copse 

of trees. He highlighted to Members that the western boundary was undefined and that 

planting of a native hedge had been proposed. However, the proposal would have little 

Page 25



28 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

impact on the landscape and it was considered that Condition 4, which would require the 

submission of a detailed landscaping scheme prior to the commencement of the 

development, was no longer required. The Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to 

Condition 3 within the report and advised Members that he was awaiting full details of the 

waste water treatment plant and its connection to the lodges. The Planning Officer 

concluded his address by informing Members that the holiday lodges would not be used 

other than as holiday accommodation.  

The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members. In response to a 

question regarding the opening season of the park, the Planning Officer advised that the 

park was closed for six weeks each year, January to the end of February, and that the 

lodges could not be used as permanent residencies. The Planning Officer agreed that an 

additional condition would be added in this regard, to mirror the opening season of the 

current park. In response to a question regarding the removal of Condition 4, as outlined 

in the report, it was agreed that Condition 4 should remain, with additional wording to 

ensure the planting would be retained thereafter.  

Members gave consideration to the application and a motion to approve the application 

was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken, during which all Planning Committee 

Members confirmed that they had, without interruption, heard the full presentation and 

discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – That the application be approved subject to the conditions below:- 

Condition 1: The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years 

from the date of this decision.  

Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 

Condition 2:  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: Location Plan, Amended site plan 03A, Proposed lodge 

floor plans & elevations Rev A.  

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition 3: Prior to the commencement of development details of the waste water 

treatment plant and its connection to the holiday lodges shall be submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be fully implemented 

together with the access track being laid out before the holiday lodges are first occupied 

and both shall be retained thereafter.  

Reason:  In order to provide sufficient drainage and an acceptable access. . 

Condition 4: The landscaping scheme along the western boundary of the site as shown 

on the approved site plan shall be retained. Any trees, shrubs or hedges planted in 

accordance with the approved site plan which are removed, die, become severely 

damaged or become seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced 

within the next planting season by trees, shrubs or hedging plants of similar size and 

species to those originally required to be planted.  

Reason:  In order to provide the site with an adequate screen and in accordance with 

Policy DM18 of the Council’s Development Management Policies. 

Condition 5: The holiday lodges shall not be used other than as holiday 

accommodation. They shall not be used as a sole or principal residence by any 

Page 26



29 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

occupants. Furthermore, this permission does not authorise occupation of the lodges 

except during the period 01 March to 14 January each year’.  

Reason: To safeguard the local tourist economy in accordance with Policy DM18 of 

the Council’s Development Management Policies. 

P/25 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0242 - 2 CHAMBERS CLOSE, KENDAL, LA9 
5JE  
 
Single Storey Extension (Mr Conway) 

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2019/0242 which sought 

permission for a single storey rear lean-to extension at 2 Chambers Close, Kendal. She 

displayed plans and photographs which outlined the proposals and highlighted the key 

issues for consideration by the Committee, which were the design and whether the 

proposal would have significant impact on the residential amenity of neighbouring 

properties. The Planning Officer explained that the application had been referred to 

Planning Committee for consideration, due to the fact the applicant was related to a 

member of staff at South Lakeland District Council, which was in line with the Council’s 

Constitution and the Scheme of Delegation.  

In concluding her presentation the Planning Officer informed Members that the proposal 

was modest in scale and related well to the design and appearance of the existing 

dwelling house and that it was not considered to give rise to any unacceptable impacts on 

the neighbouring amenity.   

The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members.  

Members gave consideration to the application and a motion to approve the application 

was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken, during which all Planning Committee 

Members confirmed that they had, without interruption, heard the full presentation and 

discussion on the item and it was  

RESOLVED – That the application be approved subject to the conditions below:- 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be completed within 3 years from 

the date of this permission. 

Reason To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004. 

Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans:  

K388-05-P Revision B, Plans and Elevations as Proposed, as submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority on June 1st 2020. 

K388-04-P Revision A, Plans and Elevations as Proposed, as submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority on April 1st 2020. 

K388-02-BP Block Plan as Proposed, as submitted to the Local Planning Authority 

on April 1st 2020. 

Page 27



30 
25.06.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (3) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

extension hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building and shall be 

retained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority. 

Reason To ensure the extension respects the design of the parent building in 

accordance with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan 

Document and Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

P & P Statement In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate 

balance of considerations, the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and 

proactively in determining this application proposal, taking into account all material 

considerations. Material considerations include planning policies and any representations 

that may have been received preceding the determination to grant planning permission in 

accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the 

National Planning Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that its 

processes and practices are compatible with the Human Rights Act and the decisions of 

the European Court of Human Rights. 

 

P/26 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
The Chairman, prior to closing the meeting, expressed thanks to all who had participated 
and officers for their efforts for facilitating the meeting.  
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 11.37 a.m. 

Page 28



31 
16.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a virtual meeting of the Planning Committeeon Thursday, 
16 July 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 
Eric Morrell (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Rupert Audland 
Helen Chaffey 
Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 
Judy Filmore 

 

Gill Gardner 
John Holmes 
Vicky Hughes 

Janette Jenkinson 
Malcolm Lamb 

 

Kevin Lancaster 
Susanne Long 
David Webster 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Anne Hutton. 
 

Officers 
 

Una Bell Case Management Team Leader 

Linda Fisher Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Nick Howard Team Leader Development Management 

Ronan Kelly Enforcement Officer 

Mark Lynch Interim Development Management Team Leader 

 

P/27 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Chairman 
welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Planning 
Committee, in doing so, thanking all officers involved in the process for their work on the 
project. 
 
The Chairman referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct 
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members 
of the public, the procedures for the meeting.  He then invited Members of the Planning 
Committee to introduce themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or 
audio and to confirm that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 
participating in the meeting.  All Members present, including the Chairman himself, having 
indicated that this was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would 
introduce themselves when asked to address the meeting. 
 

P/28 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that the following declarations of interest were made:- 
 
Councillor Michael Cornah declared a non-pecuniary interest with regard to Minute No. 
P/31 (Planning Application SL/2020/0195); and  
 

Page 29



32 
16.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Councillor Judy Filmore and Councillor David Webster declared non-pecuniary interests 
with regard to Minute No. P/32 (Planning Application No. SL/2019/0146).  
 

P/29 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the Agenda. 
 

P/30 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s public 
participation scheme had been received in respect of the following item:- 
 
Minute No. P/31 (Planning Application No. SL/2020/0195). 
 
The Chairman advised that the participants would be dialled into the meeting to make 
their address at the appropriate time. 
 

P/31 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0195 - PRIZET FILLING STATION, 
HELSINGTON, KENDAL  
 
Extension of Prizet Service Station to include drive-thru Costa restaurant, offices, car 
parking with electric charging points and associated site works (Resubmission of 
SL/2019/0694) (Simon Hockings) 

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
Councillor Michael Cornah declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item by virtue of 
the fact that he ‘Called In’ the planning application. He explained however, that he 
was not biased or predetermined and remained connected to the virtual meeting 
and took part in the discussion and voting on the item. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application SL/2020/0195 which sought full 
planning permission for the erection of a drive-thru coffee shop and office block with the 
provision of a car park comprising 44 spaces and four electric charging points. He 
displayed plans and photographs which showed the layout of the existing service station 
and he outlined the proposals for the expansion of the roadside services offer and the 
addition of an office building and informed Members that both the proposed coffee shop 
and office building would be single storey with mono-pitch roofs.  
 
The Planning Officer outlined to Members the issues for their consideration that the site 
was in open countryside, it was remote from the nearest settlement of Kendal and it would 
be considered as unsustainable development in a rural location. He explained that Policy 
CS1.1 of the Council’s Core Strategy referred to Sustainable Development Principles, 
which included the importance of protecting the countryside. The Policy also set out a 
sequential approach to development in using existing buildings within settlements, other 
suitable infill opportunities and development of other land, where it was well located in 
relation to housing, jobs, other services and infrastructure. The Planning Officer explained 
that the proposal was in a rural location and did not follow the sequential approach. 
Furthermore Policy CS1.2 set out the Council’s Development Strategy where 
exceptionally a new development would be permitted in open countryside where there 
was an essential requirement for a rural location. The proposed coffee shop and office did 
not essentially have to be located in a rural location and the proposal did not comply with 
Policy CS7.4 as it represented a stand-alone development with limited linkage to the 

Page 30



33 
16.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

existing service station. The Planning Officer outlined Policy CS7.2 in relation to the 
allocation of employment land and informed Members that there was no need for 
additional employment land, as referred to by the applicant, as the Council’s employment 
land requirement was met through existing allocations in rural settlements and it had in 
excess of a five year supply. The Planning Officer went on to outline the proximity of the 
proposed improved roadside services in relation to nearby roadside services.  
 
The Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to the provision of electric vehicle charging 
points within the proposal and the fact that the applicant had highlighted the deficiency of 
rapid electric car charging points along the ‘gateway to the lakes’. The applicant had 
stated that when travelling north, after Burton-in-Kendal motorway services, there were no 
rapid charging points until Ambleside. The Planning Officer went on to outline the rapid 
charging points available in Kendal via a slight detour and stated that there was no reason 
why the charging facilities could not be placed within the existing site, without the need for 
a drive thru and an office unit. 
 
The Planning Officer went on to outline the impact on the rural landscape and the impact 
on biodiversity and stated that there would be significant harm to the rural landscape due 
to the site being visible when approached from the north. The proposal would be 
completely open to view and would be elevated above the road and although new planting 
would be included this would take time to mature. He stated that the net gain of 25 metres 
of hedgerow and new planting was not considered to be proportionate to the scale of the 
development and therefore the net gain in biodiversity was not considered to be sufficient 
and was contrary to Policy DM14. 
 
The Planning Officer informed Members that the applicant had made reference, in his 
application, to an appeal decision in Baynards Green, Oxfordshire, in support of the 
proposal. He explained that the Baynards Green proposal was not the same and could not 
be considered as a material consideration to the proposal before them. 
 
The Planning Officer concluded his presentation by stating that Planning Application 
SL/2020/0195 was recommended for refusal as the proposed development was: located 
in the open countryside and would result in unsustainable development in a rural location; 
its proximity to the road and its elevated nature would be harmful to character of the rural 
area; and there was insufficient biodiversity gain. 
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mr Matthew Wyatt, the applicant’s agent, be dialled into the meeting to 

make his representation.  The Chairman welcomed Mr Wyatt and informed him that 

he had three minutes in which to make his address. 

Mr Matthew Wyatt, the applicant’s agent, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application.  
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mr Simon Hockings, the applicant, be dialled into the meeting to make 

his representation.  The Chairman welcomed Mr Hocking and informed him that he 

had three minutes in which to make his address. 

Mr Simon Hockings, the applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the application. 
 
The Planning Officer responded to points raised during public participation.  
 
The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members. 
 

Page 31



34 
16.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman was advised that Planning 
Committee Member, Councillor Judy Filmore, Ward Councillor for Ulverston West 
and representing the Green Party, had become disconnected from the meeting. 
Councillor Filmore was reconnected and confirmed that she was able to see (where 
practicable) and hear all Members participating in the meeting and that she had not 
missed any of the presentation or discussion thus far. 
 
The Planning Officer responded to further questions raised by Members. 
 
Members gave consideration to the proposal, in particular the four rapid electric charging 
points; the impracticalities of and the additional congestion of vehicles accessing the 
charging points in Kendal; the employment gain with free parking; and that the biodiversity 
gain had not been fully explored with the applicant. Some Members suggested that it was 
important to look beyond how the Local Plan had been drafted and to look to the future, 
although it was accepted that the proposal was contrary to various policies within the 
Local Plan. 
 
A Member highlighted that that there had been no objections from statutory consultees or 
from local neighbours and that insufficient weight had been given to the positive benefits 
of the scheme. The Member requested that a slide from the South Lakeland District 
Council’s Climate Change Action Plan be displayed and went on to highlight SLDC’s 
commitment to Climate Change and the statistics outlined within the slide and stated that 
more weight had to be given to greenhouse effects. 
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead 
Specialist advised the Chairman that there had been a query from a Member 
regarding the chat facility. The meeting adjourned at 11.19 a.m. The meeting 
reconvened at 11.30 a.m. when all Members confirmed that they were able to see 
(where practicable) and hear all Members participating in the meeting. 
 
The Interim Development Management Team Leader drew Members’ attention to the 
South Lakeland Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework and 
stated that a decision would have to be made in accordance with the policies contained 
within the current Development Plan. He stated that the proposal was contrary to the 
Development Plan and planning law required decision makers to determine applications in 
line with the Plan, unless other material planning considerations weighed in favour of 
going against the Plan. Members were focusing on the green credentials of the application 
as material considerations and, whilst and he acknowledged that times were changing 
from reliance on internal combustion engine powered vehicles towards electric vehicles, 
we were not yet at that point. The question to consider was whether the provision of four 
electric vehicle charging points were of sufficient weight to justify a very substantial form 
of development in the open countryside in contravention of clear policies in the 
Development Plan. He stated that the creation of jobs was important which was why the 
Plan contained specific employment generation policies and allocations in appropriate 
locations. The Interim Development Management Team Leader reminded Members that it 
was important to be consistent in the decision making process. 
 
Members gave further consideration to the proposal, in particular the harmful impact of the 
development. Some Members felt that the harm outweighed the benefits and reiterated 
that the proposal was contrary to a number of policies. Other Members welcomed the 
application and the expansion of the site, the addition of four rapid electric vehicle 
charging points and the creation of jobs. They felt that times were changing and it was 
important to look to the future, particularly as the Local Plan was coming to an end.   
 

Page 32



35 
16.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 
the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 
without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item. 
 
The motion to approve the application was lost. 
 
A motion to refuse the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 
the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 
without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 
 
RESOLVED – that planning permission be refused for the following reasons:-  
 
(1) The proposed development is located in the open countryside, remote from the 
nearest settlement of Kendal and therefore would result in unsustainable development in 
this rural location. The proposal would therefore be contrary to the aims of Policies CS1.1, 
CS1.2, CS2, CS7.1, CS7.2 and CS7.4 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and Policies 
LA1.0 and LA1.1 of the South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan Document, 
and the sustainability aims of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

(2) The proposed development, due to its close proximity to the road, its elevated 
nature and the lack of intervening vegetation will result in a development that is highly 
visible in the rural landscape and would be harmful to the character of the area. The 
proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core 
Strategy and Policies DM1 and DM2 of the Councils Development Management Policies; 
and    

(3) The proposal to provide 25 metres net gain of hedgerow and new planting of trees 
in one part of the site does not provide sufficient bio-diversity gain proportionate to the 
significant size of the development. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy DM4.  

 

P/32 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0146 - LAND AT BOOTHS, OUBAS HILL, 
ULVERSTON  
 
S106 Agreement bin store location associated with Application SL/2019/0146 - Erection of 
freestanding single storey restaurant with associated drive-thru, car parking and 
landscaping and associated works, 2 customer order displays with associated canopies 
and play area. (McDonald’s Restaurants Ltd) 
 
Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation had been circulated to Members and 
displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before the meeting. 
 
Councillor Judy Filmore declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item by virtue of 
the fact she was pre-determined and she was disconnected from the virtual meeting 
for the item. 
 
Councillor David Webster declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item by virtue of 
the fact that he was the Ward Councillor for Ulverston East. He explained however, 
that he was not biased or predetermined and remained connected to the virtual 
meeting and took part in the discussion and voting on the item. 
 
The Interim Development Management Team Leader presented Planning Application 
SL/2019/0146. He explained that the Planning Committee had resolved to grant planning 
permission for the application in June 2019 and that the decision to grant permission was 
subject to the signing of a Section 106 Agreement which would deal with the provision and 
maintenance of three waste receptacles. The Planning Officer informed Members that 

Page 33



36 
16.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

negotiations for the proposed location, alongside the adjacent canal, had not been 
achievable and that the developer had proposed to locate the three receptacles within the 
car park of the neighbouring Booths store. The application had been brought back to 
Members for them to consider if the proposed alternative location was acceptable. 
 
The Interim Development Management Team Leader responded to questions raised by 
Members.  
 
Members expressed disappointment that negotiations to locate the bins at the canal side 
had been unsuccessful. Members agreed that it was an acceptable alternative location. 
 
A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 
the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 
without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 
 
RESOLVED – that the application be granted subject to:-  
 
the satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Planning Obligation in respect of the funding, 
siting and maintenance of litter bins in the locations indicated with ‘Litter’ icons on plan 
7134_AEW_8526_1406 or such other locations as agreed with the Council in writing and 
subject to the previously agreed conditions set out in the report to planning committee 
dated 27th June 2019. 
 
Note – at this point in the proceedings Councillor Judy Filmore was reconnected to 
the meeting and Councillor Filmore confirmed that she was able to see (where 
practicable) and hear all Members participating in the meeting. 
 

P/33 A REPORT ON MONTHLY ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY  
 
The Planning Enforcement Officer introduced the Monthly Enforcement Report which 
outlined the enforcement activity and fees generated from 1 May 2020 to 30 June 2020.  
 
The Enforcement Officer responded to questions raised by Members.  
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of Appendices 1 and 2 to the report be noted. 
 

P/34 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
The Chairman, prior to closing the meeting, expressed thanks to all who had participated 
and officers in their efforts for facilitating the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 12.30 p.m. 

Page 34



37 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a virtual meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Thursday, 30 July 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 
Eric Morrell (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Rupert Audland 
Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 
Philip Dixon 
Judy Filmore 

 

Gill Gardner 
John Holmes 
Vicky Hughes 
Anne Hutton 

Janette Jenkinson 
 

Malcolm Lamb 
Kevin Lancaster 
Susanne Long 
David Webster 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Helen Chaffey. 
 

Officers 
 

Una Bell Case Management Team Leader 

Linda Fisher Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Mike Hoar Planning Officer 

Mark Lynch Interim Development Management Team Leader 

Andrew Martin Principal Planning Officer 

Dan Hudson Strategy Lead Specialist 

 

P/35 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Chairman 
welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Planning 
Committee, in doing so, thanking all officers involved in the process for their work on the 
project. 
 
The Chairman referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct 
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members 
of the public, the procedures for the meeting.  He then invited Members of the Planning 
Committee to introduce themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or 
audio and to confirm that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members 
participating in the meeting.  All Members present, including the Chairman himself, having 
indicated that this was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would 
introduce themselves when asked to address the meeting. 
 

P/36 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were made. 
 

P/37 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the Agenda. 

Page 35



38 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

 

P/38 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s public 
participation scheme had been received in respect of the following items:- 
 
Minute No. P/39 (Planning Application No. SL/2019/0253); 
 
Minute No. P/40 (Planning Application No. SL2019/0261); and 
 
Minute No. P/41 (Planning Application No. SL/2020/0189). 
 
The Chairman advised that the participants would be dialled into the meeting to make 
their address at the appropriate time. 
 

P/39 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0253 - LAND ADJACENT TO FOXFIELD 
BUSINESS PARK  
 
Erection of two storey building for Duddon and Furness Mountain Rescue Team (Duddon 
and Furness Mountain Rescue Team)  
 
Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation displayed at the meeting had been 
circulated to Members and displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before 
the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2019/0253 which sought 
permission for the erection of a two storey building for Duddon and Furness Mountain 
Rescue Team (DFMRT). He explained that the application was considered to be a 
departure from adopted policy, as the proposed location was on land outside of the 
identified Business Park allocation and therefore located in open countryside. The 
Planning Officer advised Members that South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) had an 
interest in the application, as access and servicing arrangements were across land owned 
by SLDC. The Planning Officer displayed plans and photographs which outlined the 
proposals and he drew Members’ attention to the existing businesses within the Business 
Park and the proximity of the Business Park to the Duddon Estuary. Further slides were 
displayed which outlined the proposed site plan.  
 
The Planning Officer informed Members that the proposed building would be used as the 

permanent base for the voluntary search and rescue service. It would provide a garage, 

storage space, offices, a control room and training facilities in an accessible and 

sustainable location. He went on to highlight that the proposed site was located in Flood 

Zone 3 and was at high risk of tidal flooding, unlike the Business Park which was slightly 

elevated. The Planning Officer explained that the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted 

with the application had indicated that the development should be regarded as ‘less 

vulnerable’ use, as the storage facility was not required to be operational during tidal 

flooding. However, the Environment Agency (EA) had classed the development as ‘highly 

vulnerable’ and had sought further clarification on the operational status of the building 

and on the basis of the information provided, the EA had confirmed that the flood risk 

vulnerability could be revised to ‘less vulnerable’. 

The Planning Officer displayed further photographs and outlined the extent of the existing 

planting and explained that the proposed access point would involve the removal of a 

section of the existing screen planting, which could be mitigated by additional planting.  

Page 36



39 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

The Planning Officer went on to explain the principle of paragraph 12 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and stated that planning permission should be 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 

indicated otherwise. He stated that Core Strategy Policy CS1.1 required that 

developments should accord with a sequential approach of using: existing buildings and 

brownfield land within developments; and other suitable infill opportunities within 

settlements. Furthermore Core Strategy CS1.2 required that development was 

concentrated in Principal, Key and Local Service Centres with only a small proportion 

accepted in smaller hamlets. However, CS1.2 allowed exceptionally for new development 

in the open countryside if it was demonstrated that there was an essential requirement for 

a rural location. The Planning Officer informed Members that DFMRT had provided a 

detailed assessment and comprehensive justification of the selection process for the site, 

all of which were considered to carry weight and provided compelling justification. He 

highlighted that the DFMRT were a registered charity, run by volunteers and funded by 

donations from individuals and organisations and that they were not a profit making or 

speculative business. 

In concluding his presentation the Planning Officer summarised the details of the planning 

application. He explained that it was considered to be a departure from adopted policy, by 

virtue of being located on land outside of the identified Business Park allocation. However, 

the proposal could be supported as DFMRT provided an essential non-statutory 

specialised search and rescue service within the local area and that the proposed site was 

centrally located within the area covered by DFMRT and would facilitate access and 

response times. The design and layout was acceptable in the context of the surrounding 

Business Park development and the flood mitigation measures for the site were 

acceptable to the Environment Agency. The Planning Officer went on to highlight the 

importance of Policy DM1, in relation to Morecambe Bay and the Duddon Estuary, which 

required a development to ensure the protection and maintenance of designated wildlife 

sites and explained that Natural England had advised that any harm could be mitigated by 

a Construction Management Plan. In addition, in response to comments made by Natural 

England, the applicant had provided a Habitat Regulations Assessment under the terms of 

the European Habitats Directive. 

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mr Nigel Lister, the Chairman of Duddon and Furness Mountain Rescue, 

be dialled into the meeting to make his representation.  The Chairman welcomed Mr 

Lister and informed him that he had three minutes in which to make his address. 

Mr Lister addressed the Committee in support of the application. 

Members gave consideration to the application including the location, access, design and 

flood resilience. Members felt the location was excellent with good access roads and 

agreed that DFMRT provided an invaluable service and Members hoped the development 

would ensure DFMRT’s continued great work. 

A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – that  

(1) authority be delegated to the Director of Customer and Commercial Services to 

GRANT planning permission subject to no objection, adverse comment or direction being 

received from Natural England regarding the content of the Habitats Regulation 

Assessment and any further conditions provided by Natural England; and  

Page 37



40 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

(2) the following conditions:- 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 

expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

Reason To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004. 

Condition (2) The sole occupant of the building shall be the Duddon and Furness 

Mountain Rescue Team (and successors) with the permitted use of the building as being 

a Mountain Rescue Team Base/Headquarters. To define the terms of the planning 

permission and in recognition of the specific exceptional circumstances of the Duddon and 

Furness Mountain Rescue Team.  

Reason The proposed development is a departure from the adopted development 

plan and this condition acknowledges the special justification for permitting a departure in 

the particular circumstances, in the interests of safeguarding the development strategy 

contained in the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans:  

1:1250 scale – Location plan – Received 26/03/2019 

1:50/1:100 scale – Ground floor and elevations – Dwg No 541/01 – Received 26/03/2019 

1:50/1:100 scale – First floor and elevations – Dwg No 541/02 Received 26/03/2019 

1:50/1:100 scale – Site plan – Dwg No 541/03 Rev Rev D  -  Received 19/05/2020 

1:200 scale – Roof plan – Dwg No 541/04 Rev B - Received 19/05/2020 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 

Condition (4) a) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft 

landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  These details shall include:-  

• proposed finished levels or contours  

• means of enclosure  

• car parking layouts  

• other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas  

• hard surfacing materials  

• minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other 

storage units, signs, lighting, etc.)  

• communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, support and 

• retained landscape features such as trees together with details of how they will be 

protected during construction.  

Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications (including 

cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), 

Page 38



41 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers / densities and an 

implementation programme. 

The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable.  Any trees / 

shrubs which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five years 

of their planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar 

size and species to those originally required to be planted unless the Local Planning 

Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

Reason These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 

development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and secure high quality 

landscaping in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 and DM4 of the of the Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (5) No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan 

(CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The CMP shall include details of: 

a) No development shall take place, until a Construction Method Plan has been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall provide 

for:  

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  

ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  

iv. pollution prevention measures to include storage and use of materials, machinery, 

biosecurity, and the control and management of noise, fugitive dust, surface water run-off 

and waste to prevent any surface water drains and the SAC from sediment, and pollutants 

such as fuel and cement 

v. wheel washing facilities;  

vii. a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 

works; and  

viii. measures to control noise and vibration. 

b) The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 

construction period. 

Reason These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 

development to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and to protect the 

protected wildlife assets. 

Condition (6) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved details.  The works shall be carried out before any part of the development 

is occupied or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority prior to any development commencing.  Any trees / shrubs which are 

removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five years of their planting 

shall be replaced in the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar size and 

species to those originally required to be planted unless the Local Planning Authority 

gives written consent to any variation. 

Page 39



42 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason To safeguard and enhance the character of the area and secure high 

quality landscaping in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 and DM4 of the Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (7) No development shall commence until details of surface water 

management works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  

a) Such details shall include; 

1. Information about the lifetime of development, design storm period and inter 100 

year +30% allowance for climate change discharge rates and volumes, methods 

employed to control and delay surface water discharge and measures taken to 

prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving groundwater including and /or any 

watercourses. 

2. Any offsite improvement works to watercourses 

3. Flood exceedance routes  

4. Timetable for implementation; and 

5.  Details of water quality controls where appropriate. 

b) The development shall not be occupied until the approved surface water management 

works have been provided on the site to serve the development.  

c) The approved works shall be retained as such thereafter. 

Reason To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of surface 

water disposal in accordance with Policies DM1, DM6 and DM7 of the Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy CS8.8 of the South 

Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (8) The development hereby permitted shall be constructed entirely of 

materials details of which are shown on plans No. 541/01 & 541/02. 

Reason To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with 

Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and 

Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy... 

Condition (9) Prior to the first occupation of the development, the approved parking 

layout [and turning space] shall be constructed, marked out and made available for use 

and shall be retained as such thereafter.  The parking spaces shall be used solely for the 

benefit of the occupants and visitors of the development hereby approved and for no other 

purpose. 

Reason In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DM9 of the 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document 

Condition (10) A scheme showing the proposed lighting plan (including all external 

building lights and car park lighting) for the development shall be submitted to and agreed 

in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior to development commencing.  This shall 

show the location, number and type of units proposed, their orientation and brightness in 

lux and proposed hours of operation.The development shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved lighting scheme and retained as such thereafter. 

Page 40



43 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 

development to minimise the visual impact of light on nearby residential properties in 

accordance with To ensure adequate refuse provision is made for the customers of the 

business and to prevent harm to the character of the area resulting from littering in 

accordance with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan 

Document and The National Planning Policy Framework Chapter 2 - Achieving 

sustainable development, para 8 and  Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed places, para 

127. 

P & P Statement   

In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate balance of considerations, 
the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application proposal, taking into account all material considerations. Material 
considerations include planning policies and any representations that may have been 
received preceding the determination to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that its processes and 
practices are compatible with the Human Rights Act and the decisions of the European 
Court of Human Rights. 
 

P/40 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0261 - LAND AT KIRKBY LONSDALE RUFC  
 
Change of use of land to a camping site from 1 May to 1 September each year (Kirkby 

Lonsdale RUFC) 

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation had been circulated to Members and 

displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before the meeting. 

The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2019/0261 which sought 

permission to use two areas of the Rugby Club grounds for camping during the period 1 

May to 1 September each year. He displayed plans and photographs which outlined the 

proposals and reminded Members that some of them had visited the site in August 2019. 

He provided Members with an overview of the site and explained that vehicular access 

was gained via the B6254 and Raygarth and that there was a one-way system operated 

within the site itself. He went on to highlight the camping areas A and B, defined by a red 

line on the displayed plans, and their proximity within the RUFC site and explained that 

the boundary of the Yorkshire Dales National Park (YDNP) wrapped around the curtilage 

of the Rugby Club on all sides, with the exception of the southern boundary.  

The Planning Officer displayed further photographs, which had been submitted by local 

residents in 2019. The images showed significant activity on the site which had spilled 

onto the main rugby pitches. He highlighted that access was a key concern of local 

residents, particularly those who lived on Raygarth. He explained that the approach to the 

site through the village was considered to be too narrow and dangerous and that access 

via Raygarth was of considerable concern due to the level of activity and disturbance 

caused by the increased volume of traffic. In addition access via Fairbank was of concern 

due to much of Fairbank being narrowed to a one way road due to a continuous string of 

parked cars. The Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to the late representations 

which had been circulated prior to the meeting and highlighted an alternative approach to 

the site via the Hop House Lane route, which could be encouraged in the recommended 

travel plan. 

The Planning Officer went on to inform Members that the Rugby Club had provided 

correspondence on how it had exercised its current permitted development rights. In 

Page 41



44 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

addition the club had provided a plan which highlighted the specific areas of the site and 

the limits of its entire curtilage. He explained that the updated Condition 5, within the 

proposal, would place an overall limit of 126 pitches on the site as a whole at any one time 

within any part of the curtilage and if the Club used the areas located within the red line for 

the 126 pitches there would be no remaining capacity to use the remainder of the site 

under permitted development rights. However if it was used less intensively, the Club 

could apply their permitted development rights such as having tents on site but for no 

more than 28 days per year. 

In concluding his presentation, the Planning Officer informed Members that 

recommendation was to grant temporary permission for the 2021 season and that the 

principle of the development was consistent with policies within the Core Strategy and 

Development Management Development Plan Document (DMDPD) which were 

supportive of increasing the stock of tourist accommodation within the district. In addition 

the Local Highway Authority was happy to support the application with the Conditioned 

restriction of 126 pitches. 

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Ms Joelle Boyd be dialled into the meeting to make her representation.  

The Chairman welcomed Ms Boyd and informed her that she had five minutes in 

which to make her address. 

Ms Boyd a local resident addressed the Committee on behalf of herself and her mother 

and spoke in opposition to the application. 

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mrs Lesley Taylor be dialled into the meeting to make her 

representation.  The Chairman welcomed Mrs Taylor and informed her that she had 

three minutes in which to make her address. 

Mrs Taylor a local resident addressed the Committee in opposition to the application.  

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mr Mike Neal be dialled into the meeting to make his representation.  

The Chairman welcomed Mr Neal and informed him that he had three minutes in 

which to make his address. 

Mr Neal, President of Kirkby Lonsdale Rugby Club, addressed the Committee in support 

of the application. 

The Planning Officer responded to concerns raised by public participants.  

The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members.  

Members gave consideration to the application. Members felt that the application for 

temporary permission for the 2021 season was sensible in order to assess how the site 

was managed and the impact on residents. Members were reassured by the fact that the 

Town Council, Cumbria County Council Local Highway Authority and Yorkshire Dales 

National Park Authority had no further concerns. Members agreed that the main issue for 

residents was the access to the site and a Member suggested that the Rugby Club 

replace the cattle grid with a concrete pad, as it was considered that this would help 

reduce the traffic noise. The Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist provided 

clarification relating to the case law referenced by Ms Joelle Boyd. 

Page 42



45 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – that the application be granted subject to the following conditions:- 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 

Drawing 200 Revision PL - Proposed Location Plan: Seasonal Camping 

Zones  

Drawing 201 Revision PL - Proposed Site Plan: Seasonal Camping Zones 

Drawing 202 Revision PL - Proposed Context Plan: Seasonal Camping 

Zones 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (2) This permission is granted for and shall endure for a temporary period of 12 

months and for the avoidance of doubt shall expire on 1st September 2021.  

Reason To assess the efficacy of measures to reduce impacts on residential 

amenity to an acceptable level.  

Condition (3) The use hereby permitted shall not commence until a travel plan governing 

its operation has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

authority. The travel plan shall include demonstrable measures to minimise traffic 

movements associated with the permitted use and, in anticipation of a future application to 

extend the use beyond 2021, shall commit to a traffic survey, including the preparation of 

an accurate baseline against which to judge the impact of any increase and/or change in 

character of traffic movements. Thereafter, the use shall be operated in accordance with 

the approved travel plan. 

Reason To assess, specifically, the efficacy of measures to reduce traffic impacts 

on residential amenity to an acceptable level. 

Condition (4) The camping use hereby permitted, defined in this case as use by 

caravans, motorised campervans and tents, shall be limited to “Camping Area A” and 

“Camping Area B” defined on the approved drawings.   

Reason To ensure that the visual impact of the development is appropriately 

mitigated and to ensure that caravans and tents do not compromise the use of existing 

playing fields.  

Condition (5) Notwithstanding the provisions of Parts 4 and 5 of the Schedule 2 of The 

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 

amended, or as may be subsequently be amended or re-enacted) no more than 46 

caravans and campervans and no more than 80 tents shall be pitched at any one time 

within any part of the curtilage of the Kirkby Lonsdale Rugby Club as defined within the 

blue line on drawing number 203 Revision PL (Proposed Location Plan Temporary 

Camping Zones) in any calendar year between 01 May and 01 September for the duration 

of this planning permission as defined by condition 2 herein. 

Reason To ensure that the impact upon: (1) the local highway network; and (2) 

residential amenity is limited to an acceptable level.  

P & P Statement 

Page 43



46 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate balance of considerations, 

the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application proposal, taking into account all material considerations. Material 

considerations include planning policies and any representations that may have been 

received preceding the determination to grant planning permission in accordance with the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the National Planning 

Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that its processes and 

practices are compatible with the Human Rights Act and the decisions of the European 

Court of Human Rights. 

Note – The Committee voted to adjourn for a break at 11.37 a.m. and reconvened at 

11.45 a.m. when a roll call was taken, all Members, with the exception of Councillor 

Hughes, confirming that they were present, that they were able to see (where 

practicable) and hear all Members participating in the meeting. 

 

P/41 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2020/0189 - LAND PART OF FLAIL STONES, 
CHURCH ROAD, LITTLE URSWICK  
 
Erection of a detached dwelling and detached timber garage and formation of a new 

access driveway (resubmission of SL/2019/0801) (Mr & Mrs Leonard) 

Note – The Planning Officer’s presentation had been circulated to Members and 

displayed on the Council’s Website on the day before the meeting. 

The Planning Officer presented Planning Application SL/2020/0189 which sought 

permission for the development of a single four bedroom self-build family house within the 

extensive garden of an existing bungalow, Flailstones. He displayed plans a photographs 

which outlined the proposals and advised Members that the site was within the 

development boundary and was of acceptable scale and design. The Planning Officer 

drew Members’ attention to the development’s proximity to a Grade II listed house, The 

Gynring, which was located on the opposite side of the road junction. He went on to 

outline details of the site and explained that it was a small levelled area of garden within 

Flailstones. He informed Members that within the site there was an area of outcropping 

limestone pavement and confirmed that it was not protected under a Limestone Pavement 

Order. The Planning Officer went on to outline the revised access driveway, which would 

involve the reduction of the height of a section of the frontage wall and which would 

provide improved visibility for the proposed development and Flailstones and an improved 

view for vehicles approaching from the south. In addition he highlighted that the applicant 

had, in a previously withdrawn planning application, proposed the installation of foul water 

treatment plant. However, the block plans submitted by the applicant showed a 

connection from the development into the public sewer.  

The Planning Officer displayed further plans which outlined the floor plan of the 

development and a visualisation produced by the applicant’s agent. 

In summarising his assessment of the application, the Planning Officer advised Members 

that the proposal was in accordance with the Local Plan Land Allocations DPD Policy 

LA1.1 and other relevant policies contained within the South Lakeland Core Strategy and 

the Local Plan Development Management Policies DPD. He stated that the proposed 

house was located within the settlement boundary and was of an acceptable scale, size 

and design in the context of its surroundings and it would have a minor impact on the 

setting of the Grade II listed property, The Gynring. The Planning Officer concluded his 

presentation by confirming that further details had been requested by the Lead Local 

Page 44



47 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Flood Authority regarding the surface water drainage, in relation to the footprint of the 

house and roof water, and explained that it was considered that the matter could be dealt 

with via a condition. 

Note – at this point in the proceedings the Chairman requested that the public 

participant, Mr Richard Aljarrah, be dialled into the meeting to make his 

representation.  The Chairman welcomed Mr Aljarrah and informed him that he had 

three minutes in which to make his address. 

Mr Aljarrah, on behalf of the applicants, addressed the Committee in support of the 

application.  

The Planning Officer responded to questions raised by Members. In response to a 

question regarding the application having been Called In, Members sought clarity on the 

Call In procedure and the Chairman confirmed that there would be a review of the Call In 

process and the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist agreed that, for the 

purpose of the Committee, it would be useful for the Planning Officer’s report to indicate 

by whom and why the application had been Called In. 

Members gave consideration to the application and agreed it was a well thought out 

development which was perfectly reasonable. 

A motion to approve the application was proposed and seconded and a vote was taken on 

the motion, during which all Planning Committee Members confirmed that they had, 

without interruption heard the full presentation and discussion on the item and it was 

RESOLVED – that the application be granted subject to the following conditions:- 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 

expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

Reason To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004. 

Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans:  

1:1250 – Location plan – Dwg No 19028-17 – Received 04/03/2020 

1:500 – Block plan – Dwg No 19028-16 Rev E  – Received 04/03/2020 

1:200 – Visibility splay – Dwg No 20144_SCH_01 – Received 09/07/2020 

1:100 – Ground floor  plan – Dwg No 19028-10 Rev C – Received 23/03/2020 

1:100 – First floor plan – Dwg No 19028-11 – Received 04/03/2020 

1:100 – Elevation plan – Dwg No 19028-14 Rev A – Received 04/03/2020 

1:100 – Topographical sections – Dwg No 19028-19 Rev A – Received 04/03/2020 

1:1250 – Topographical street view – Dwg No 19028-18 – Received 04/03/2020 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (3) 

a) No site clearance, preparatory work or development shall take place until a 

scheme for the protection of the retained trees (the tree protection plan) and the 

Page 45



48 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

appropriate working methods (the arboricultural method statement) in accordance with 

Clause 7 of British Standard BS5837 - Trees in Relation to Construction - 

Recommendations has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.   

b) The tree protection measures shall be carried out as described and approved, and 

shall be maintained until the development is completed. 

Reason:         These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 

development to ensure the protection and retention of important landscape features in 

accordance with Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan 

Document and Policy CS8.1 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (4) 

a) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape 

works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

following the principles as shown on Dwg No 19028-10 Rev C  - Received 

23/03/2020.These details shall include:-  

• proposed finished levels or contours  

• means of enclosure  

• car parking layouts  

• other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas  

• hard surfacing materials  

• retained landscape features such as trees together with details of how they 

will be protected during construction.  

Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications (including 

cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), 

schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers / densities and an 

implementation programme. 

The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed timetable.  Any trees / 

shrubs which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five years 

of their planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar 

size and species to those originally required to be planted unless the Local Planning 

Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

Reason:         To safeguard and enhance the character of the area and secure high 

quality landscaping in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 and DM4 of the Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document 

Condition (5) No development, other than works to implement the access, shall begin 

until the access and associated alterations have been implemented in accordance with 

the Visibility Splay drawing number 20144_SCH_01 Rev B- Received 10/07/2020. 

Reason:         To ensure safe provision of the access for construction traffic and 

subsequent residential traffic in accordance with Policy DM1 of the Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy CS10.2 of the South 

Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Page 46



49 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Condition (6) Prior to the first occupation of the development, the approved parking 

layout and turning space shall be constructed, marked out and made available for use and 

shall be retained as such thereafter.  The parking spaces shall be used solely for the 

benefit of the occupants and visitors of the development hereby approved and for no other 

purpose. 

Reason In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DM9 of the 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (7)  

a) No superstructure shall be erected until samples and details of the materials to be 

used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby approved 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

b) Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details of 

materials unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:         To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with 

Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and 

Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (8) 

a) A sample panel of the natural stone to be used for the external surfaces of the 

development hereby approved shall be erected at the application site and no 

superstructure shall be erected until written approval for the materials has been given by 

the Local Planning Authority.  The sample panel shall be of sufficient size to indicate the 

method of jointing and coursing to be used. 

b) Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details of 

materials unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:         To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with 

Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and 

Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (9) 

a) The development shall not be occupied until details of surface water management 

works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

b) The development shall not be occupied until the approved surface water 

management works have been provided on the site to serve the development.  

c) Before any dwelling is occupied / the building is first brought into use, a validation 

report (that demonstrates that the drainage scheme has been carried out in accordance 

with the approved plan) must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

d) The approved works shall be retained as such thereafter. 

Reason:         To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of surface 

water disposal in accordance with Policies DM1, DM6 and DM7 of the Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy CS8.8 of the South 

Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (10) The sole means of foul water disposal shall be via the public foul sewer. 

Page 47



50 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason:         To prevent pollution of watercourses and to ensure adequate provision is 

made for the management of surface water in accordance with Policies DM1, DM6 and 

DM7 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Policy 

CS8.8 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

Condition (11) No development shall commence until a scheme demonstrating an 

environmental net gain in biodiversity associated with the proposed development, 

including management proposals for the lifetime of the development, has been submitted 

to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme must be prepared 

in the context of the relevant advice in the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance. The 

use hereby approved shall not commence until the scheme has been implemented. 

Thereafter, the site shall be maintained in accordance with the approved management 

proposals. 

Reason:  To meet the requirements of: (1) Policy DM4 of the of the South Lakeland 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document; (2) paragraph 170 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework.; and (3) section 40 of the Natural Environment 

and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

P & P Statement 

In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate balance of considerations, 

the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application proposal, taking into account all material considerations. Material 

considerations include planning policies and any representations that may have been 

received preceding the determination to grant planning permission in accordance with the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the National Planning 

Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that its processes and 

practices are compatible with the Human Rights Act and the decisions of the European 

Court of Human Rights. 

P/42 BUSINESS AND PLANNING BILL 2020  
 
The Strategy Lead Specialist presented the Business and Planning Bill 2020 report, which 
provided Members with an awareness of the changes to the planning system proposed in 
the Business and Planning Act 2020.  
 
The Strategy Lead Specialist informed Members that the Business and Planning Act 2020 
had received Royal Assent on 22 July 2020 and it was part of the Government’s response 
to the COVID emergency. He went on to outline the three main areas of change to the 
planning system which were as follows: 
 
(1) A right for applicants to apply for the temporary variation of conditions restricting 
the hours during which construction work can take place;  
 
(2) Measures to extend the life of planning permissions which are about to expire or 
have recently expired; and  
 
(3) Measures to give greater flexibility to the Secretary of State and Planning 
Inspectors to decide whether appeals should be determined by public inquiry, informal 
hearing or written representations. 
 
The Strategy Lead Specialist outlined the changes in further detail and responded to 
questions raised by Members. 
 

Page 48



51 
30.07.2020 Planning Committee 
 

 

RESOLVED – That  
 
(1)  the report be noted; and 
 
(2) in light of the Council decision on 28 July 2020 the determination of applications 
under Sections 16,17 and 18 of the Business and Planning Act be delegated to the 
Director of Customer and Commercial Services. 
 

P/43 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
The Chairman, prior to closing the meeting, took the opportunity to express thanks to 
Councillor Eric Morrell, who was leaving the Council on 31 July 2020 and who, as Vice-
Chairman of the Planning Committee, had been a mentor to him and provided him with 
help, support and above all friendship, during his time with the Council. 
 
Councillor Morrell responded by thanking Councillor McSweeney for his kind words and 
expressed thanks to all the members of the Planning Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 12.50 p.m. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



PARISH: Kendal 

Land at High Sparrowmire, KENDAL, LA9 5PD 

PROPOSAL: Hybrid application for the erection of 24 affordable dwellings 
(Full Planning Application) and 1 dwelling (Outline) (amended 
Scheme) 

APPLICANT: South Lakes Housing 

 

Grid Ref: E: 350733               N: 494500 

 

Committee date: 24 September 2020 

Case Officer: Andrew Martin 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 51

Item No.7



Page 52



 

SUMMARY 

1. The application is a hybrid proposal, part full and part outline, for 25 dwellings 
on a site north of High Sparrowmire in Kendal. The full element of the 
application proposes 24 units which are to be all affordable. The outline 
element is for a single dwelling, proposed as self-build unit.  

2. The site is allocated for housing development by policy LA1.3 of the Land 
Allocations Development Plan Document. The principle of development is 
therefore established, albeit that a number of key issues remain to be 
resolved by this application.  

3. Local residents remain concerned about a number of issues. In particular, 
there are acknowledged problems with the Hallgarth Estate public sewer 
system and residents fear that any additional surface water entering that 
system, either directly or indirectly, will exacerbate existing flooding 
problems. Other concerns include foul sewage capacity and potential issues 
associated with the restricted nature of the approach roads. 

4. A wide range of consultations have been undertaken and there are no 
outstanding technical objections from statutory consultees, subject to the 
imposition of conditions.  

RECOMMENDATION 

5. Delegate authority to the Director (Customer and Commercial Services) to 
grant planning permission subject to: (a) a section 106 agreement; and (b) 
conditions. 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 

Site description 

6. The application site is an undeveloped field of 0.74 hectares situated to the 
north of, but abutting, the Hallgarth Estate. It is within the identified 
development boundary of the town, having been allocated for housing 
development by policy LA1.3 (Housing Allocations) of the Land Allocations 
DPD. The site is currently owned by South Lakeland District Council. 

Proposal 

7. The application is a hybrid proposal: part full and part outline. A significant 
amendment was made in May 2019 reducing the overall number of 
dwellings to 25. The proposal now comprises a full application for 24 
dwellings and an outline application for one dwelling. Further amendments 
were made in February 2020 to (a) update the surface water drainage 
proposals; (b) update the site levels to comply with Part M4(2) of the 
Building Regulations; (c) incorporate measures to protect the tree in the 
garden of 14 Moore Field Close; and (d) provide detailed landscaping 
proposals.  The landscaping proposals were further updated in August 
2020.  

8. Vehicular and pedestrian access for all 25 dwellings will be provided via a 
new estate road extending from an existing spur at the head of Moore Field 

Page 53



Close. This will take the form of a cul-de-sac extending to the plot for the 
outline dwelling adjoining the western boundary of the site. 

The full application 

9. The 24 dwellings subject of the full application are all proposed to be 
affordable units. They will be positioned either side of the new estate road, 
with the majority served directly from it. However, units 2, 3, 4 and 5 are 
shown accessed from a shared drive. The scheme proposes a mix of 
detached and semi-detached units houses, together with four flats – as 
detailed below: 

Unit Nos. Configuration Size Storeys 

1 & 2 Semi-Detached 
Bungalows (1 
pair) 

2 Bedroom / 4 Person 1 

3 – 10* Semi-Detached 
Houses (4 pairs)  

3 Bedroom / 5 Person 2 

11 &12 Flats (2)  Ground Floor – 1 Bedroom / 2 Person 

First Floor – 2 Bedroom / 3 Person 

2 

13 - 16 Semi-Detached 
Houses (2 pairs) 

2 Bedroom / 4 Person 

 

2 

17 – 20  Flats (4) Ground Floor – 1 Bedroom / 2 Person 
(2) 

First Floor – 2 Bedroom / 3 Person 
(2) 

2 

21 & 22  Semi-Detached 
Bungalows (1 
pair) 

2 Bedroom / 4 Person 1 

23 & 24* Semi-Detached 
Houses 

3 Bedroom / 5 Person 2 

* Units 10 and 23 are described as “corner turners”, reconfigured to present their front elevations on the long 
axis of the building.  

10. The applicant’s Affordable Housing Statement confirms that ten of the 24 units 
will be social rent1 and the remainder will be shared ownership. We have 
also been told that the social rent model (which will include the statutory 
Right to Acquire) will calculate rents using the formula and data set out in 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s Guidance on 
Rent for Social Housing. The shared ownership model allows the 
leaseholder to purchase anywhere between 25% and 75% at first purchase, 
with the ability to later staircase to 100%. Rent on a shared ownership 
property is set at 2% of the retained share.  The Shared Ownership lease is 
structured using the Homes England Model Lease for Registered Providers. 
  

11. All of the houses are proposed to be finished in off-white render under a 
concrete tile roof. Doors and windows are proposed to be constructed of 
uPVC.  

� ����� �� 	� 
� ��� ��� �� �
� 	�� 	� ��� 		

Page 54



The outline application  

12. At the western end of the site is a single self-build unit proposed in outline, 
with (according to the application form) all matters relating to: (1) access; (2) 
layout; (3) scale; (4) appearance; and (5) landscaping reserved for further 
approval, albeit that access and layout would be largely determined by the 
full component of the application. The Design and Access Statement also 
refers to this being a four-bedroom unit. The building’s footprint appears 
illustratively on all of the layout drawings. This units is not proposed as 
affordable housing. 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT 

13. There is no relevant planning history. 

CONSULTATIONS 

14. The application has been publicised on four separate occasions: (1) 11 
October 2018 when the application was first submitted; (2) 22 January 2019 
when the application boundary was extended to make a connection with 
Moore Field Close; (3) 31 May 2019 when the site layout was amended and 
the number of units reduced from 26 to 25; and (4) 25 February 2020 in 
association with: (a) amendments to the surface water drainage proposals; 
(b) amendments to  the site levels; (c) incorporation of measures to protect 
the tree in the garden of 14 Moore Field Close; and (d) updates to the 
landscaping proposals. On each occasion publication involved a press 
advert, site notices and direct notification of neighbours.  

Kendal Town Council 

15. Comments as follows: 

02 March 2020 

“No Objections in [principle] 

“The Committee does not disagree in principle to the erection of 
affordable housing on this site.  Cllr. J. Owen had asked the Chair to 
obtain confirmation that the direction of water is changed away from 
the properties towards the railway embankment that belongs to 
Network Rail.  Cllr C. Rowley welcomed the changes taking water 
away from the estate.  The Committee gives a cautious welcome to the 
strategic change but information is still required from Network Rail and 
the ongoing condition of the culvert.” 

04 February 2019 

“Objections 

“The Committee understand, in good faith, that notice has been served 
for the relevant small parcel of land and have no objections to this, 
assuming that there are no hidden changes to the plan. However, the 
Committee wishes to take this opportunity to reiterate the original 
reasons for making strong objections to the original application. In 
addition, the Committee will expect to be made aware of any future 
applications for changes or enlargements of those development in due 
course.” 

Page 55



19 November 2018 

“Objections 

 “Members noted that this was the second time this proposal had been 
discussed at Planning Committee and include comments relating to 
objections and for reference, previous comments made during 
Planning Committee 05/11/18. 

“Councilors noted that while United Utilities had made changes to 
drainage plans members did not feel these addressed key issues and 
expressed strong concern that with the existing Hallgarth system at 
capacity, the addition of foul water drainage into existing drains, risks 
causing a log jam of water with problems higher up the estate. 
Members note concern that existing flooding issues on Hallgarth have 
not been addressed by United Utilities and that these should be 
resolved before additional capacity be expected of the drainage 
system. The Committee would welcome a representative of United 
Utilities to discuss these concerns or at least these to be specifically 
addressed, 

“Due to concerns relating to the robustness of drainage plans, the 
Committee request confirmation from the lead local flood authority as 
to the viability of United Utilities[‘] figures.”      

Cumbria County Council 

Local highway authority and lead local flood authority  

16. Comments a s follows:  

18 March 2020 

“A major revision has been provided since our previous comments.  

“No surface water runoff from this development is now proposed to 
discharge into any sewer. Instead any surface water runoff is now 
proposed to follow the topography northwards, staying within its natural 
catchment just as any flow from the existing green field does now.  

“This revision means that there is now no requirement for any 
compensatory storage scheme because there is no impact on the 
sewer at Low Garth.  

“The sustainable drainage principles of this proposal are broadly the 
same as prior to the revision but there are improvements in that the 
controlled maximum discharge from the site has been reduced from 
3.5l/s to 2.5l/s (which is below the greenfield rate) and the outlets for 
this drainage is by a partial infiltration trench which provides further 
benefits for water quality and a potential further reduction in discharge 
rates. As such the drainage design is commendable and is a good 
example of a developer taking an opportunity to reduce flood risk 
elsewhere.  

“There is a revision to the highways layout at the entrance to the site 
where a short length of footway has been removed to accommodate a 
third party tree. This is not ideal but the location is on the approach to a 

Page 56



slow corner and footways are not always required on both sides for a 
secondary street. A road safety audit will look at this issue during the 
adoption and if necessary a minor revision would be made.  

“If the proposal is approved then we recommend the [imposition of four 
conditions].” 

Comments received 07 June 2019 (but still dated 18 January 2019)  

“A self build plot has been removed from the proposed layout. This 
reduces the transport impact and impermeable footprint of this 
proposal so we have no objection to this revision.  

“In our previous comments we noted that the proposal is to discharge 
surface water runoff into the sewer which passes through Moore Field 
Close and Low Garth at a greenfield rate of 3.5l/s and that the 
developer has undertaken to deliver works outside of the development 
site that will remove more than 3.5l/s from the same sewer. Technical 
information relating to this has been supplied (which is also detailed in 
the related planning application SL/2018/0806 for a compensatory 
scheme where we have recommended that proposal be approved).  

“If the compensatory scheme at High Sparrowmire/Low Garth can be 
secured as a planning commitment then proposal provides significant 
benefit in reducing flood risk locally and the proposal should be highly 
commended.  

“If the compensatory scheme at High Sparrowmire/Low Garth cannot 
be secured as a planning commitment then the drainage destination is 
likely to increase flood risk elsewhere so the proposal should be 
refused.” 

18 January 2019 

“Local Highway Authority comments –  

“As you are aware, this site is allocated for development in the local 
plan. We therefore have no objection to this application in principle.  

“This development relies on access from Moore Field Close which has 
a sharp bend with a tighter radius than recommended in our design 
guide. This element was however in situ when this site was considered 
for allocation in the local plan and has therefore already been 
considered safe by SLDC. We therefore accept this element.  

“Lead Local Flood Authority comments -  

“The proposed drainage destination for roof water is the surface water 
sewer in Moore Field Close. This is to be attenuated to a greenfield 
rate of 3.5l/s, but this is a greenfield rate that would not pass into the 
Moorefield Close catchment in the pre development situation (existing 
runoff from this site goes towards Burneside). This means that even 
this greenfield rate is an extra burden on this sewer and United Utilities 
have now confirmed that currently this sewer floods at Low Garth due 
to a lack of capacity in this area.  

Page 57



“However, the developer has undertaken to deliver works outside of the 
development site that will remove more than 3.5l/s from the same 
sewer. We are in discussions between the developer, the landowner, 
and United Utilities, and we can confirm that a proposed recontouring 
of public open space at the junction of High Sparrowmire/Low Garth is 
deliverable both technically and in terms of the agreement of the 
parties involved, and would reduce flows into the sewer by an amount 
in the order of 12l/s thereby providing net benefit for the residents of 
Low Garth. This should be secured as a planning commitment.  

“The drainage design within the site is commendable using infiltration 
and sustainable drainage to reduce runoff to greenfield rates. The area 
of surface water flooding is retained so as to continue to provide benefit 
for its downstream catchment. Attenuation is provided for seven sub-
catchments rather than combining them into one which provides 
redundancy in the design. The design is acceptable pending further 
detail to ensure that there is actually the storage stated where the site 
is sloping and a revision of the Operation and Maintenance Plan to 
include inspection inside the geocellular tanks and removal of any silt 
every 5 years.  

“A Construction Traffic Management Plan and a Construction Surface 
Water Management Plan will be required to manage construction 
impacts if this proposal is subsequently revised and approved.  

“Conclusion  

“If the compensatory scheme at High Sparrowmire/Low Garth cannot 
be secured as a planning commitment then the drainage destination is 
likely to increase flood risk elsewhere so the proposal should be 
refused.  

“If the compensatory scheme at High Sparrowmire/Low Garth can be 
secured as a planning commitment then proposal provides significant 
benefit in reducing flood risk locally and the proposal should be highly 
commended.” 

17. If the application is approved then then the County Council has recommended 
a number of conditions.  

Minerals planning authority 

18. Comments as follows: 

“The application site appears to fall outside of (although is adjacent to) 
the Mineral Safeguarding Area for Sand and Gravel and Sandstone. It 
is anticipated that additional sand and gravel resources will be required 
before the end of the Plan period (2030), especially in the south and 
west of the County.” 

“[However] Cumbria County Council as mineral planning authority does 
not object to this application.” 

 Network Rail 

19. Comments as follows:  

Page 58



16 March 2020 

“The proposal is now acceptable to Network Rail and we have no 
further town planning comments to make.” 

United Utilities 

20. Comments as follows:  

10 April 2019 

“United Utilities have no objection to the drainage proposals relating to 
the development at High Sparrowmire Kendal, planning reference 
SL/2018/0806. Surface water from the development to be discharged 
at a rate no greater than 3.5//s to the public surface water sewer.” 

11 December 2018 

“Following recent discussions with the both the LLFA & the applicant 
and further investigation into the proposals, United Utilities wish to 
withdraw our most recent response to the above detailed planning 
application dated 13th November 2018. 

“We now consider our initial response, dated 25th October 2018 […] to 
be the most appropriate and would be grateful if you could consider the 
comments made in this letter, along with our requested drainage 
condition, in any determination” 

13 November 2018 

“Following our technical review, it shows that surface water from this 
development discharging into the existing surface water system will 
increase flood risk at the downstream of the network system.  

“Therefore, our response has been revised and is shown below: 

“Drainage conditions 

“In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should 
be rained on a separate system with the foul water draining to the 
public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. 
We request the following drainage conditions are attached to any 
subsequent approval to reflect this approach: 

Foul water 

Condition 1 

Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding 
and pollution.  

Surface water  

Condition 2 

Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water 
drainage scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the 
National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment 

Page 59



of the site conditions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the 
Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards and 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, no 
surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either 
directly or indirectly. 

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage 
and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is 
imposed in light of policies within the NPPF and NPPG.  

25 October 2018 

“Drainage conditions 

“Following our review of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy, ref: K34416/01/FRA/JJ Revision A, dated May 2018 
proposing surface water draining to the surface water sewer at a 
maximum pass forward flow of 3.5 l/s for any storm event, we can 
confirm the proposals are acceptable in principle to Unite Utilities and 
therefore should planning permission be granted we request the 
following condition is attached to any subsequent Decision Notice: 

The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried 
out in accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy, ref: : K34416/01/FRA/JJ Revision 
A, dated May 2018 proposing surface water draining to the surface 
water sewer at a maximum pass forward flow of 3.5 l/s for any storm 
event. For the avoidance of doubt and unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority, surface water should drain to the 
surface water sewer at the restricted rate of max 3.5 l/s for any storm 
event. The development shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent 
an undue increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of 
flooding.  

“Management and Maintenance of Sustainable Drainage Systems 

“We […] recommend the local planning authority include a condition in 
their decision Notice regarding a management and maintenance 
regime for any sustainable drainage system that is included as part of 
the development”  

Environment Agency 

21. No comments.  

Natural England 

22. No objection.  

Page 60



South Lakeland District Council 

Public protection 

23. Comments as follows: 

10 March 2020 

“ …no observations further to the recommended conditions in my 
memorandum dated the 12th June, 2019.” 

12 June 2029 

No objections subject to conditions in respect of: (1) noise levels in 
proposed dwellings; (2) construction operating hours; (3) a validation 
report in respect of land contamination; and (4) a Construction Method 
Statement.  

Street Scene 

24. Comments as follows: 

31 July 2019 

“Street Scene can confirm that the Swept Path Analysis provided for 
the High Sparrowmire, Kendal development SL/2018/0806 is 
acceptable for the collection of refuse and recycling by vehicles 
predominantly used around this area.” 

23 January 2019 

“… Street Scene requires the Developer to give due consideration to 
the way domestic waste and recycling will be safely collected after the 
development is completed. Please follow the guidelines below: 

1. Adequate space is allocated for refuse and recycling storage 
within the curtilage [of each] dwelling; 

2. Collection points checked with Street Scene at South Lakeland 
District Council (this is particularly important in cases where 
waste vehicle are unable to access unadopted roads and where 
residents will be required to take their waste to a suitable 
collection area); 

3. If collection points are to be used, bins and receptacles can be 
moved easily and without obstruction by the householder to the 
collection point and the crews easily [manoeuver] containers to 
the adopted highway; 

4. Residents will not be expected to move waste and recycling 
more than 30 metres and operatives more than 15 metres; 

5. Operatives will not be expected to negotiate steps with either 
sacks, containers or bins; 

6. Refuse and recycling vehicles can move easily throughout the 
development without obstruction being caused by narrow streets 
or vehicles parked on the road, once properties are occupied; 

7. Vehicles should not be expected to reverse more than 12 
metres; 

Page 61



8. If turning heads are required (and a swept path analysis is 
used), a vehicle with a wheelbase of 5.2 metres length and 
overall length of 11.6 metres is to be used for design purposes; 

9. Once properties are occupied. Moorefield Close is narrow with 
parked vehicle[s] on both sides of the roads. With the extra 
traffic and vehicles. This will make it hard for our 6 Wheeled 
base vehicles to gain access to properties. Also, yellow line[s] 
might need to be put on the access road into the development 
and in turning area.  

10. The road will need to be able to take the weight of [a] 30 tonne 
vehicle with a suitable surface to drive on. This is not sure on 
the plans and changes colour after the bend.  

Arboricultural Officer 

25. Comments as follows:  

26 February 2020 

“The applicants have submitted a revised Arboricultural Survey which 
provides methodology for the retention of the tree in the garden of 14 
[Moore] Field Close. If permission is approved please attach a planning 
condition requiring the development to be carried out in accordance 
with the submitted Arboricultural report dated 21 February 2020 by 
Treescapes Consultancy Ltd.” 

03 June 2019 

“Further to my earlier comments in relation to the site access and its 
potential impact upon a privately owned tree outside the red line 
boundary, I wish to comment upon the northern and western site 
boundary treatments.  The site boundary loosely follows what was a 
field hedgerow.  This is identifiable on site from the small hawthorn 
trees standing in the field and the level changes along the red line site 
boundary.  The site layout plan indicates an intention to plant shrubs 
along this boundary, but I feel this boundary would benefit from a new, 
mixed species native hedgerow, retaining the existing trees shown as 
Group 5 and the three hawthorn unlisted in the schedule of the Tree 
Survey report.  This new boundary should be retained under the 
management of South Lakes Housing. 

“Additional tree planting could be considered around the edges of flood 
zone 3 to assist in the uptake of moisture from this area.” 

18 October 2018 

“I have assessed the submitted tree report, which accurately 
represents the trees on the site.  The proposed removal of trees to 
enable the development is reasonable and providing suitable 
replacement tree planting is required by condition, the removals can be 
mitigated.   

“One of the trees proposed to be removed is located in the garden of a 
dwelling located outside the red line boundary.  Can the applicants 
provide details of how this tree will be removed to facilitate the 

Page 62



development, and what consents they have obtained from the tree 
owner?  If this tree cannot be removed (for example if the tree owner 
refuses to allow its removal), the applicant will need to supply 
additional information detailing how the tree will be protected during the 
development phase.” 

Affordable housing officer 

26. Comments as follows: 

31 March 2020 

“The 2017 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) identifies a 
need for 153 new affordable dwellings annually up to 2036 (3060 in 
total over the period 2016 to 2036) of which 67 dwellings are needed in 
the Kendal Housing Market area annually (1340 in total over the period 
2016 to 2036). In terms of affordable provision, Policy CS6.3 requires 
that 35% of the new homes should be affordable. The Housing 
Register shows that there were 1467 applicants with a housing need in 
Kendal as of Dec 2019. In terms of the proposed 24 affordable homes I 
can confirm that the tenure type and property type mix is appropriate to 
meet identified local needs. The revised plan reduced the no. of self-
build homes to 1no. four bed self-build, tenure not specified although 
the plan is for it to be an affordable home. There are no other details on 
how this will be determined. There are 10 active members on the Self-
Build register who have specified Kendal as their preferred area with 
two specifying 4 bed property as their preferred size. The council must 
have regard to the Self-Build register when carrying out its housing/ 
planning and land disposal functions. This single plot will go towards 
meeting the demand for Self-Build in this area and Choice Based 
letting data shows there are 164 households needing a 3bed + property 
in Kendal which indicates a high need for family homes in Kendal.” 

Comments as follows on the scheme as amended in May 2019: 

“This revised plan reduces the no. of self-build homes to 1no. four bed 
self-build, tenure not specified although the plan is for it to be an 
affordable home. There are no other details on how this will be 
determined. There are 8 active members on the Self-Build register who 
have specified Kendal as their preferred area with two specifying 4 bed 
property as their preferred size. The council must have regard to the 
Self-Build register when carrying out its housing/planning and land 
disposal functions. This single plot will go towards meeting the demand 
for Self-Build in this area. CBL data shows there are 149 households 
needing a 3 bed + property in Kendal.”  

CIL/S106 Officer 

27. Comments as follows: 

26 February 2020 

“Provided that the CIL Social Housing exemption claim is made in the 
correct way there will be no CIL income expected on this development. 

Social housing is exempt from CIL.”  

Page 63



Neighbours and third parties 

28. We have received 39 letters of representation. These comprise 33 letters 
explicitly marked as objections, two letters of support and four letters 
offering comments or observations.  

29. The objections raise the following issues:  

Principle 

• Proposal is at odds with the Kendal Strategy to 2025, as it appears in 
Core Strategy and Land Allocations DPD. 

• Alternative sites should be considered first.  

Surface water 

• Existing surface water system is inadequate and needs to be completely 
upgraded before any further development is allowed, as evidenced by 
recent flooding events. 

• Surface water ingress into foul system often forces sewage to be expelled 
onto roads. 

• No proposals to improve situation contained within this application.  

• Site provides natural flood protection for adjoining properties. Any 
removal of this protection will undoubtedly increase stress levels and 
condemn residents to a constant state of fear of being flooded 

• Hallgarth Flood Report 2013 (Report 68) – only one potential 
improvement listed has been carried out.  

• Report 68 refers to creating a designated area for surface water storage 
in the field behind High Sparrowmire. Why was this not taken forward? 

• Proposed houses would be at risk of flooding. Proposed surface water 
drainage system is not sustainable.  

• Whole site is a sponge, not just the so-called “amenity area”  

• Number of attenuation tanks bears testament to the unsuitability of this 
site. 

• Question the reliability of these attenuation tanks 

• Even attenuated flows will cause downstream problems in a system that 
is already overloaded.  

• Proposal contrary to Core Strategy policy CS8.8: Development and Flood 
Risk. 

• Table 2.2 of the Operation & Maintenance Plan for Surface Water 
Drainage Systems” refers to surfaces being treated with certain 
weedkillers containing glyphosphate which the World Health Organisation 
has labelled as “probably carcinogenic”. Do you really want cancer 
causing chemicals soaking into our land and communities?  

• If application approved, Operation & Maintenance Plan for surface water 
drainage infrastructure would need to be rigorously enforced.  

Page 64



Sewage 

• Existing sewerage infrastructure is inadequate. This is explicit in Core 
Strategy policy CS2 – Kendal Strategy. Application would be contrary to 
this policy if approved.  

• Development Brief for land West of High Sparrowmire was assessed 
under Habitat Regulations and the screening stage identified that any 
additional pressure on the sewerage system could have a harmful impact 
on River Kent. Same risk applies to this application and should be taken 
into account.  

• Lack of consideration of potential impacts on public health from exposure 
to sewerage or impact on water quality.  

Ground conditions 

• Alarmed by potential for structural damage referred to in Geo-
Environmental Site assessment and concerned by the manner in which 
this potential was dismissed in subsequent amendment to the 
assessment.  

• Is this site safe for building houses?  

Amenity 

• Avoiding the wettest parts of the site has pushed the houses towards the 
southern boundary of the site, unreasonably reducing amenity for existing 
residents.  

• How can “Amenity area” function as such given its role in dealing with 
surface water?   

• Increased use of Moore Field Close will reduce amenity for existing 
residents.  

• Noise and disturbance generally, but particularly during construction.  

Traffic 

• Access route from Windermere Road is tortuous and along roads that are 
extensively used for parking. Progress of buses often blocked by parked 
cars. Whole of Hallgarth Estate restricted to 20mph, allowing children to 
play safely. Additional vehicles will be a danger.  

• Ninety degree bend from Kettlewell Road into Moore Field Close is 
particularly dangerous.  

• Route into town via Sparrowmire Land and Burneside Road presents 
similar difficulties  

• Consider accessing the site through the allocation West of High 
Sparrowmire.  

• Concerned about Street Scene consultation response, which suggests 
that 6-wheel based vehicles might struggle to access the site and that 
yellow lines might be necessary. 

• No traffic management plan provided.  

Page 65



• Proposal will lead to damage to roads.  

• Contrary to objectives of  Core Strategy policy CS10.2: Transport impact 
of new development 

Railway 

• Potential risk of collapse of railway line embankment due to pooling of 
surface water 

Trees 

• Loss of trees will reduce amenity.  

• Loss of tree in garden to 14 Moore Field Close not consented.  

Landscape impact 

• Appearance of the area will be ruined. 

30. The single letter of support, whilst critical of the difficulty in interpreting the 
submitted material, is ultimately in favour of the development. However, it 
urges that pressure be applied to United Utilities to find a long-term 
permanent flooding in the area and also raises concerns about access, 
suggesting that the site should be served by an additional access road.  

31. The neutral letters raise the following issues: 

• The local planning authority is urged to give thorough consideration to the 
issues raised in local objections, particularly the concerns in respect of 
surface water drainage in the context of United Utilities’ wavering 
position.  

• The site represents an “ideal opportunity” to incorporate swift bricks under 
the eaves and on the gables of the proposed houses. 

• The site is an over-winter and nesting area for curlew and other birds, 
including oystercatchers and lapwings. 

POLICY ISSUES 

South Lakeland Core Strategy 

32. The following Core Strategy policies are considered relevant to the proposal: 

• CS1.1: Sustainable Development Principles 

• CS1.2: The Development Strategy 

• CS2: Kendal Strategy 

• CS6.1: Meeting the housing requirement 

• CS6.2: Dwelling mix and type 

• CS6.3: Provision of Affordable Housing 

• CS6.6: Making effective and efficient use of land and buildings 

• CS8.2:  Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and Settlement 
Character 

• CS8.3a: Accessing open space, sport and recreation 

Page 66



• CS8.7: Sustainable construction, energy efficiency and renewable 
energy 

• CS8.8: Development and flood risk 

• CS8.10: Design 

• CS10.2: Transport impact of new development 

South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan Document 

33. The following Land Allocations DPD policies are considered relevant to the 
proposal: 

• LA1.0:  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

• LA1.1:  Development boundaries 

• LA1.3: Housing Allocations 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document (DMDPD) 

34. The following DMDPD policies are considered relevant to the proposal: 

• DM1:  General Requirements for all development 

• DM2: Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

• DM4: Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 
Landscaping 

• DM6: Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems  

• DM7: Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality 

• DM9: Parking Provision, new and loss of car parks 

• DM11: Accessible and Adaptable Homes 

• DM12:  Self-Build and Custom Build Housing 

Other material considerations  

National Planning Policy Framework 

35. The following sections are considered relevant to this application.  

5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes  

8.  Promoting healthy and safe communities 

9.  Promoting sustainable transport 

11.  Making effective use of land 

12.  Achieving well-designed places  

14.  Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  

Cumbria Development Design Guide 

Hallgarth, Kendal, Flood Investigation Report No 68, Cumbria County Council  

Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 

South Lakeland Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2017) 

Page 67



Housing Land Annual Position Statement (March 2019) 

ASSESSMENT 

Principle of development 

36. Policy CS1.2 (The Development Strategy) of the Core Strategy (2010) 
identifies Kendal as a Principal Service Centre expected to accommodate 
approximately 35% of the District’s new housing and employment 
development.  

37. The application site lies within the development boundary of the town and is 
allocated for housing development by policy LA1.3 (Housing Allocations) of 
the Land Allocations DPD, with an indicative capacity of 24 dwellings.  
Therefore, the principle of development on this site is clearly established. 
The preamble to the policy in paragraph 3.17 of the Land Allocations DPD 
states: 

“This 0.77 ha site could accommodate a small housing development 
accessed from Moore Field Close subject to the resolution of local 
drainage, sewerage and biodiversity issues. The site adjoins the 
Oxenholme-Windermere railway and noise impacts may need to be 
mitigated. Robust landscaping to the north west will be necessary to 
achieve a satisfactory urban edge. Hedgerows and trees should be 
retained. There will be a need for existing footways on Moore Field 
Close to be extended to serve the site.”  

38. Summarising the DPD’s development strategy, paragraph 1.16 states: 

“ … it is the Council’s view that the sites selected offer the most 
appropriate available solution to the development needs of the District 
having considered Sustainability Appraisal, the wider strategy, vision 
and objectives set out in the Core Strategy (which has itself been 
subject to Sustainability Appraisal), and all the other evidence and 
information available to and gathered by the Council through site visits, 
consultation and evidence base studies.”  

Habitat creation, urban greening and climate change. 

39. Principle 9 in Policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design)of the 
DMDPD states: 

“New development should incorporate measures that support and 
enhance habitat creation and urban greening ensuring that provision 
reflects the local biodiversity evidence base and reduces the factors 
contributing to, and responds to the effects of climate change.”  

The policy cross refers to Appendix 1 in the DMDPD, which lists seven 
“measures that should be considered.” 

40. The applicants have submitted a Sustainability Statement2 explaining how the 
proposed development performs against these measures. These aspects of 
the scheme are discussed further under subsequent headings in this report.  

Affordable housing 

� �������������� ���������� ������  ������!� "�#$�� "�%& '(�)*+,)'�-� .�!��� /0/0

Page 68



41. Core Strategy Policy CS6.3 (Provision of affordable housing) states that: 

“On all schemes of nine or more dwellings in the Principal/Key Service 
Centres, and three or more dwellings outside of these areas, no less 
than 35% of the total number of dwellings proposed are affordable.” 

42. Figure 7.13 of the South Lakeland Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
2017 estimates the need for affordable housing in the Kendal sub-area to be 
67 units per annum. Table 34 of the Housing Land Annual Position 
Statement (March 2019), published in July 2019, records that for the three 
years to 2018/19 the recorded delivery of affordable housing for the entire 
District has been 50, 80 and 61 units respectively.  

43. It remains a strategic objective of the Core Strategy to continue “to work with 
partners to maximise the provision of publicly-funded affordable housing”. In 
this case the applicant is a registered provider of affordable housing and is 
proposing  that 96% of the units will be provided as such (24 of 25), thereby 
meeting the requirement of policy CS6.3 and making a significant 
contribution towards the Council’s strategic objective. The Council’s 
Affordable Housing Officers have confirmed that the proposed tenure mix is 
acceptable. They are particularly enthusiastic about the inclusion of social 
rented units.  

44. The applicants want their commitment to the provision of 24 affordable 
housing units on this site to be bound into a section 106 agreement. That is 
perfectly legitimate; the 35% figure quoted in policy CS6.3 is only a 
minimum. A section 106 agreement concluded on the basis proposed by the 
applicants means that full weight can be given to this enhanced level of 
affordable housing provision in the overall planning balance. The applicants 
accept that the wording of policy CS6.3 means that any successors in title, 
including mortgagees in possession, will be bound by the requirement that 
affordable housing remains so “in perpetuity”, except where statutory 
provisions dictate otherwise.  

Self-build unit 

45. One of the 25 houses contained in this application is being proposed as a 
self-build unit.  

46. Under section 1 of the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, local 
authorities are required to keep a register of those seeking to acquire 
serviced plots in the area for their own self-build and custom house building. 
They are also subject to duties under sections 2 and 2A of the Act to have 
regard to this and to give enough suitable development permissions to meet 
the identified demand. 

47. DMDPD Policy DM12 (Self-Build and Custom Build Housing) states that: 

“The Council will actively support proposals for the sustainable 
development of self-build and custom build homes.” 

48. It also makes clear that locations within Principal Service Centres, such as 
Kendal: 

Page 69



“…are considered appropriate in principle for self-build and custom 
build housing and will be considered positively in determining 
applications.” 

 

 

Character of the area 

49. Core Strategy policy CS1.1 (Sustainable Development Principles) expects 
”[…] high quality, localised and appropriate design [to be] incorporated into 
all developments to retain distinctive character/sense of place and enhance 
the existing built environment.” It is a further requirement of Core Strategy 
policy CS8.10 (Design) that “[t]he siting, design, scale and materials of all 
development should be of a character which maintains or enhances the 
quality of the landscape or townscape and, where appropriate, should be in 
keeping with local vernacular tradition.” 

50. The objective of these policies has been strengthened in the latest version of 
the NPPF which states at paragraph 124 (under the heading of “Achieving 
well-designed places”) that: 

“The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to 
what the planning and development process should achieve. Good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.”  

51. DMDPD policy DM1 (General Requirements for all development) states that 
new development should respond appropriately to the site’s locational 
context, local and settlement character and distinctiveness; and DMDPD 
Policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) expects new 
development to make “a positive contribution to the overall sense of place of 
the locality, informed by the uses and activities around the proposal, the 
historic context of the site, historic street patterns, plot boundaries, 
grain/massing, height and materials of nearby development and features.”   

52. In this case the proposal is designed around a cul-de-sac, predominantly 
fronted by a mix of detached and semi-detached units, which is typical of the 
area. The scheme also includes two pairs of semi-detached bungalows 
introduced to improve the relationship which existing properties, discussed 
further below, and three pairs of flats, introduced to provide a better mix of 
unit sizes. The submitted Streetscene drawing (ref. SS-01B) demonstrates 
that this range of units blends comfortably as a composition in its own right 
and as an extension of existing development in Moore Field Close.  

53. Significant amendments in May 2019 reduced the overall number of units 
from 26 to 25, providing more space for the remaining units on the southern 
boundary to be pulled away from existing properties. This also allowed 
some of the parking to be repositioned less obtrusively to the sides of the 
proposed units. There is still a significant amount of frontage parking, which 
is typical of the area, but it is now less dominant than it was.   

54. External materials are proposed to be off-white render under concrete tile 
roofs, with uPVC doors and windows. Again, this is typical of the area. A 

Page 70



condition is recommended requiring prior approval of a specification for: (1) 
the make of roof tile; and (2) the doors and windows. A range of coloured 
doors would pick up on a local characteristic.  

55. Among the “List of Measures that support and enhance habitat creation, 
urban greening and respond to the effects of climate change” identified in 
Appendix 1 to the DMDPD is a requirement for: 

“Orientating buildings where they can optimise energy efficiency, solar 
gain and maximise daylight levels.” 

56. This can be a difficult requirement to reconcile with other factors influencing 
local character, although in this case the configuration of the site means that 
all but four of the 24 affordable dwellings are orientated so that their front or 
rear elevations face within 90 degrees of south, meaning that they will 
receive good levels of sunlight and daylight. The remaining four affordable 
units, either side of the site entrance, have a north-east / south-west aspect. 
They will still receive good levels of daylight, or less direct sunlight into the 
properties themselves. Re-orientating these units to increase direct sunlight 
would create a layout that would jar with the established grain of 
development in the area (another important measure of sustainability) and 
could compromise the living conditions of existing and proposed properties.  

57. The plot for the proposed self-build unit is large enough to ensure that when 
we come to consider reserved matters there will be scope to ensure that 
energy efficiency, solar gain and maximising daylight levels can all be 
factored into the design process.  

58. Appendix 1 to the DMDPD also expects: 

“Maximum and practical use of sustainable and reused and recycled 
locally sourced building materials.” 

59. The preamble to the measures listed in the Appendix acknowledges that 
achieving some of the requirements will depend “on local circumstances and 
the nature of the proposal.” For example, recycling of materials is often 
easier to achieve on sites where there is some prior demolition of existing 
buildings, which is not the case here. Also, in this case, where the site is 
aiming for a disproportionately high percentage of affordable housing, the 
cost of materials will be a significant factor in delivering the scheme. Having 
said that, in their Sustainability Statement the applicants have confirmed 
that: 

 “South Lakes Housing have a commitment to use local suppliers and 
contractors in all their developments” 

And 

“Locally sourced materials are usually the most cost efficient materials 
and are likely to form a significant part of the materials used in the 
project. “ 

Flood risk 

60. The application site lies with Flood Zone 1, which is at the lowest risk of 
flooding by rivers or the sea. This was a significant factor in allocating the 

Page 71



site for development, ensuring consistency with Core Strategy policy CS8.8 
(Development and flood risk).  

61. Policy CS8.8 also acknowledges the risk of flooding from other sources, and 
in particular surface water. The policy states that all new development will 
only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that (amongst other things): it 
would not have a significant impact on the capacity of an area to store 
floodwater; measures required to manage any flood risk can be 
implemented; surface water is managed in a sustainable way; and provision 
is made for the long term maintenance and management of any flood 
protection and/or mitigation measures.  

62. This has been reinforced by DMDPD policy DM1 (General Requirements for 
all development) which expects all new development to be provided with the 
necessary infrastructure for dealing with surface water disposal. 

63. The stated purpose of DMDPD policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and 
Sustainable Drainage Systems) is “[t]o ensure existing and new 
development is not exposed to flood risk and to prioritise the promotion of 
Sustainable Drainage Systems.” To that end it states that: 

“Development proposals should include the use of appropriate 
sustainable drainage systems which are designed to control surface 
water run off close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage systems 
as closely as possible.” 

Furthermore, the policy states that: 

“Surface water should be managed at the source, with reduced transfer 
and discharge elsewhere.” 

64. And, consistent with the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance3, the 
policy expects surface run off to be discharged as high up the following 
hierarchy of drainage options as reasonably practicable: 

• into the ground (infiltration at source);  

• to a surface water body;  

• to a surface water sewer, or other suitable surface water drainage 
system;  

• to a combined sewer.  

65. It is an underlying principle in the various components of the District’s 
development plan and in relevant Government policy and guidance that 
development should not increase flood risk elsewhere.  

66. The drainage strategy in this case is set out in the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy4 (“the FRA”) prepared by R G Parkins, 
updated in February 2020, which has been informed by an associated 
analysis of site conditions in the Phase I and Phase II Geo-Environmental 
Site Assessments prepared by E3P.  

3 ��1�21�345 �� 678717�97 :;5 �<��<	��=�>	> 

? @���� 6A�B C��7��D7�� C�� ;1�A��27 E�1��72F� 173�1� 1785 G>HH�IJ��KJ@6CJLL� 67MA�A�� K� @7N1O�1F 	�	�� 6P

QP ��1BA�� R ��1��71� S��

Page 72



67. As is evident from the submitted topographical survey the site generally 
slopes down from south-east to north-west, with a noticeable localised 
depression in the north-west corner, spanning the site boundary with 
agricultural land to the north. The E3P assessments indicate surface 
deposits of gravelly clay over bedrock at depths of between 0.95m and 
3.75m below ground level. Ground testing has indicated relatively good 
permeability on the eastern, higher part of the site, but less favourable 
drainage conditions in the lower parts of the site – particularly around the 
depression referred to above. This is reflected on the GOV.UK surface 
water flood risk map, which identifies this depression as having a predicted 
chance of flooding of greater than 1 in 30 years (3.3% AEP). Exceedance 
flows from this depression follow a well-defined ditch, which also appears to 
be partly culverted, that runs north-east before discharging onto the 
adjoining railway embankment. This is illustrated in the site photographs 
contained within Appendix C to the R G Parkins report.  

68. R G Parkins has concluded that the site characteristics are unable to support 
a development entirely reliant on ground infiltration to deal with surface 
water. The underlying geology is unsuited to sustainable drainage 
techniques involving deep infiltration, such as soakaways, although it can 
support certain shallow infiltration systems. It has therefore devised a 
strategy that incorporates a combination of permeable block paving for 
adopted roads and private driveways, providing 100% shallow ground 
infiltration, and a system for the roof water from the dwellings to discharge 
off-site via a series of below ground geocellular attenuation tanks5  – all 
designed to deal with flows for events up to and including a 1% AEP (events 
with a 1 in 100 year probability) plus a 40% allowance for climate change. 
Water butts are also proposed for each property. Incorporating permeable 
block paving and providing water butts are two of the measures identified in 
Appendix 1 to the DMDPD for responding to the effects of climate change.  

69. Up until October of last year the intention had been to take the combined 
flows from the geocelluar tanks and discharge them at an attenuated rate of 
3.5 litres per second into the existing surface water sewer in Moore Field 
Close. However, because of documented problems with the existing system 
surcharging during certain storm events this solution would only have been 
acceptable to the lead local flood authority with compensatory attenuation 
measures elsewhere within the system. At the time, this was proposed to be 
achieved by the construction of a new detention basin on land to the west of 
High Sparrowmire and Kettlewell Road, designed to intercept a known 
overland exceedence flow from high ground to the west. However, the 
application for the detention basin was refused by the Planning Committee, 
immediately rendering the associated surface water drainage proposals for 
the current site unviable.  

70. The proposals have now been modified, and are set out in the updated FRA 
and Revision E of the Proposed Foul & Surface Water Drainage Pan. Five 
geocellular attenuation tanks are now proposed, each discharging at a 
maximum rate of 0.5 litres per second. Outflows are channelled via 

T U47 �7�8<NOA�� 3��� V9O117���F 31�3��7� A� �O��A�7W A� �4�X� XA�4 A�� 1��8 X��71 94���7��7� �� 21�O��

A�8A��1��A�� MA� � ����7 �22172��7 ���B�X�FP

Page 73



infiltration trenches towards the existing shallow valley that runs along the 
northern boundary of the site, from where water will follow the natural 
topography eastwards before discharging onto the adjoining railway 
embankment to the east. The number of attenuation tanks has been 
reduced from seven in the original proposal, although their combined 
capacity has been increased from approximately 85 cu. m. to just under 100 
cu. m. The combined discharge rate of 2.5 litres per second is now lower 
than the assumed pre-development greenfield rate of 3.5 litres per second 
used in these types of calculation. Exceedance flows, those associated with 
events with a return probability greater than 1 in 100 years, would be 
intercepted by: (1) the existing depression on the northern-western 
boundary; (2) a new bioretention basin on the eastern boundary; and (3) 
road gullies at the site entrance. Surface water intercepted in this way will 
then follow the same route as non-exceedence flows, towards the shallow 
valley on the northern boundary before discharging onto the adjoining 
railway embankment. The updated FRA states unequivocally in paragraph 
2.8 that: 

“In recognition of the historical and ongoing downstream surface water 
sewer flooding issues at Low Garth it is no longer proposed to 
discharge any surface water from the development site into the existing 
surface water sewer.” 

71. The applicant’s drainage engineers have discussed these revised proposals 
directly with Network Rail; this is documented in the updated FRA. And 
Network Rail has confirmed in its latest planning consultation response that 
the “proposal is now acceptable.” Kendal Town Council, which has objected 
to all previous iterations of the application, now raises no objection in 
principle to the application and gives a cautious welcome to the 
amendments. The lead local flood authority describes the updated design as 
commendable.  

Foul drainage 

72. In Section 3 of the Core Strategy, which deals with the Spatial Strategy for 
Kendal, paragraph 3.29 states: 

“Increases in housing and employment land will put pressure on the 
existing sewage network and wastewater treatment works in Kendal. 
The Environment Agency has highlighted two areas where there are 
sewer capacity issues: Kentrigg Walk and Steeles Row, Burneside. In 
addition it has concerns about the capacity of the Waste Water 
Treatment Works, located to the south of Kendal. A lack of sewage 
capacity at these locations may increase the incidence of sewage 
discharge to the River Kent and have an adverse effect on the specifics 
for which the river is designated a SAC. Measures are needed to 
avoid/mitigate these adverse effects and protect the health and 
wellbeing of local people.” 

73. Policy CS2 (Kendal Strategy) gives effect to this, stating that “Kendal will be 
developed as a Principal Service Centre. The Council and its partners aim 
to [amongst other things] [m]ake further provision for infrastructure in line 
with identified need” and that “[u]ntil sewage capacity problems at Kentrigg 

Page 74



Walk and Steeles Row, Burneside are resolved, no further development 
should take place above these sewer bottlenecks that add additional flow to 
the sewer.” 

74. Where development is acceptable in all other respects, DMDPD policy DM1 
(General Requirements for all development) expects the provision of the 
necessary infrastructure, including foul water disposal. 

75. The Implementation Plan in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy acknowledges 
that some work has been undertaken to address sewerage issues, stating:  

“Existing problems with sewer network at Kendal, Kentrigg Walk and 
Burneside, Steeles Row (capacity problems resulting in overflowing of 
sewer and flooding). Works have recently been completed to remove 
deposits that were blocking the system at Kentrigg Walk. Monitoring of 
the situation will now take place in order to see whether the system can 
take any additional capacity. “ 

76. These comments date from 2010 when the Core Strategy was adopted. The 
application site was subsequently allocated by the Land Allocations DPD in 
December 2013, with paragraph 3.17 acknowledging that, amongst other 
things, the resolution of sewerage issues remains a key consideration in the 
development of this site.   

77. We are largely dependent upon the advice of the relevant statutory undertaker 
when judging the significance of this issue; we would struggle to sustain an 
argument that planning permission should be refused if the statutory 
undertaker was not prepared to support us. In this case it is United Utilities 
that has responsibility for public sewerage disposal and, even having been 
reminded of the various references in the Core Strategy and the Land 
Allocations DPD quoted above, it has no objection to the current application. 
It states that it has reviewed its modelling information and, as a 
consequence, “we do not believe there is a need to upsize the foul sewers 
in the area to accommodate this future development.” 

Highway access 

78. Core Strategy policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) expects 
“Development will be designed to reduce the need to travel and to maximise 
the use of sustainable forms of transport appropriate to its particular 
location”, an objective which underpinned the overall development strategy 
for Kendal which led to the current site being allocated for development.  

79. Policy CS10.2 establishes a number of other criteria aimed at ensuring that 
new development: (1) provides for safe and convenient access on foot, 
cycle, public and private transport; (2) is capable of being served by safe 
access to the highway network without detriment to the amenity or character 
of the locality; (3) can be accommodated by the existing road network 
without detriment to the amenity or character of the surrounding area; and 
(4) incorporates parking standards that are in accordance with any adopted 
local policy and guidance. 

80. The representations we have received highlight a number of concerns in 
respect of access. The route through from Windermere Road is regarded as 
tortuous, with the intervening roads often heavily parked resulting in buses 

Page 75



and other large vehicles often struggling to make headway. The alternative 
route into town via Sparrowmire Lane and Burneside Road is seen as being 
no better. Closer to the site the sharp bend at the junction of Kettlewell Road 
and Moore Field Close is described as blind and dangerous. The whole of 
the Hallgarth Estate is covered by a 20mph speed restriction and additional 
traffic is not regarded as conducive to the safety of pedestrians and children 
playing in the street.   

81. Reflecting some of these concerns, the Council’s Street Scene Team, 
responsible for refuse collection, has commented that “Moorefield Close is 
narrow with parked vehicle[s] on both sides of the roads” and that extra 
traffic and vehicles “will make it hard for our 6 Wheeled base vehicles to 
gain access to properties.” However, the Street Scene Team has 
subsequently confirmed that a swept path analysis of the highway geometry 
within the site is “acceptable for the collection of refuse and recycling by 
vehicles predominantly used around this area.” 

82. It is important to recognise that the principle of developing this site for 
residential purposes has been established by policy LA1.3 of the Land 
Allocations DPD. And apart from an acknowledgement in the preamble to 
the policy (paragraph 3.17) that “There will be a need for existing footways 
on Moore Field Close to be extended to serve the site” (confirmed on the 
submitted application drawings), there is no suggestion that access is a 
constraint to development. The local highway authority acknowledges that 
“access from Moore Field Close […] has a sharp bend with a tighter radius 
than recommended in our design guide”, but notes that this was “in situ 
when this site was considered for allocation in the local plan and has 
therefore already been considered safe by SLDC. We therefore accept this 
element.”  It should be noted that in commenting on the original allocation 
the local highway authority’s comments are recorded as “Satisfactory 
access can be achieved. Access from Moorefield Close.”  

83. It is not uncommon for new development to increase traffic in areas where 
existing highway infrastructure is already under pressure, but that alone 
would not be grounds for refusing planning permission. Paragraph 109 of 
the NPPF is clear that:  

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 
or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.”  

84. It would be very difficult to advance such arguments in this case. The site was 
allocated for development with the support of the local highway authority, 
and highway officers have raised no objection to the current application.  

85. Parking is proposed in accordance with the standards established in the 
Cumbria Development Design Guide. 

Living conditions 

86. A number of the representations we have received come from residents 
adjoining the boundary of the application site, concerned about a potential 
loss of amenity, particularly from overlooking and a consequent loss of 
privacy.  

Page 76



87. DMDPD policy DM1 (General Requirements for all development) establishes 
that, subject to other policies within the development plan, development will 
be acceptable provided that, amongst other things, it:  

“ensures the delivery of acceptable levels of amenity, privacy and 
overshadowing for existing, neighbouring and future users and 
occupants through:  

• provision of adequate spatial separation distances between existing 
and proposed properties and buildings; and  

• retention and/or provision of adequate public, private and shared 
spaces and landscaping”  

88. The DMDPD does not define appropriate spatial separation distances; these 
remain to be determined on a case-by-case basis, having regard to 
established local character and site-specific circumstances. However, there 
are various “rules-of-thumb” that can be used as a starting point. For 
example, it is not uncommon to see 20m or 21m cited as the minimum 
desirable separation distance between elevations containing windows to 
habitable rooms facing each other cross private gardens. Which, by 
extension, reduces to 10 or 10.5m where windows to habitable rooms are 
facing blank elevations. This same principle can also be expressed as a 
ratio of 5m per storey when calculating rear garden depths, acknowledging 
that bungalows have commensurately less impact in respect of privacy and 
overshadowing. However, it is important to stress that none of these figures 
represents a binding standard. 

89. In this case we are not dealing with a level site; the submitted Topographic 
Survey shows that the ground is generally falling away to the north. The 
levels on the south-eastern site boundary range from approximately 73m 
AOD in the south-west to 67m AOD in the north-east – a fall of 6m.  

90. The following analysis considers the impact of the proposed dwellings nearest 
to the common boundary with existing properties, progressing from north-
east to south-west. All references to finished floor levels (FFLs) are 
expressed in metres above ordnance datum (AOD). The Topographic 
Survey extends to include the footprints of those existing properties closest 
to the boundary, along with their eaves and ridge heights.  

91. The proposal underwent a significant amendment in May 2019, with the total 
number of units being reduced from 26 to 25 and the position of a number of 
the remaining units adjoining the south-eastern boundary being adjusted to 
address amenity issues.  

Units 1 & 2 

92. Units 1 & 2 are a pair of semi-detached bungalows proposed immediately to 
the east of the new estate road as it enters the application site. The nearest 
existing properties are 15 – 18 Moore Field Close, a staggered terrace of 
four two-storey houses, with principal rear elevations facing the application 
site boundary at distances ranging from 7.3m (no. 15) to 9.5m (no.18). Units 
1 & 2 will present a blank gable to these properties at a minimum distance of 
just under 12.9m. The new houses will have FFLs of 68.00m (slightly below 
the ground level on the adjoining boundary) with eaves and ridge heights of 

Page 77



70.385m and 73.25m respectively. These compare with eaves and ridge 
heights of 71.96m and 73.94m for nos. 15/16 Moore Field Close and 
71.47m and 73.46m for nos. 17/18.  

93. This relationship is consistent with the rule-of-thumb described above and is 
typical of others within the Hallgarth estate. It is judged acceptable against 
the criteria established in DMDPD policy DM1.  

Units 23 & 24 

94. Units 23 & 34 are a pair of semi-detached two-storey houses proposed 
immediately to the west of the new estate road as it enters the application 
site.  The nearest existing properties are 10 - 14 Moore Field Close, a 
terrace of four two-storey houses, with principal rear elevations facing the 
application site boundary at distances ranging from 8m (no. 10) to 13m (no. 
14). Unit 24, the proposed unit closest to the existing properties, will present 
a blank, two-storey gable end to these properties at a minimum distance of 
approximately 16.2m. Unit 24 will have a FFL of 68.40m (approximately 0.65 
below the surveyed level on the nearest section of the site boundary) with 
eaves and ridge heights of 73.509m and 76.400m respectively. These 
compare with eaves and ridge heights of 73.52m and 75.76m for nos. 10/11 
Moore Field Close and 72.61m and 74.85m for nos. 12/14. 

95. Again, this relationship is consistent with the rule-of-thumb described above 
and is typical of others within the Hallgarth estate. It is judged acceptable 
against the criteria established in DMDPD policy DM1. 

Units 21 & 22 

96. Further to the west, Units 21 & 22 are a pair of semi-detached bungalows, 
presenting their principal rear elevations to the application site boundary. 
The nearest existing properties are 6 - 9 Moore Field Close, a staggered 
terrace of four two-storey houses, with principal rear elevations facing the 
application site boundary at distances ranging from 7m (no. 6) to 10.6m (no. 
9). The new properties will both have FFLs of 68.550m (at least 1.75m 
below the surveyed level on the nearest section of the site boundary) with 
eaves and ridge heights of 70.935m and 73.80m respectively. These 
compare with eaves and ridge heights of 75.53 – 75.56 and 77.75 – 77.98 
for nos. 6 and 7. This relationship is illustrated in cross section on drawing 
K34416/A1/201 C.  

97. Unit 22 will look directly towards nos. 6 and 7 Moore Field Close at a 
minimum distance of approximately 18.5m. Given the relative height of the 
houses (Units 21 & 22 are single storey) and the difference in ground level, 
this separation distance is judged acceptable. There are comparable 
separation distances elsewhere within the Hallgarth estate, even between 
opposing two-storey units.  

98. Unit 21 will look more obliquely towards 6 Moore Field Close, again at a 
minimum separation distance of approximately 18.5m. Its direct outlook will 
be towards the side garden of no.6, across its own rear garden of just under 
10m. The relationship with nos. 8 and 9 Moore Field Close is even more 
oblique; the existing properties will look directly through the space between 
Unit 22 and Units 23 & 24 across existing rear gardens which are typically in 

Page 78



excess of 10m in depth. None of these relationships is judged to create 
locally uncharacteristic issues with regard to privacy or overlooking.  

Units 17 – 20 

99. This is a two-storey block of four flats, with principal rear elevations again 
facing the application site boundary. The depth of the rear amenity space 
dedicated to these units narrows to approximately 7.6m at the south-
western end of the proposed plot. Immediate direct overlooking from these 
units will effectively be into the side gardens of no. 6 Moore Field Close and 
no. 41 High Sparrowmire. There is an oblique relationship with the principal 
rear elevation of 6 Moore Field Close at a separation distance of no less 
than 21m. There is a direct view towards the gable end of 41 High 
Sparrowmire at a separation distance of over 30m.  

100. The FFL for the proposed building is 68.700m, which is just under 2m lower 
than the existing lowest level on the adjoining site boundary. The proposed 
eaves and ridge heights are 73.875m and 76.625m, relative to 
corresponding figures of 75.56m and 77.99m for 6 Moore Field Close and 
75.59m and 77.95 for 41 High Sparrowmire. Given the relative differences in 
topography and the oblique nature of the relationships that will be created, 
these separation distances are judged acceptable.  

Units 13 & 14 and 15 & 16 

101. These are two pairs of semi-detached, two-storey houses presenting their 
principal rear elevations to the application site boundary, with back gardens 
ranging between approximately 8m and 10m in depth. Units 13 & 14 will 
have FFLs of 70.300m and 70.000m respectively, and Units 15 & 16 will 
have FFLs of 69.600m and 69.300m respectively, never less than 1.2m 
below the corresponding levels on the site boundary.  Proposed eaves and 
ridge heights will be: 75.409m and 78.025m (Unit 13); 75.109m and 77.725 
(Unit 14); 74.709m and 77.325m (Unit 15); and 74.409m and 77.025m (Unit 
16).  

102. All four of these proposed units will face the eastern end of the existing long 
terrace of two-storey houses, comprising 21 – 39 High Sparrowmire. 
Separation distances will never be less than 27m. The eaves and ridge 
heights at the eastern end of this terrace, that part in direct relationship with 
the proposed houses, range between 76.08m – 76.10m and 78.20m - 
78.17m respectively. Give the comparative heights and relatively generous 
separation distances these relationships are all judged acceptable.  

Units 11 & 12 

103. Units 11 & 12 are a pair of two-storey flats with principal rear elevations 
facing the application site boundary across a rear amenity space of no less 
than 7.5m and a minimum separation distance to the existing terrace in High 
Sparrowmire (21 – 39) of 26m. The proposed building will have a FFL of 
70.800m, never less than 0.7m lower than the levels on the site boundary. 
Eaves and ridge height will be 75.975m and 78.725m respectively, 
compared with 76.10m and 78.48m on the existing terrace. As with Units 13 
& 14 and 15 & 16, these comparative heights and relatively generous 
separation distances establish a relationship which is judged acceptable. 

Page 79



The “self-build unit” 

104. The only one of the proposed units submitted in outline is the “self-build” 
property shown illustratively (for the moment) at the western end of the 
application site. It is indicated as a detached, four-bedroom property with a 
FFL of 72.40m, but its precise scale and appearance remain to be 
determined by a further application for approval of reserved matters. 
However, there is sufficient information available at the moment to be 
assured that a house in this part of the site could be accommodated in a 
manner that will safeguard the amenity of existing properties. A large, 
detached house as indicated would have a separation distance from its 
existing nearest neighbour in excess of 25m.  

Living conditions - conclusions 

105. Existing residents’ concerns are fully appreciated; they face a situation 
where their existing uninterrupted outlook is to be replaced by a cul-de-sac 
of houses. Nevertheless, the site is allocated for housing in the Land 
Allocations DPD and so the principle of development has already been 
accepted.  

106. Notwithstanding the allocation, existing and future residents can still have a 
reasonable expectation of living conditions that meet accepted norms and 
reflect local character. In this case the various separation distances have 
been considered in detail and, following amendment, are judged to provide 
acceptable levels of amenity, privacy and overshadowing in compliance with 
DMDPD policy DM1.  

Recreation open space 

107. For Kendal and Ulverston Core Strategy policy CS8.3a expects residents to 
enjoy the following accessibility standards for open space, sport and 
recreation:  

Formal Provision Informal Provision 

Parks & 
Gardens 

Provision for 
Children 

Civic 
Spaces 

Natural/Semi 
Natural 

Greenspaces 

Amenity 
Greenspaces 

All residents 
to be within 

1200m of high 
quality parks 
and gardens 

All residents 
to be within 
750m of at 

least a LEAP 
sized, high 

quality 
equipped play 

area 

All residents 
to be within 
3200m of 

high quality 
civic space 
provision 

All residents to 
be within 900m 

natural/semi 
natural 

provision 

All residents to 
be within 750m 

of amenity 
green space 

108. The site scores well in this respect. Its proximity to Kendal town centre will 
give residents relatively easy access to a range of civic spaces and 
amenities and closer at hand it has access to all of the other open space 
typologies within the prescribed distances. This is to be expected given that, 
as confirmed in paragraph 1.6 of the Land Allocations DPD, the allocated 
sites: 

Page 80



“ … offer the most appropriate available solution to the development 
needs of the District having considered [the] Sustainability Appraisal, 
the wider strategy, vision and objectives set out in the Core Strategy 
(which has itself been subject to Sustainability Appraisal), and all the 
other evidence and information available to and gathered by the 
Council through site visits, consultation and evidence base studies. “ 

109. More recently, DMDPD policy DM4 states: 

“New developments of over 10 dwellings will be required to provide new 
high quality on-site provision of open space as part of the overall green 
and blue infrastructure provision. The open space must be of a type and 
size appropriate to the site, its context and identified local needs.” 

110. The Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2017) identifies no specific 
“Open Space Projects” required to meet any identified local needs in this 
area. And no requirements are identified in the Land Allocations DPD. 
Nevertheless, the proposal includes an “amenity area” of approximately 750 
sq. m. in the north-west corner of the site. This is shown as an area of 
amenity green space in the latest landscaping proposals, taking advantage 
of open views to the north. The lower part of this area is prone to flooding in 
certain circumstances, as described above, but this should be seen as an 
opportunity in this case; bringing with it the potential to increase biodiversity, 
which in turn will add value to the area as an amenity for local residents. 
This is good practice; paragraph 165 of the NPPF states that, amongst other 
things, sustainable drainage systems should “where possible, provide 
multifunctional benefits.”  The applicants have assessed the risk posed by 
this feature under the Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 
(CDM 2015) and have concluded that it can be reduced to an acceptable 
level through appropriate planting.  

Ground conditions 

111. Paragraph 178 of the NPPF states that, amongst other things, planning 
decisions should ensure that “a site is suitable for its proposed use taking 
account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability” and 
that “ adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent 
person, is available to inform these assessments.” 

112. In this case the application is supported by Phase I and Phase II Geo-
Environmental Site Assessments, prepared by E3P, specialists in 
Geotechnical and Environmental Site Investigation. 

113. The May 2018 version of the Phase II Geo-Environmental Site Assessment 
contained the following statement in paragraph 6.11: 

“If local pumping of groundwater is required during the advancement of 
excavations for the proposed foundations. Consideration should be 
given for the potential for dewatering gravels in the surrounding areas 
to the subject site that may cause structural damage to buildings and 
sub-structures in close proximity to the site; such as the residential 
units to the east.” 

114. This caused local concern and when E3P was asked to clarify whether: (a) 
local pumping of groundwater would be required in these circumstances; 

Page 81



and (b) if so, what were the proposals to mitigate the potential damage, the 
statement was removed in an updated version of the assessment dated 
November 2018. The author of the report offered the following justification 
for the amendment: 

“Upon reflection from the query raised from the case officer we have 
decided to remove the wording from our report which is attached to this 
email. It’s very much a caveat statement for sites if we encounter any 
shallow gravels, however on closer observation it would appear 
proposed Plot 1 & 2 are closest to the existing units and TP105 
indicates this location is underlain by cohesive soils, as such any 
excavation for the foundations will not undermine the adjacent 
properties on High Sparrowmire.  

“The gravels were encountered in TP101 & TP103 which are 55m and 
45m, respectively from the closest existing structures and dewatering 
would realistically not have any impact.  

“In hindsight, I should’ve removed that statement entirely from the 
outset.”  

115. Both versions of the report remain available to view on the Council’s 
website.  

116. Local residents have responded to this change with suspicion; they feel that 
the updated report has been sanitised in order to dismiss an issue that could 
have very serious consequences for them.  

117. Officers have sought an independent review of this issue. This was 
undertaken by Geo Environmental Engineering and its report, dated 09 
September 2019, is available to view online. It concludes that E3P was 
justified in amending the report in the manner that it did.  

118. Overall, the applicants have clearly fulfilled the expectations of paragraph 
178 of the NPPF; the E3P site assessments encompass comprehensive 
surveys and analyses of the ground conditions that could affect 
development going forward. That does not absolve the developer of any 
ongoing responsibility. Paragraph 179 of the NPPF makes clear that: 

“Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer 
and/or landowner.”  

Pollution 

119. DMDPD policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and 
Water Quality) states:  

“Development will be permitted, where the direct, indirect and 
cumulative effects of pollution (including, but not restricted to air, noise, 
light, dust, odour, smoke, fumes, gases, steam, smell, vibration and 
water) will not have a negative impact on health, the environment 
(including wildlife and tranquility) and general amenity of existing or 
future occupiers and users or any sensitive receptor.” 

Noise 

Page 82



120. Acknowledging the point in paragraph 3.17 of the Land Allocations DPD that 
“The site adjoins the Oxenholme-Windermere railway and noise impacts 
may need to be mitigated” the application is accompanied by an Acoustic 
Design Statement which assesses the likely effects within the proposed 
housing scheme. It concludes that in this case, based upon an ambient 
noise survey which included measurements of trains passing, the 
“desirable” indoor ambient noise level range established by BS8233:20146 
will be achieved. The Council’s Public Protection Team accepts this 
conclusion, but has requested a condition requiring a verification report 
before any dwellings are first occupied.  

121. In order to protect the amenity of adjoining occupiers during the construction 
phase of the development the Council’s Public Protection Team has also 
requested conditions to: (1) limit construction working hours; and (2) require 
submission of, and subsequent adherence to, a Construction Management 
Plan (CMP). Insofar as it would reasonable for the local planning authority to 
enforce the suggested contents of the CMP, conditions are attached to the 
recommendation of this report.  

Contaminated land 

122. The submitted PHASE II Geo-Environmental Site Assessment found no 
problematic concentrations of contaminants present on the site. The 
Council’s Public Protection Team has requested a condition requiring 
submission and approval of a Validation Report, providing details of: (1) any 
contamination subsequently found during the course of development; and 
(2) the relevant remediation undertaken.  

Traffic 

123. The development will bring an increase in traffic, with associated issues of 
noise and exhaust fumes. However, the site was allocated for development 
partly in recognition of the opportunities for residents to access services and 
amenities on foot or via public transport, potentially reducing the traffic 
impacts that would have occurred on a site in a less sustainable location. 
The applicants have also now confirmed that ten of the proposed units7 in 
this development will be provided with electric vehicle charging points. It 
would be reasonable in the circumstances to make this a condition of any 
permission.  

Accessible and adaptable homes 

124. Policy DM11 of the DMDPD requires all new homes to meet the optional 
Building Regulations Requirement M4(2): Category 2 – Accessible and 
Adaptable Dwellings. The submitted plans demonstrate that this 
requirement has been met in this case. A condition is recommended to 
secure the position going forward.  

Storage and space for refuse and recycling 

Y KE	>>5	��H < QOA���97 �� ��O�� A��O���A�� ��� ��A�7 17�O9�A�� 8�1 NOA��A�2�
Z ����� ��H�=�I����
��	��I ��� �

Page 83



125. Among the “List of Measures that support and enhance habitat creation, 
urban greening and respond to the effects of climate change” identified in 
Appendix 1 to the DMDPD is a requirement for: 

“Sufficient and well-designed visually unobtrusive space for bin 
collection/recycling and adequate cycle storage either within the 
curtilage of a dwelling or building or through formal parking provision 
where communal buildings are provided.” 

126. In this case the proposed layout clearly identifies bin/recycling areas for 
each of the units proposed in the full application, and they are shown 
illustratively for the outline self-build plot. They are all positioned 
unobtrusively, but with easy access to the roadside for collection.   

127. On the question of storage, the applicant’s Sustainability Statement confirms 
that: 

“There is space within the curtilage of each dwelling for cycle storage. 
Sheds will be provided by South Lakes Housing [the applicant] for all 
rental properties and the occupants can store a cycle within the shed if 
they so choose. For the shared ownership units and the self-build unit 
there is space within each garden for the occupants to provide sheds 
but it will be for each occupant to decide how they wish to store their 
cycles.”  

128. Overall the submitted plans demonstrate that the expectations of DMDPD in 
terms of storage and space for refuse and recycling are met. 

Landscape impact 

129. The application site coincides with the land allocated by policy LA1.3 of the 
Land Allocations DPD. It is currently an open field defined by the sporadic 
remains of a former hedge on the boundary with the countryside beyond. 
There are open views from, and into, the site over a considerable distance 
to the north-west and the north, although views to and from the west are 
constrained by a pronounced drumlin. 

130. Landscape impact was assessed as part of the process of allocating the site 
in the first place and was judged acceptable, albeit with the preamble to the 
allocating policy (paragraph 3.17 of the Land Allocations DPD) making clear 
that:  

“Robust landscaping to the north west will be necessary to achieve a 
satisfactory urban edge.”  

131. The submitted scheme keeps housing pulled back from a significant length 
of the north-west boundary, providing ample opportunities to introduce 
robust landscaping, particularly in the proposed “amenity area”. The latest 
Planting Plan, submitted in August 2020, shows an almost continuous 
“Mixed native species hedge” along the boundary with the open countryside, 
comprising hawthorn, blackthorn and hazel, and a significant concentration 
of specimen tree planting (with an initial girth of 8 – 10cm) around, and to 
the south-west of the “amenity area”, comprising alder, crab apple, rowan, 
oak and birch, all set within a supporting “woodland planting mix” comprising 
177 trees species (initial height 40 – 60cm).   

Page 84



132. Natural England has commented that the proposed development “is for a 
site within or close to” the Lake District National Park and that “the planning 
authority uses national and local policies, together with local landscape 
expertise and information to determine the proposal”.  This is reminding us 
that the setting of National Parks is a consideration in Core Strategy policy 
CS8.2 (Protection and enhancement of landscape and settlement character) 
and Policy DM1 (General Requirements for all development) of the DMDPD.  

133. In this case, the potential harm to the setting of the National Park will have 
been assessed in the decision to allocate the site in the first place, with 
clearly no objection in principle. Looking at the detail of the current scheme, 
its character broadly reflects that of established development in the 
Hallgarth Estate, which, together with other built-up areas of the town to the 
south and east, will form the backdrop to views from the National Park. No 
significant impact is anticipated. It is also noteworthy that, in time, views 
towards the site from areas of the National Park to the west will be 
interrupted by the more extensive development of “Land to the West of High 
Sparrowmire” allocated for housing by policies LA1.3 and LA2.1 of the Land 
Allocations DPD.  

Biodiversity 

134. DMDPD policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees 
and Landscaping) expects all development proposals to result in 
environmental net gains for biodiversity, unless it can be demonstrated that 
this is not possible. The policy reflects the government’s position in 
paragraph 170 of the NPPF. The preamble to the policy which allocates the 
site in the Land Allocations DPD states (paragraph 3.17) that the “site could 
accommodate a small housing development accessed from Moore Field 
Close subject to [amongst other things] biodiversity issues.”  

135. The application is supported by an Ecological Appraisal8, which was 
prepared from: (1) evidence gathered via a desk study of existing data for 
the site, together with a wider search area of 2km; and (2) physical site 
surveys addressing botanical interest and the presence or absence of bats, 
nesting birds, brown hares and badgers. The overall conclusions of the 
report are that the site has a very low species diversity and ecological value, 
although it does state that existing trees “should as far as possible be 
retained”. No notable or protected species were recorded on the site, 
although it is acknowledged that birds may nest between March and 
September and that any vegetation clearance should therefore be 
undertaken outside of this period.  

136. We now have a biodiversity net gain calculation. This is contained within a 
report from Envirotech dated 23 July 20209. It uses the Biodiversity Metric 
2.0 “beta test version”, published by Defra, which provides a way of 
measuring and accounting for biodiversity losses and gains resulting from 
development or land management change. The submitted calculation 
assesses the post-development condition (based upon the latest Planting 

[ \]$�$!�]�� .##������� ^�!_ �#���$`����� a��b��� \�c��$��]_� "�#$�� ��%& d*ee� /d .#��� /0f,

g ^�!_ �#���$`���� h i�$hj�c������ k%%������! '��]�����$��� \�c��$��]_� /+ l��� /0/0

Page 85



Plan – 1572-2-51 C) relative to the baseline identified in the original 
Ecological Appraisal and concludes that the site will be “13.33% better 
ecologically post development than pre-development.” This gain will be 
secured through the implementation and management of the submitted 
landscape scheme.  

137. Biodiversity Metric 2.0 does not explicitly take into account the benefit of 
other potential measures, such as the inclusion of swift bricks as has been 
raised in the representations. However, in this case the applicants have 
stated that a “total of 15 [bat and bird] boxes will be provided with the 
location to be agreed with the local planning authority.” This commitment is 
contained within the submitted Sustainability Statement, specifically to 
enhance habitat creation consistent with measure 2 in Appendix 1 to the 
DMDPD. 

Trees 

138. DMDPD policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees 
and Landscaping) states: 

“New development should positively incorporate new, and protect and 
enhance existing trees unless there are clear and demonstrable 
reasons why their removal would aid delivery of a better development 
overall.” 

139. And paragraph 3.17 of the Land Allocations DPD, supporting the allocation 
of the site in policy LA1.3 states that: 

“Hedgerows and trees should be retained.” 

140. The application is accompanied by a Pre-development Arboricultural Report 
(updated on 21 February 202010) which has surveyed all of the trees within 
or abutting the application site, assigning all of them a “C2” retention 
category11, being trees of low quality judged against a range of criteria, with 
the exception of an ash tree adjoining the south-east corner of the site, 
which is assigned a “B3” retention category, a specimen of moderate quality 
with an estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 20 years. The 
Council’s Arboricultural Officer concurs with this assessment.  

141. Where the Arboricultural Report has indicated that it is appropriate to do so, 
existing trees are now shown to be retained in a detailed Planting Plan.  

142. A number of poorer quality trees are shown for removal along the northern 
boundary, along with a group of maple and goat willow at the entrance to 
the site from Moore Field Close. But the better quality ash in the south-east 
corner of the site is shown for retention, as are a number of hawthorns on 
the northern boundary.  

143. When this application was due to be considered in October of last year all of 
the trees adjoining the entrance of the site were shown for removal. Most of 
these are within the highway, but one, a hawthorn, is within the back garden 

�m �17<�7M7��3D7�� C1N�1A9O��O1�� 673�1� V678717�97 n�P CoJC:CJ�I�=�<�W� U177�9�37� p���O����9F S��P� 	�

@7N1O�1F 	�	�

�� K1A�A�4 E�����1� KE=>�5 U177� A� 67���A�� �� ;7�A2�� ;7D��A�A�� ��� p����1O9�A�� 

Page 86



of 14 Moore Field Close. The crown of this tree, and in all likelihood the 
spread of its roots, extend well beyond the boundary of the garden and 
given the configuration of the site access proposed at that time the 
Arboricultural Report assumed the tree would not survive the associated 
below-ground engineering works and was, therefore, shown for removal.  
The occupant of 14 Moore Field Close has written to state explicitly that “I 
do not consent to the felling of my tree”.   

144. If the retention of this tree was regarded as a prerequisite to the 
development proceeding then the local planning authority would need to 
make it the subject of a tree preservation order (TPO) and then consider 
ways in which it might be retained. But the Council’s Arboricultural Officer 
does not feel that the tree warrants a TPO; its (group) C2 retention category 
would not justify this. Consequently, the fate of the tree remains a private 
matter between the parties concerned.  

145. Having said that, the applicants have used the hiatus caused by the need to 
solve the site’s surface water drainage issues to look again at the position in 
respect of the hawthorn. And, as a consequence, the site access and 
adjoining ground levels near the tree have now been amended. Previously, 
the new estate road was shown with a footway on both sides throughout the 
sharp left hand bend into the site. Beyond that, the estate road was (and 
continues to be) shown as a shared surface. As amended, the footway on 
the west side of the site entrance, within the root protection area (RPA) of 
the hawthorn, has been removed and pedestrians entering the site from the 
west side of Moore Field Close are now encouraged to cross to the east via 
dropped crossings (with tactile paving) on both sides of the road. 
Furthermore, the parking spaces for proposed unit 24, which were also 
previously within the RPA of the hawthorn, have been relocated to the front 
of the property. Within the curtilage of proposed unit 24 the Arboricultural 
Report now establishes a Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ) within which 
the ground level is to remain as existing. The footway on the west side of 
the estate road is re-established beyond the relocated parking spaces. 

146. The local highway authority acknowledges that encouraging pedestrians to 
cross the site entrance as now proposed is “not ideal”, but also notes that 
the crossing is on an “approach to a slow corner and footways are not 
always required on both sides for a secondary street.” It raises no objection 
to the amendment, and confirms that a safety audit will be undertaken as 
part of any adoption process, with further minor revisions being made as 
appropriate.  

147. Notwithstanding the removal of the short length of the footway, the main 
carriageway for the new estate road will still pass through the RPA of the 
hawthorn. The Arboricultural Report recommends two actions here: 
supervision of the construction works by an arboriculturist “to ensure 
minimal disturbance to existing tree roots if present”; and appropriate 
pruning of the hawthorn to reduce overhang of the road by 1 – 2m. On the 
latter point, although the hawthorn is growing outside of the application site 
the developers retain a common law right to cut through roots and branches 
that overhang the boundary.  

Page 87



148. The updated Arboricultural report no longer identifies the hawthorn for 
removal. And it is indicated for retention on the submitted Planting Plan. The 
Council’s Arboricultural Officer is recommending a planning condition 
requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the updated 
Arboricultural report.  A further condition is recommended to ensure that 
those trees shown for retention are protected during the course of 
development.  

It is not certain that the hawthorn will survive, even given the proposed 
amendments. But the scheme has now been amended to give it the best 
possible chance.  

CONCLUSION 

149. The application is a hybrid proposal, part full and part outline, for 25  
dwellings on a site north of High Sparrowmire in Kendal, allocated for 
housing development by policy LA1.3 of the Land Allocations Development 
Plan Document. The principle of development is established by the 
allocation, albeit that a number of key issues remain to be resolved by this 
application.   

150. All bar one of the dwellings proposed by this application are intended to be 
offered as affordable housing, meeting the requirement of policy CS6.3 and 
making a significant contribution towards the Council’s strategic objective of 
working “with partners to maximise the provision of publicly-funded 
affordable housing”.  

151. The single dwelling within the application not explicitly identified as being 
affordable is, nevertheless, being offered as a self-build unit. This is in a 
location supported by DMDPD policy DM12 (Self-Build and Custom Build 
Housing) and will help the Council meet its duties under Self Build and 
Custom Housebuilding Act 2015.  

152. The layout of the scheme and the design of the houses respects and 
maintains local character, consistent with Core Strategy policies CS1.1 
(Sustainable Development Principles)  and CS8.10 (Design) and DMDPD 
policies DM1 (General Requirements for all development) and DM2 
(Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design).  

153. The application site lies with Flood Zone 1, which is at the lowest risk of 
flooding by rivers or the sea. This was a significant factor in allocating the 
site for development, ensuring consistency with Core Strategy policy CS8.8 
(Development and flood risk). However, policy CS8.8 also acknowledges 
the risk of flooding from other sources, and in particular surface water.  

154. Surface water disposal in this case is to be achieved through a combination 
of on-site infiltration and an attenuated discharge northwards which will work 
its way via the natural topography towards the adjoining railway 
embankment. Network Rail raises no objection to this solution and the lead 
local flood authority describes it as commendable.  

155. Turning to foul drainage, Policy CS2 (Kendal Strategy) states that “until 
sewage capacity problems at Kentrigg Walk and Steeles Row, Burneside 
are resolved, no further development should take place above these sewer 
bottlenecks that add additional flow to the sewer.” United Utilities has been 

Page 88



consulted on this application and having reviewed its modelling information 
has concluded that “we do not believe there is a need to upsize the foul 
sewers in the area to accommodate this future development.” It is not 
objecting to this planning application.  

156. Highway access is another local concern. The approach from Windermere 
Road is considered too narrow and torturous, with the sharp bend on Moore 
Field Close approaching the proposed site entrance regarded as particularly 
dangerous. The Council’s Street Scene Team has commented that parked 
vehicles on the approach to the site will “make it hard for our 6 Wheeled 
base vehicles to gain access to properties,” although it is satisfied that the 
road geometry within the site is acceptable.  

157. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF is clear that:  

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 
or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.”  

158. The nature of the access to the site was understood at the time the site was 
allocated for development. The local highway authority raised no objection 
at that time, and raises no objection to this application.  

159. The consequences of this development for the living conditions of existing 
and proposed properties has been carefully considered and, following 
amendment to the scheme, the proposed separation distances are judged to 
provide acceptable levels of amenity, privacy and overshadowing in 
compliance with DMDPD policy DM1 (General Requirements for all 
development). Residents of the new development will have adequate 
access to recreation open space in accordance with Core Strategy policy 
CS8.3a (Accessing open space, sport and recreation) and DM4 (Green and 
Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping).  

160. The applicant’s Geo-Environmental Site Assessments initially raised a 
concern that dewatering of gravels on the site could lead to structural 
damage to existing buildings, although this comment was subsequently 
withdrawn. An independent review of the assessments concludes that this 
amendments was justified.  

161. The site occupies a prominent position on the northern edge of the town, 
and the preamble to the allocation policy states that: 

“Robust landscaping to the north west will be necessary to achieve a 
satisfactory urban edge.”  

162. The layout has been designed to accommodate this, with a significant open 
“amenity area” adjoining the north-western boundary. We now have a 
detailed landscaping scheme which includes a commitment to hedge 
planting along the north west boundary, and an appreciable concentration of 
new trees in the proposed amenity area. The best of the existing trees on 
the site are being retained, and an amendment to the site access means 
that there is now a reasonable chance of retaining the hawthorn in the 
adjoining garden of 14 Moore Field Close.  

Page 89



163. Other material considerations relating to, noise, land contamination, 
biodiversity and the provision of Accessible and adaptable homes can all be 
addressed by planning conditions.  

164. 24 of the 25 units (96% of the total) are to be provided as affordable 
housing, consistent with Core Strategy policy CS6.3 (Provision of affordable 
housing). This is to be provision in perpetuity, except where statutory 
provisions provide otherwise.  

RECOMMENDATION 

165. Delegate authority to the Director (Customer and Commercial Services) to 
grant planning permission subject to:  

a. A section 106 agreement to ensure that all 24 units proposed as 
part of the full application (96% of the total) are provided as 
affordable accommodation on the basis of the following tenure 
split: 

i. 10 units social rent; 

ii. 14 units to be shard ownership. 

All successors in title, including mortgagees in possession, are 
to be bound to maintain the affordable accommodation in 
perpetuity, except where statutory provisions provide otherwise.   

b. The following conditions:  

Condition (1) Development on that part of the site relating to plots 1 – 24 
identified on SKETCH SITE LAYOUT, SK05revP is 
hereinafter referred to as “the Full Permission”.  

Development on that part of the site relating to the “SB 
PLOT” identified on SKETCH SITE LAYOUT, SK05revP is 
hereinafter referred to as “the Outline Permission”. 

The Full Permission 

Condition (2) The development to which the Full Permission relates shall 
begin not later than THREE YEARS from the date of this 
decision. 

Reason  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Condition (3) The development to which the Full Permission relates shall 
be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans: 

• SKETCH SITE LAYOUT, SK05revP 

• SKETCH SITE LAYOUT, Coloured, SK06revP 

• Streetscene, SS-01B 

• NDSS + Part M Category 2 Compliant 2Bed / 

Page 90



4Person Bungalow Planning Drawing, N1-01 

• NDSS + Part M Category 2 Compliant 2Bed / 
4Person Housetype Planning Drawing, N1-02 

• Nationally Described Space Standard Compliant 
3Bed / 5Person Housetype Planning Drawing, N1-
03 

• Nationally Described Space Standard Compliant 
3Bed / 5Person Housetype Planning Drawing, N1-
04 

• NDSS + Part M Category 2 Compliant 1Bed / 
2Person & 2Bed / 3Person Tyneside Flat, N1-06 

• Proposed Highway Levels & Finished Floor 
Levels, K34416/A1/200 F 

• Proposed Sections Through Site, K34416/A1/201 
Revision C 

• Proposed Foul & Surface Water Drainage Plan, 
K34416/A1/210 E 

Reason  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 

Materials 

Condition (4) The roofs, doors and windows to be constructed/installed in 
the dwellings hereby approved by the Full Permission shall 
be constructed/installed in accordance with details that shall 
first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority.  

Reason  To ensure compliance with South Lakeland Core Strategy 
Policy CS8.10 (Design) and policies DM1 (General 
Requirements for all development) and DM2 (Achieving 
Sustainable High Quality Design) of the South Lakeland 
Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document. 

Highways and parking 

Condition  (5) No development associated with the Full Permission shall 
commence until a specification for the design, drainage and 
lighting of carriageways, footways, footpaths and cycleways 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. The specification shall accord with the 
standards laid down in the Cumbria Design Guide and shall 
include longitudinal cross-sections. Thereafter, none of the 
houses hereby approved shall be first occupied until 
carriageways, footways, footpaths and cycleways have been 

Page 91



constructed to base course level and street lighting, where it 
is to form part of the estate road, has been provided and 
brought into full operational use.   

Reason  To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the 
interests of highway safety.  

Condition (6) No individual dwelling approved by the Full Permission shall 
be first occupied until its dedicated parking provision shown 
on SKETCH SITE LAYOUT SK05revP has been constructed 
and made available for use. No more than ten dwellings shall 
be first occupied until the five visitors parking spaces shown 
on SKETCH SITE LAYOUT SK05revP has been constructed 
and made available for use. 

Reason  To ensure the timely provision of car parking in accordance 
with policy DM9 (Parking Provision, new and loss of car 
parks) of the South Lakeland Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

Landscaping 

Condition (7) No development associated with the Full Permission shall 
commence until a hard landscaping scheme has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include details of: (i) proposed 
finished levels or contours; (ii) means of enclosure; (iii) 
finishes for car parking areas, and other vehicle and non-
adopted pedestrian access and circulation areas; and (iv) 
incidental structures (e.g. refuse or other external storage 
units etc.). No individual dwelling shall be first occupied until 
those elements of the approved hard landscaping scheme 
within its curtilage, or meeting its parking or non-adopted 
requirements, have been completed in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason  To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in 
accordance with policy LA1.3 of the South Lakeland Land 
Allocations Development Plan Document and policy DM4 
(Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 
Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition  (8) The new planting forming part of the soft landscaping detailed 
on approved Planting Plan 1572-2-51 C shall be implemented 
in the planting season November – March immediately 
following first occupation of the first house approved by the 
Full Planning Permission.  

Reason  To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in 
accordance with policy LA1.3 of the South Lakeland Land 

Page 92



Allocations Development Plan Document and policy DM4 
(Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 
Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (9) No development associated with the Full Permission shall 
commence until a maintenance plan for the soft landscaping 
competed in accordance with Planting Plan 1572-2-51 C, 
lasting for the lifetime of the development approved by the 
Full Planning Permission, has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
Thereafter, the soft landscaping shall be maintained in 
accordance with the approved plan.  

Reason  To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in 
accordance with policy LA1.3 of the South Lakeland Land 
Allocations Development Plan Document and policy DM4 
(Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 
Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (10) Plots 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 12, 16 and 18 hereby approved (or 
such other equivalent number of plots as shall first have been 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority) shall not be 
first occupied until provided with a functioning electric vehicle 
(EV) charging point. Thereafter, the  EV charging points shall 
be retained for the lifetime of the development.  

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of the proposed dwellings in 
accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, 
Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document and to contribute towards the “List of 
measures that support and enhance habitat creation, urban 
greening and respond to the effects of climate change” 
identified in Appendix 1 of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Tree protection 

Condition (11) 
No development associated with the Full Permission shall 
commence until those trees shown to be retained in the Pre-
development Arboricultural Report (“the Report”) prepared by 
Treescapes Consultancy Ltd. (Report reference No. 
AH/AIA/160518 – 1, dated 21 February 2020) have been 
protected from construction impacts in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Report. Thereafter, the implemented 
protection measures shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction period and work around the protected trees shall 
proceed in the manner prescribed by the Report. 

Page 93



Reason  
To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 
(Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 
Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document.

The Outline Permission 

Condition (12) For the Outline Permission, approval of access (save for the 
agreed point of access to the County Road), details of the 
scale, layout and appearance of the building(s), and the 
landscaping of the site (hereinafter called the Reserved 
Matters) shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 
in writing before any development is commenced. 

Reason  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development on site. 

Condition (13) The development to which the Outline Permission relates 
must be begun not later than whichever is the later of the 
following dates: 

a. FIVE YEARS from the date of this permission; or 

b. the expiration of TWO YEARS from the final approval 
of the reserved matters, or, in the case of approval on 
different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matters to be approved. 

Application for the approval of the reserved matters must be 
made not later than THREE years from the date of this 
permission. 

Reason  To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Condition (14) The development to which the Outline Permission relates 
shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans (insofar as they relate to matters not reserved for 
further approval by condition 11: 

• SKETCH SITE LAYOUT, SK05revP 

• SKETCH SITE LAYOUT, Coloured, SK06revP 

• Proposed Foul & Surface Water Drainage Plan, 
K34416/A1/210 E 

Reason  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 

Highways and parking 

Condition (15) In respect of access, the reserved matters for the Outline 
Permission required by condition 11 shall include a 
specification for the design, drainage and lighting of 

Page 94



carriageways, footways, footpaths and cycleways. The 
specification shall accord with the standards laid down in the 
Cumbria Design Guide and shall include longitudinal cross-
sections. Thereafter, the house hereby approved shall not be 
first occupied until carriageways, footways, footpaths and 
cycleways serving it have been constructed to base course 
level and street lighting, where it is to form part of the estate 
road, has been provided and brought into full operational use.  

Reason  In the interests of highway safety.  

Condition (16) The reserved matters for the Outline Permission required by 
condition 11 shall include details of dedicated parking 
provision. Thereafter, the approved house shall not be first 
occupied until the approved parking provision has been 
constructed and made available for use. 

Reason  To ensure the timely provision of car parking in accordance 
with policy DM9 (Parking Provision, new and loss of car 
parks) of the South Lakeland Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

Landscaping 

Condition (17) In respect of landscaping, the reserved matters for the 
Outline Permission required by condition 11 shall include 
details of both hard and soft landscaping. An overall objective 
of the scheme must be to establish robust landscaping to the 
north west boundary to meet the requirements of policy LA1.3 
of the Land Allocations DPD. 

The hard landscaping scheme shall include details of: (i) 
proposed finished levels or contours; (ii) means of enclosure; 
(iii) finishes for car parking areas, and other vehicle and 
pedestrian access and circulation areas; (iv) incidental 
structures (e.g. refuse or other external storage units etc.); 
and (v) an implementation timetable. The soft landscaping 
scheme shall include details of: (i) planting plans; (ii) existing 
vegetation to be retained; (iii) written specifications and 
schedules of proposed plants noting species, planting sizes 
and proposed numbers/densities; (iv) an implementation 
timetable; and (v) a schedule of landscape maintenance 
proposals for the lifetime of the development. Thereafter, the 
approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the agreed details and 
timetables. 

Reason  To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in 
accordance with policy LA1.3 of the South Lakeland Land 
Allocations Development Plan Document and policy DM4 
(Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 

Page 95



Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

   

Condition (18) 
No development associated the construction of the single 
dwelling subject to the Outline Permission, including any 
associated works back to the proposed junction with Moore 
Field Close if those have not already been competed through 
implementation of the Full Permission, shall commence until 
those trees shown to be retained in the Pre-development 
Arboricultural Report (“the Report”) prepared by Treescapes 
Consultancy Ltd. (Report reference No. AH/AIA/160518 – 1, 
dated 21 February 2020) have been protected from 
construction impacts in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Report. Thereafter, the implemented 
protection measures shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction period and work around the protected trees shall 
proceed in the manner prescribed by the Report. 

Reason  
To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 
(Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 
Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Conditions applying to the development as a whole 

The following conditions relate to the entire site identified by the red line on 
approved drawing SKETCH SITE LAYOUT, SK05revP 

 

Foul and surface water 

Condition (19) None of the houses hereby approved shall be first occupied 
until the foul and surface water drainage proposals detailed 
on approved drawing K34416_A1_210 E have been 
completed and made operational. 

Reason  To promote the use of a sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme in accordance with policy DM6 (Flood Risk 
Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

Condition (20) Once operational, the approved surface water drainage 
proposals shown on approved drawing K34416_A1_210 E 
shall be maintained for the lifetime of the development in 
accordance with the “Operation & Maintenance Plan for 
Surface Water Drainage Systems” (report ref. 
K34416/02/O&M/TM, Revision B, February 2020) submitted 
by R G Parkins.  

Page 96



Reason  To promote the use of a sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme in accordance with policy DM6 (Flood Risk 
Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

Condition  (21) No development shall commence until a construction surface 
water management plan has been submitted to, and agreed 
in writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, 
development shall proceed in accordance with the agreed 
plan. 

Reason  To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to 
safeguard against pollution of surrounding watercourses and 
drainage systems during the course of construction.  

Condition (22) No individual house shall be first occupied until it has been 
provided with a water butt, installed in a manner that 
facilitates the recycling of roof water. Thereafter, the water 
butts shall be retained for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason  To contribute towards the “List of measures that support and 
enhance habitat creation, urban greening and respond to the 
effects of climate change” identified in Appendix 1 of the 
South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

Noise 

Condition (23) No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied 
until a Validation Report confirming its compliance with the 
conclusions of the Acoustic Design Statement prepared by 
Northburn Acoustics and dated 26 June 2018 (Report 
number 18-51-595) has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority. Compliance must be 
demonstrated by ambient noise levels in living rooms and 
bedrooms not exceeding 35dB LAeq 16hour, and ambient 
noise levels in bedrooms alone not exceeding 30dB LAeq 
8hour (23:00 – 07:00).  

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of the proposed dwellings in 
accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, 
Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document. 

Controls on construction activity 

Condition (24) Construction work shall not occur on Bank Holidays nor 
otherwise outside the hours of 0800 – 1800 Monday to Friday 

Page 97



or 0900 – 1300 on Saturdays.  

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of existing dwellings in accordance 
with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, 
and Water Quality) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Condition (25) No development shall commence until a Construction 
Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The CMP 
shall provide for : 

• defined areas for the parking of vehicles of site 
operatives and visitors; 

• defined areas for loading and unloading of plant and 
materials; 

• defined areas for storage of plant and materials; 

• measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 
during construction; 

• no burning of waste material to take place; 

• measures to avoid excess dirt on adjacent roads 
including wheel washing facilities;  

• a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting 
from excavations; 

• measures to control noise and vibration from plant, 
equipment and procedures – this to include any rock 
pecking and excavations;  

• construction site lighting designed to negate light 
spillage from the site boundary  

Thereafter, development shall proceed in accordance with 
the agreed CMP. 

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of existing dwellings in accordance 
with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, 
and Water Quality) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

Land contamination 

Condition (26) None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied 
until a Validation Report detailing the nature of any land 
contamination found during the course of development, and 
the relevant remediation undertaken, has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.  

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of the proposed dwellings in 
accordance with policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, 

Page 98



Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) of the South 
Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document. 

Accessible and Adaptable Homes 

Condition (27) The dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to meet 
the Building Regulations M4(2) standards for accessible and 
adaptable homes. 

Reason  To comply with policy DM11 (Accessible and Adaptable 
Homes) of the South Lakeland Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document.  

Broadband 

Condition (28) None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied 
until connected to the necessary infrastructure to enable 
access to high speed (superfast) broadband, unless this is 
unfeasible in the terms set out in policy DM8 (High Speed 
Broadband for New Developments) of the South Lakeland 
Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document. 

Reason  To comply with policy DM8 (High Speed Broadband for New 
Developments) of the South Lakeland Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document.  

Biodiversity 

Condition (29) 
No dwelling shall be first occupied until a scheme for the 
installation of at least 15 bird and bat boxes has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. No individual dwelling that is to be provided with a 
bird and/or bat box shall be first occupied until t have been 
installed in accordance with the approved scheme. The 
scheme shall include manufacturers’ details of each bird and 
bat box together with a plan identifying their proposed 
locations and evidence that those locations have been 
selected by a qualified ecologist. Thereafter, the approved 
bird and bat boxes shall be retained for the lifetime of the 
development, replaced on a like-for-like basis as necessary.  

Reason  To meet the requirements of: (1) policy DM4 (Green and Blue 
Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the of 
the South Lakeland Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document; (2) paragraph 170 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.; and (3) section 40 of 
the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

P&P  In the exercise of its judgement in determining the 
appropriate balance of considerations, the Local Planning 

Page 99



Statement Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application proposal, taking into account all material 
considerations. Material considerations include planning 
policies and any representations that may have been 
received preceding the determination to grant planning 
permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is satisfied 
that its processes and practices are compatible with the 
Human Rights Act and the decisions of the European Court 
of Human Rights. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 100



Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



                     SL/2020/0387 
 
PARISH:   Kendal  

 Town View Fields Hostel, Town View, Kendal  

 

PROPOSAL:   Replacement of existing timber casement windows with rosewood 
timber grain effect uPVC windows. 

 
 

APPLICANT:   Mr Scullion on behalf of South Lakeland District Council  

 

 
Grid Ref:      E: 351249     N: 493099 

 

Case Officer:  Mr Simon Lloyds 

 

Committee date: 24th September 2020  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103

Item No.8



Page 104



 

 

SUMMARY 

Installation of replacement uPVC windows in a purpose built hostel for vulnerable 
individuals and families. The proposal is acceptable, as it accords with local plan policy 
in terms of sustainable development, siting and design and has a minimal impact on the 
Kendal Conservation area which is a balanced by the public benefits.   

 

RECOMMENDATION 

1. That the application is APPROVED and Planning Permission is given on the grounds 
that the development and accords with the aims of Policy CS1.1 of the Core 
Strategy.  

 

REASON FOR COMMITTEE REFERRAL 

 

South Lakeland District Council own the property and is the applicant. In accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution, in such cases, determination of the planning application is to be 
made by members of the Planning Committee. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 

Site description  

2. The application site is located at Town View Fields Hostel at Town View, Kendal. 
The property was built in the 1990’s and is a split level rendered building with 
timber casement windows and a slate roof. The property is owned by South 
Lakeland District Council and is used as a hostel for vulnerable families and 
adults. The property is not listed but is located within the Kendal Conservation 
Area. 

Proposal 

3. Installation of replacement uPVC windows. The replacement windows will be 
casement style and finished in rosewood timber grain effect.  

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT 

4.  

5/91/1255 - Erection of a sixteen room hostel – Granted Conditionally  

SL/2009/1060 – Extension - Grant  

PN/2019/0031 – Installation of Solar PV modules to roof – Approved 

 

 

 

Page 105



CONSULTATIONS 

Kendal Town Council: 

5. No Material objections;  

 

• Committee expressed its continued disappointment at the use of UPVC 
within the Kendal Conservation Area (Article 4 Direction).  

��������	
���

6. None received 

 

POLICY ISSUES 

South Lakeland Core Strategy (CS): 

7. Policy CS1.1 Sustainable Development Principles 

Policy CS2  Kendal Strategy  

Policy CS8.2 Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and Settlement 
Character 

Policy CS8.6 Historic Environment 

Policy CS8.10 Design 

Local Plan Development Management Policies: 

8. Policy DM1 General Requirements for all Development 

Policy DM2 Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

Policy DM3 Historic Environment 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019: 

9.  Section 16 – Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment 

   

Council Plan 2014 – 2019: 

10. The broad aims of the five year Council Plan are to:- 

Enable and deliver opportunities for economic growth. 

Provide homes to meet need. 

Improve residents’ health and wellbeing. 

     Protect the environment 

 

ASSESSMENT 

11. The key issues that apply to this application are:  

• Size, scale and design 

• Impact on the setting of the designated heritage asset – Kendal Conservation 
Area.  

Page 106



 

Principle 

12. Policy CS1.1 of the Core Strategy sets out the Council’s Sustainable 
Development Principles. These include focusing development to existing sevice 
centres, addressing climate change, protection of landscape and safeguarding 
the character of buildings that make a special contribution to architectural and 
historic interest.   

13. Town View Fields is an existing bulding within Kendal and is in use as a hostel for 
vulnerable individuals and families. The proposal addresses issues with security 
and energy efficiency at the hostel and is in accordance with policy CS1.1. 

Size, Scale and Design  

14.  Policy CS 8.10 and Policies DM 1 & DM2 require that new development is of a 
high quality design and does not have adverse visual or landscape impacts. The 
proposed replacement windows replicate the existing windows in the property in 
terms of style and design. The hostel is visible from public areas, namely Nobles 
Rest public open space; but is not overly prominent due to the topography. The 
replacement windows will have the same appearance as the existing windows 
and are considered acceptable.  

Impact on the Kendal Conservation Area 

15. Policy DM3 of the Development Management Policies DPD seeks to protect and 
enhance the valuable historic environment of the district including all designated 
and non-designated heritage assets. NPPF paragraph 192 states that in 
determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation. 

16. The Kendal Conservation Area Character Appraisal notes that the building makes 
a largely neutral impact on the special architectural or historic character of the 
area. The document makes no specific reference to the building. The applicant 
has included a heritage statement with the submission.   

17. The proposal involves the replacement of the existing modern timber casement 
windows with uPVC windows finished in a rosewood timber grain effect. Although 
the change is not considered to cause harm, any perceived harm could be offset 
against the public benefit of thermal efficiency and security in a public building.  

18. In making a positive planning balance in favour of the scheme, it is considered 
that the proposal accords with paragraph 196 of the NPPF which states that 
where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use.    

Biodiversity  

19. Policy DM4 of the DMDPD expects all development proposals to result in an 
environmental net gain for biodiversity, unless it can be demonstrated that it is not 
possible. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF expects all planning decisions to enhance 
the natural and local environment by (amongst other things) minimising impacts 
on and providing net gains for biodiversity.  

Page 107



20. Due to the existing building and hard landscaped built area the proposed 
development will not have interfered with any existing green corridors or habitat 
resulting therefore in a neutral impact on biodiversity.  In weighing up the planning 
balance, the scale of the development on the site as described, it is not 
considered appropriate to require increased biodiversity in this instance.  

Consultee Response 

21. The town council reported no material objections to the proposal but commented 
on its continued disappointment at the use of UPVC within the Kendal 
Conservation Area (Article 4 Direction). The existing windows are timber 
casement with a dark stain. The replacement windows will replicate this style and 
appear very similar. The building is modern and the use of uPVC, which 
replicates the appearance of timber is considered acceptable. The reference to 
the Article 4 direction is not directly relevant as this direction only applies to 
houses. 

 

CONCLUSION 

22. This application for replacement windows in Town View Fields Hostel is 
considered to conform to National and Local policy and is therefore acceptable.  

 
RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT subject to:- 

 

Condition 1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 
expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

Reason  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Condition 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 
Location Plan, Scale 1:1250, Received 7 May 2020 
Elevations, Drawing No. 01 
 

Reason  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
Condition  3 The materials to be used for the external surfaces of the development 

hereby approved shall be: 

Windows – uPVC finished in rosewood timber grain effect, side hung 
casement 

Reason  To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance 
with Policy DM2 of the Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document and Policy CS8.10 of the South 
Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 
 

 

 

Page 108



Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 110



                     SL/2020/0407 
 
PARISH:   Kendal  

 Kendal Town Hall, Highgate, Kendal LA9 4ED 

 

PROPOSAL:   Advertisement consent to hang public safety message (COVID-19) 
banner  for a temporary period (12 months) 

 
APPLICANT:   Ms Jacki Robinson – on behalf of South Lakeland District Council  

 

 
Grid Ref:      E:  351505   N: 492629 

 

 

Committee date: 24th September 2020 

 

Case Officer: Lizzie Spencer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111

Item No.9



Page 112



 

 

 

SUMMARY 

1. The proposal relates to an application for advertisement consent to display a 
temporary banner for a period of up to 12 months for public safety messaging 
associated with COVID-19. 

2. The application is being brought to Planning Committee as South Lakeland 
District Council is the applicant. 

3. The proposal seeks advertisement consent to display a banner between Kendal 
Town Hall and 44 Highgate. Kendal Town Hall is a Grade II listed building and 
the site is located within the Kendal Conservation Area in Kendal Town Centre. 
The site is not located within a designated Special Advertisement Control Area. 

4. The proposal is considered to meet the legislative requirements of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (Regulations) 2007, together with 
Development Management Policies DPD Policy DM3 and DM20 and therefore 
overall the proposal is supported.   

 

RECOMMENDATION 

5. The recommendation is to approve subject to the conditions outlined at the end of 
this report. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 

Site Description  

6. The banner is in situ and is attached to the existing fixings on the western façade 
of the town hall and the eastern façade of 44 Highgate. The banner spans 
Highgate road reserve. 

7. Kendal Town Hall is a Grade II listed building, constructed in 1825 by Francis 
George Webster. The opposite building, upon which the banner has been 
attached is a non-listed building. 

8. The site is located in Kendal Town Centre within the Primary Shopping Area and 
the Kendal Conservation Area.  

9. The site is not located within a designated Special Advertisement Consent Area 
by virtue of the commercial nature of the Primary Shopping Area. 

Proposal 

10. The proposal is for the temporary display of an advertisement banner that has 
been displayed between the Town Hall and 44 Highgate. 

11. The advertisement has been attached to the existing fixings on the façade of the 
Town Hall and 44 Highgate and onto the existing overhead support cables 
spanning the road (Highgate). 

Page 113



12. The banner is made of PVC and has wind vents cut into the face of the banner 
with anti-rip finishing to the end of each vent. The banner has eyelets (10mm 
holes) set at approximately 80cm intervals along the length of the banner to 
enable the banner to be affixed to the overhead support cables. 

13. The banner is being used to advertise public safety messaging associated with 
COVID-19. 

14. The banner is 9.75m in width and 1.23m in height. It is located at a height of 
7.5m above ground level. 

15. The applicant is seeking consent for the advertisement to be displayed for a 
maximum period of 12 months. The applicant has confirmed that the 
advertisement will be displayed for a shorter period of time should the COVID-19 
public safety messaging no longer be required. 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

16. The relevant planning history is as follows: 

• SL/2007/0777 – Listed Building Consent granted August 2007 to attach 
stainless steel fixings to the Town Hall for banner signage. 

• SL/2017/0773 – Advertisement consent granted September 2017 to affix 
an advertisement banner to scaffolding erected outside Kendal Town Hall 
to advertise the Comic Arts Festival and the Kendal Mountain Festival. 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

Parish / Town Council: Kendal Town Council 

17. No objection. 

South Lakeland District Council: Conservation Officer 

18. Council’s Conservation Officer has reviewed the proposal and has advised as 
follows: 

‘As both the fixings and cables are existing approved features, only the banner is 
considered in this instance.  
 
It could be argued that temporarily hanging a large banner across a street within 
the heart of a conservation area might be considered harmful to the special 
character and appearance of that conservation area and may reflect adversely 
on the character, significance and appearance of the listed Town Hall. However, 
in this case, the message displayed on this banner is not the usual advertising 
banner but a serious and timely reminder to the general public to continue to 
heed well-considered advice to minimise the constant threat still posed by the 
pandemic. Therefore, in my view, under present circumstances, the public 
interest of this banner must be considered to over-ride any concerns of harm. 
 
Having applied the tests of the 1990 Planning (LBCA) Act, my advice is that 
although the proposed works to hang a banner intended as a public safety 
message causes a degree of harm to the special character and appearance of 
the Kendal Conservation Area and on the character, significance and 

Page 114



appearance of the listed Town Hall, using the terminology of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the level of harm is, in my view, less than 
substantial. The message displayed on this banner is of vital importance and 
benefit to the general public given the current climate and so it meets the 
requirements of NPPF Policy 196. It would, therefore, be acceptable in this 
instance to consider a departure from the statutory requirements of the 1990 
Planning (LBCA) Act when weighed in the subsequent planning balance’. 
 

Cumbria County Council - Highways 

19.  No objection. 

Neighbours / Others: 

20. No comments received. 

 

POLICY ISSUES 

Legislative Context 

21. The display of advertisements is controlled by the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (Regulations) 2007. 

22. For planning purposes, ‘advertisement’ is defined in section 336(1) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) as: 

“any word, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, device or representation, whether 
illuminated or not, in the nature of, and employed wholly or partly for the purposes of, 
advertisement, announcement or direction, and (without prejudice to the previous 
provisions of this definition) includes any hoarding or similar structure used, or adapted 
for use for the display of advertisements.” 

23.  Section 3 of the Advertisement Regulations (as amended) limits the Council’s 
discretion in the consideration of applications for advertisement consent to their 
effect on amenity and public safety, whilst also taking into account the provisions 
of the development plan, so far as they are material and any other relevant 
factors. 

Development Plan Policies 

South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies 

24. The following Core Strategy policies are considered relevant to the proposal: 

• CS8.6 Historic Environment 

• CS8.10 Design 
 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document (DPD) 

25. The following Development Management Policies are considered relevant to the 
proposal: 

• DM1 General Requirements for all development 

• DM3 Historic Environment 

• DM20 Advertisements, Signs and Shopfronts 

 

Page 115



 

Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

26. Paragraph 85: Town Centres should be recognised as the heart of their 
communities and the Local Planning Authority should pursue policies that 
support their vitality and viability.  

27. Paragraph 132: The quality and character of places can suffer when 
advertisements are poorly sited and designed. A separate consent process within 
the planning system controls the display of advertisements… to control only in 
the interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of cumulative impacts. 

28. Paragraph 194: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (including development within its setting) should require clear and 
convincing justification. 

29. Paragraph 196: Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use. 

Kendal Conservation Area Character Appraisal 

30. The Kendal Conservation Area Appraisal was adopted by the Council on 5 
December 2007. 

31. The area within which the application site is located is described by the 
Appraisal: 

‘As befits a street in the very centre of town this part offers civic, retail and 
service uses in buildings that front directly onto the back of the footways. At the 
south end, outside the Town Hall, the street is reasonably broad as the building 
lines open out…On the east side the Baroque splendour of the Town Hall, with 
its grandiose clock tower, provides an iconic landmark for the town and a very 
significant visual focus in views along streets from the south, north and west. 
Adjacent buildings are generally far plainer but, in contrast to the west side, offer 
a much more consistent and solid building line of three storey structures and a 
regular pattern of window openings to the upper stories. The shopfront heights 
here are consistently low and the eaves are mostly unelaborated...’.  

 

ASSESSMENT 

Principle 

32. Policy DM20 seeks to control advertisements and signs in order to manage their 
impacts upon amenity and public safety. Proposals for advertisements and signs 
will only be granted where they: 

• Do not result in visual clutter in the local area; 

• Are of a high quality design that is appropriate to their local context in 
terms of materials, size, positioning and method of illumination; 

• Where attached to buildings they respect the building’s scale, proportions 
and architectural features; 

Page 116



• They do not have unacceptable impacts on public safety; 

• They have regard to the relevant design guidance adopted by Council. 

33.  Policy DM20 states that the Council will exercise particularly strict controls ove 
advertisements and signs in the Area of Special Advertisement Control and those 
affecting Heritage Assets and their setting. 

34. The key issues that apply to this application are: 

• Visual amenity and the impact on the Listed Building and Conservation 
Area. 

• Public safety associated with banner overhanging the highway. 

Visual Amenity and the Impact on the Listed Building and Conservation Area 

35. With regard to Policy DM20, the application site is not located within the 
designated Area of Special Advertisement Control by virtue of the commercial 
nature of the Town Centre. However, the site is located immediately adjacent to, 
and within the setting of, the Grade II listed Town Hall and the Kendal 
Conservation Area. Consideration must therefore be given to the amenity effects 
of the advert upon the special qualities of these heritage assets as well as upon 
the visual amenity of the streetscape.  

36. Advertisement banners have been displayed previously in this location, following 
the grant of listed building consent in 2007 for fixings to be attached between the 
town hall and 44 Highgate (SL/2007/0777). However, the banner is not 
considered to result in visual clutter. Although its location is within a commercial 
area, banner signage is not ubiquitous on street furniture (lamp posts etc) so as 
to minimise the potential impact on the Conservation Area and listed buildings.   

37. The application was referred to Council’s Conservation Officer for his 
professional opinion regarding the potential impact of the banner on the special 
characteristics and appearance of the conservation area and the setting of the 
listed building. He recognises that hanging a large banner across the street 
within the heart of the conservation area and adjacent to the listed Town Hall 
building could result in harm to their character, appearance and significance, 
which will be ‘less than substantial’. However, he acknowledges that the 
messaging displayed on the banner is required under exceptional circumstances 
(the global pandemic) and the public interest of the banner over-rides any 
concerns of harm.  

38. The advice of the Conservation Officer is accepted and the following points 
should also be noted: 

• The proposal will not cause any physical harm to the historic fabric of the 
Town Hall (listed building). The proposal will use the existing fixings 
granted under SL/2007/0777. No other fixings are required. 

• The banner will not conceal any special architectural features on the listed 
building as it will overhang Highgate and it will simply be attached to the 
listed building using wires. 

• The display of the banner and any adverse impacts on the appearance of 
the Conservation Area and the listed building is reversible. The banner 
can be easily removed and will only be in situ for a temporary period of 12 

Page 117



months, or a lesser period of time if the public messaging is no longer 
required. 

• The banner will not be illuminated and its scale and positioning (raised 
above Highgate) means that it will not detract from views of the listed 
building and it will preserve views into the Kendal Conservation Area. 

• The banner will not be commercial and it will display important public 
messaging associated with COVID-19 and keeping visitors to Kendal and 
businesses safe during the pandemic. The content is considered to be of 
vital importance that will have a clear public benefit. In accordance with 
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF this is considered to outweigh any potential 
short-term harm to the character and appearance of the conservation 
area and the listed building. 

39. In this context the advertisement is not considered to be detrimental to the 
character of the Conservation Area or the listed building. It is also not considered 
to have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the streetscene for the same 
reasons as specified above. 

Impact on Public Safety 

40. Policy DM20 requires that advertisements shall not result in unacceptable 
impacts upon public safety.  

41. The banner has been erected overspanning the highway (Highgate). Cumbria 
County Council, as the highways authority, were consulted on the proposal and 
have confirmed that the proposal is not considered to affect highway safety. 

42. This advice is accepted and it is of note that the sign is non-illuminated so it will 
not cause a distraction for motorists. Furthermore its height will ensure adequate 
clearance for cars and delivery vehicles so as to not have an adverse impact on 
highway safety. It is also acknowledged that this section of Highgate is 
pedestrian priority and is limited to taxi and delivery vehicles travelling one-way 
only (south). This restricts the number of potential vehicles passing underneath 
the banner and will allow clear views of the banner on the approach to the 
junction with Lowther Street/Highgate so as to not cause a distraction or an 
obstruction for motorists. 

Other Matters 

43. The advertising banner which is the subject of this application is already in situ. It 
should be noted that the planning control system is divided into two categories: 

• ‘Permissive’ regimes such as development control – acceptable development 
that is unauthorised can be regularised by seeking retrospective planning 
permission. Unauthorised development may only become a criminal offence 
following non-compliance with a formal notice. 

 

• ‘Consent’ regimes such as advertisement control and listed building control – 
unlike unauthorised development, it is a criminal offence to undertake any works 
under these regimes without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
Contravention of a consent regime is always a criminal offence. There is 
therefore no such thing as ‘retrospective advertisement consent’. Consent can be 
sought for breaches of advertisement control, as in this case; however, any 

Page 118



consent granted is only valid from the date of determination and the Council 
remains entitled to prosecute for the original offence. 

 

Human Rights Act: 

This application has been determined to accord with the rights and limitations of the Act 
in relation to Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), Article 8 (Right to respect for 
private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition of 
Discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions 
and protection of property). 

 

CONCLUSION 

44. The proposed advertisement banner spanning Highgate between the Town Hall 
and 44 Highgate will not cause detrimental harm to the character of the 
Conservation Area or the streetscene, and will have an overall acceptable 
temporary impact on the listed building and the Conservation Area. It will also not 
have a detrimental impact on public safety.  

45. It is recommended that Advertisement Consent is granted. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to the conditions below:- 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: 

• Site Location Plan (received 19 June 2020) 

• Banner Detail (received 22 June 2020) 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

Condition (2) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of 
the site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 

Reason:  Required to be imposed by Regulation 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

Condition (3) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to: 

 a)  Endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 
aerodrome (civil or military); 

 b)  Obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or aid 
to navigation by water or air; or 

 c)  Hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or surveillance 
or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Regulation 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
 

Condition (4) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 
advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual 
amenity of the site. 

Page 119



Reason: Required to be imposed by Regulation 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
 

Condition (5) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 
displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the 
public. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Regulation 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
 

Condition (6) Where an advertisement is required to be removed under the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 (as 
amended), the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or 
impair visual amenity. 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Regulation 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
 

Condition (7) The banner sign hereby approved shall only be retained in situ for a 
maximum 12 month period until 30 June 2020. The advertisement shall be removed 
after that time, or earlier, should the public messaging associated with COVID-19 no 
longer be required. No further advertisement shall be affixed to the Town Hall and 44 
Highgate without advertisement consent.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the special apperanace and characteristics of the Conservation 
Area and the Listed Building are not adversely affected in accordance with Policy CS8.6 
of the Core Strategy and Policies DM3 and DM20 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

 

Page 120



Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122



                      

SL/2019/0735 

 

PARISH:   LEVENS 

  

 

PROPOSAL:   Erection of dwelling including access, design landscaping, layout 

and scale (Revised scheme SL/2018/0938) on a plot of land adjacent to The 

Langdales, Levens KENDAL LA8 8PJ 

 

 

APPLICANT:   Dawn Osliff 

 

 

Grid Ref:      E:  348482�      N: 491830 

 

 

 

Committee Date: 24th September 2020 

 

 

Case Officer: Nick Howard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 123

Item No.10



Page 124



 

 

SUMMARY 

1. The application seeks reserved matters approval for one dwelling on this 
unallocated site in the village of Levens. The site benefits from outline 
planning permission for one dwelling with all matters reserved. 

2. Members may recall this application was presented to 30th January 2020 
planning committee. At the time the officer recommendation was to refuse the 
application on the following grounds:  

The proposed development would, by reason of its scale, layout and 
relationship with adjacent dwellings, result in a significant overbearing impact 
on the habitable room windows in the rear elevation of Applegarth, the 
dwelling to the south. The proposal would therefore have an unacceptably 
adverse impact on the amenity of existing and future occupants of that 
dwelling contrary to the South Lakeland Core Strategy Policy CS8.10, 
Development Management Policy DM1 and paragraph 127 (f) of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

3. Members resolved that a decision on the planning application be deferred to 
enable discussion between the applicant and planning officers with regard to a 
more acceptable proposal. The applicant has submitted amended drawings 
which show the correct position of the neighbouring property Applegarth. They 
have shown a 45-degree visibility line from the rear window of Applegarth (see 
block plan at the foot of the report). They have removed the proposed rear 
projection to the west and have removed the south corner of the proposed 
dwelling by one metre and as a result have achieved a reduction in the 
massing on the southern gable by three metres. Officers have reviewed these 
amendments and now considered the relationship between the proposed 
dwelling and Applegarth is acceptable. Consequently, officers recommend 
approval.     

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

4. The application is recommended for approval. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 

Site description  

5. The site is situated at south western edge of Levens and within linear group of 
buildings. The site lies within the development boundary of Levens and to the 
west the site falls away down to the banks of a dike. The site is served by 
Underhill which is a narrow lane and has a passing bay in front of the 
neighbouring property Applegarth. The site is currently part of the garden of 
Langdales, the neighbouring property to the north.  

 

Page 125



 
Proposal 

6. The applicant seeks reserved matters approval following the granting of 
outline planning permission with all matters reserved under application 
SL/2018/0517 for one detached dwelling. 

7. In support of the proposal the applicant has submitted the following 
documents: 

Proposed Block Plan 

Principal Elevations and Visuals  

Elevations  

Floor Plans   

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT 

8. SL/2018/0517: Detached dwelling (outline application). Approved 

9. SL/2018/0938: Reserved matters application for erection of one dwelling 
including access, design, landscaping, layout and scale. Refused 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

Levens Parish Council: 

Original Comments  

10. Levens Parish Councillors have compared the current application with that 
which was refused in March 2019 (SL/2018/0938) and have visited the site of 
the proposed development. Other than noting the relocation of the garage 
from the front of the proposed development to the northern elevation (which 
was not the substantive issue in the refused application) they have seen 
nothing that is an amendment to the plans that addresses the planning 
officer’s previous concerns. The proposed development will be 9.65 metres 
high to the rear and will completely overlook Applegarth as concluded in the 
Planning Officer’s Report. There is no effort to reduce the house height and 
impact on Applegarth other than move the garage that was below or close to 
hedge height anyway. 

That being the case and having already made a wholly relevant decision to 
refuse (which the Parish Council supports) it sees no substantive revision of 
the plans in the current application that can justify approval, given the already 
valid reasons quoted for the previous refusal.  

Furthermore, whilst the Parish Council notes that Highways have not made 
any objection to the plans it is extremely concerned about the ability for cars to 
access the highway given the proximity of stone walls and the gradient of the 
highway. This means that a car bonnet will be pointing upwards on exit and 
that the driver will not be able to see effectively either to the left or right to view 
what traffic may already be on the road. The plans also give rise to questions 
about the amount of car-paring space available to the Langdales and the new 
property once it is built. The Parish Council believes that there will not be 

Page 126



enough space available to provide an acceptable amount of car parking space 
for the individual properties.  

In more general terms, Levens Parish Council believes that approval of this 
development would represent an over-development of this area resulting in 
three large detached where one property originally lay. Two good sized 
houses in total on the whole plot, with reasonable gardens and parking for 
both, would be more in keeping with the village and surroundings and 
therefore more acceptable. The Parish Council understands that the 
application has been ‘called in’ and will be subject to consideration by the 
Planning Committee. For the reasons outlined above, it wishes to formally 
request that the Planning Committee schedules a site visit to this location.  

In objecting to the proposal, Levens Parish Council looks forward to hearing 
from Development Management on the last point concerning a site visit by 
Planning Committee.” 

Revised comments  

The Parish Council have been reconsulted on the amended plans and their 
comments will be reported verbally at the planning committee.   

 
Cumbria County Council: 

Highways 

11. “I note the previous history with the site. The layout details shown on the 
submitted plan are considered satisfactory from a highway perspective. I can 
therefore confirm that the Highway Authority has no objection to the proposed 
development.” 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

12. “It is noted that the surface water will be discharged to an ordinary 
watercourse, if the applicant is intending to make a new connection to this 
they will need consent before works commence from Local Flood Risk 
Management.” 

 
United Utilities: 

13. No objection subject to standard conditions.  

 
Neighbours / Others: 

14. Ward Councillor John Holmes requested that the application be referred to 
Planning Committee in the event of a recommendation of refusal. Cllr J 
Holmes subsequently learned that the Parish Council had concerns regarding 
the proposal and requested a referral to committee whether the application 
was to be approved or refused.  

Ward Councillor Kevin Holmes also requested the application be referred to 
Planning Committee, albeit after the three week consultation period had 
expired. Nevertheless, Cllr K Holmes expressed concerns regarding the loss 
of privacy for the adjacent dwelling and the height and proximity of the 

Page 127



proposed dwelling, along with concerns regarding highway safety relating to 
parking provision and site access. 

 

POLICY ISSUES 

Development Plan  

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document (DM DPD): 

15. Policy DM1 General Requirements for all Development 

Policy DM2 Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

Policy DM6 Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems 

Policy DM9 Parking Provision, New and Loss of Car Parks 

 

South Lakeland Core Strategy (CS): 

16. Policy CS1.2 Development Strategy 

Policy CS5 The East 

Policy CS6.1 Meeting the Housing Requirement 

Policy CS6.2 Dwelling Mix and Type 

Policy CS8.8 Development and Flood Risk 

Policy CS8.10 Design 

Policy CS10.1 Accessing Services 

Policy CS10.2 Transport Impact of New Development 

 
Local Plan Land Allocations: Development Plan Document (DPD): 

17. Policy LA1.1 Development Boundaries 

 
Other Material Planning Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 

18. The relevant sections of the National Planning Policy Framework are as 
follows: 

Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development 

Section 12: Achieving Well Designed Places 

 
ASSESSMENT 

19. The key issues that apply to this application are:  

• Principle of development 

• Design, Scale and Layout 

• Impact on Amenity 

Page 128



• Highway Safety and Parking 

• Flood Risk and Drainage 

20.  Principle 

The proposal site is within the development boundary for Levens as defined in 
Policy LA1.1 of the Land Allocations DPD. The site is unallocated but the 
principle of residential development on this site has been established by the 
granting of outline planning permission in 2018. Policy CS1.2 identifies Levens 
as a local service centre and as such residential development is normally 
acceptable subject to the consideration of siting, design, access, servicing and 
acceptable standards of amenity. The site is located within a line of dwellings 
close to the main settlement of Levens and is considered an infill site. The 
proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in principle.  

21. Impact on Visual Amenity 

The proposed dwelling would provide accommodation over two storeys, with 
some accommodation in the roofspace. The walls will be faced in limestone 
and white wet dash with oiled oak cladding detailing to the front and rear 
elevations. The design approach is very similar to that undertaken for the 
recently constructed dwelling known as Langdales next door. The existing 
dwellings on Underhill are a mixture of two storey and single storey dwellings 
predominantly constructed in a simple architectural style. The proposed 
dwelling would relate well to the existing dwelling at Langdales, and is 
considered to be acceptable in terms of its scale and design.  

22. Impact on Residential Amenity 

23. Development Management Policy DM1 states that development will only be 
acceptable provided it ensures the delivery of acceptable levels of amenity, 
privacy and overshadowing for existing, neighbouring and future users and 
occupants through provision of adequate spatial separation distances between 
existing and proposed properties and buildings. 

24. The adjacent dwelling to the south known as Applegarth was constructed at 
an angle to the road and as such faces partially towards the side boundary 
with the proposed dwelling and contains habitable room windows in the rear 
elevation close to the boundary. Applegarth is a single storey dwelling and 
therefore the bedrooms are on the ground floor with windows in the rear 
elevation. 

25. With regard to the original submission, concern was expressed by officer’s 
that given the proposed dwelling would be only 5.4m from the nearest corner 
of Applegarth, and would project beyond the rear elevation of that dwelling 
significantly, to the extent that the proposed building would break a 45-degree 
line taken from the nearest edge of two of the bedroom windows. As such the 
proposal would result in a significant loss of outlook from these habitable room 
windows to the detriment of the residential amenity of existing and future 
occupants.   

26. The proposed amendments now include the removal of the projection on the 
south west corner of the dwelling, this has reduced the width of the southern 
gable by three metres. The height of the gable has remained the same at 8.77 
metres high, which is the same height as the host dwelling. Therefore, the 

Page 129



reduced width of the proposed gable will overcome the issue of overbearing 
on the neighbouring residents. Furthermore, by removing the rear projection 
from the proposed dwelling, the 45-degree visibility line taken from the rear 
window of Applegarth is clear and no part of the dwelling is within this visibility 
line. Accordingly, the amended proposals overcome the officer’s concerns and 
it is considered the proposal would not be harmful to the living conditions of 
the residents of Applegarth and the proposal accords with Policy DM1.   

27. Impact on Highway Safety 

The Parish Council have raised concerns with parking provision and access 
onto the road, however, the highway authority is satisfied that the proposal 
provides adequate space for parking and turning and as such is not 
considered to have any adverse impact on highway safety. 

28. Impact on Flood Risk and Drainage 

The Local Lead Flood Authority is satisfied that the proposal will not result in 
any increased flood risk, and subject to obtaining the necessary consent from 
the Local Flood Risk Management team at Cumbria County Council the 
proposal to discharge surface water to the watercourse to the west of the site 
is acceptable.  

 

CONCLUSION 

29. The application is recommended for approval. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve subject to the following conditions:  

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: Site/Block Plan Revision 3, Principal Elevation and 
Internal Layout Revision 3 & Proposed Elevations Revision 3.  

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Condition (2) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification), no development of the type described in 
Class A-E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of that Order shall be undertaken without the 
express permission of the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In order to protect neighbouring residential amenity.  

Condition (3) a) No development shall commence until samples and details of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. B) Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details of materials unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Reason: To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with 
Policy CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy, and Policy DM1 of the Councils 
Development Management Policies.  

Page 130



Condition (4) The boundary hedge situated on the southern boundary of the site shall 
be retained and shall not be removed or reduced in height unless written approval is 
given by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In order to preserve the neighbours living conditions. 

 

Condition (5) Notwithstanding the approved plans, the proposed access shall 
comprise a minimum width of 4.7 metres and there shall be provision for two car 
parking spaces and a turning area within the site in order for vehicles to enter and 
leave the site in forward gear.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 131



 

 

 

 

Block Plan  

 

 

  

Page 132



 

 

 

 

Principal Elevations and Visuals 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



Elevations  

 

 

Foorplans  

 

 

  

 

Page 134



Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 136


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	017-026 25-06-20 Planning Committee - Published
	027-034 16-07-20 Planning Committee - Published
	035-043 30-07-20 Planning Committee - Published

	7 Planning Application No. SL/2018/0806 - Land at High Sparrowmire, Kendal
	8 Planning Application No. SL/2020/0387 - Town View Fields, Kendal
	9 Planning Application No. SL/2020/0407 - Kendal Town Hall, Kendal
	10 Planning Application No. SL/2019/0735 - Plot of land adjacent to The Langdales, Levens

